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Restrictions: The attached document is being furnished in connection with an offering outside the United States
in offshore transactions in compliance with Regulation S under the United States Securities Act of 1933 as
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JURISDICTION AND THE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED
STATES EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT
TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE OR
LOCAL SECURITIES LAWS. THIS OFFERING IS MADE SOLELY OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES IN
OFFSHORE TRANSACTIONS PURSUANT TO REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.
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BEIJING ENTERPRISES WATER GROUP LIMITED

Beijing Enterprises Water Capital Management Holdings Limited
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(incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability)

US$ per cent. Guaranteed Bonds due

unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 371)

Issue price: per cent.

Beijing Enterprises Water Capital Management Holdings Limited (the “Issuer”) will issue US$ per cent. guaranteed Bonds due
(the “Bonds”).

The Bonds (1) constitute the direct, unsubordinated, unconditional and (subject to Condition 4(a) of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds) unsecured
obligations of the Issuer, (2) shall at all times rank pari passu and without any preference amongst themselves and (3) shall at all times rank at least equally
with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer. The Bonds will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed
(the “Guarantee”) by Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (the “Guarantor”), which is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). The Issuer is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor. For a more detailed description, see the section titled “Terms
and Conditions of the Bonds”.

Interest on the Bonds is payable semi-annually in arrear on and in each year at the rate of per cent. per annum,
commencing on 2018. Payments on the Bonds will be made without deduction for or on account of taxes of the British Virgin Islands, the PRC
(as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds) and Bermuda to the extent described under “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — Taxation”.

Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (“BEHL”), the largest shareholder of the Guarantor, has issued a letter of comfort dated 2018 in relation
to the Bonds to the holders of the Bonds (the “Letter of Comfort”). The Letter of Comfort does not constitute a guarantee by BEHL of the obligations
of the Issuer and the Guarantor under the Bonds.

Following the Circular of the National Development and Reform Commission (the “NDRC”) on Promoting the Reform of the Administration on the Filin

and Registration System for Foreign Debts Issued by Enterprises (<<@%??%Dﬂ$§ﬁﬁ%fﬁiﬁﬁ¥%ﬁ%f§ﬁ% e ) 7 B R ) (B UM R
[2015]2044%%)) (the “NDRC Circular™) promulgated in September 2015 by the NDRC, the NDRC further issued the Official Re ly_ of the National
Development and Reform Commission on the Foreign Debt Scale of the Foreign Debt Scale Management Enterprises of 2018 (<%%§"?€Eﬁ($§§%ﬁ
JA20 1 84F B A1 KA A S04 SE AN AR A A LA ) ) (%ﬁgﬂﬁz%ﬁ[zompm?ﬁ) (the “NDRC Annual Quota”) on 9 February 2018, according to which the
NDRC granted an annual foreign debt amount to Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited and the Issuer is authorised by Beijing Enterprises Group
Company Limited to issue foreign debts without obtaining the pre-issuance registration certificate under the NDRC Circular, although it still has to make
a post-issuance notification to the NDRC within 10 business days after the issuance of the foreign debts.

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will mature on at their principal amount. The Bonds are subject to
redemption, in whole but not in part, at their principal amount, together with accrued interest to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption, at the option
of the Issuer at any time in the event of certain changes affecting taxes of the British Virgin Islands, the PRC or Bermuda. Upon the occurrence of a Change
of Control (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds), the holder of each Bond will have the right, at such holder’s option, to require the Issuer
to redeem all, but not some only, of such holder’s Bonds on the Change of Control Put Date (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds) at
101 per cent. of their principal amount, together with accrued but unpaid interest to (but excluding) the Change of Control Put Date. In addition, the Issuer
may at any time and from time to time redeem the Bonds, in whole but not in part, at a Make Whole Price (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of
the Bonds) as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but excluding), the redemption date as specified in the Optional Redemption Notice (as defined
in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds). See “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — Redemption and Purchase”.

Application has been made to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the listing of the Bonds by way of debt issues to professional investors (as defined in
Chapter 37 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571)
of Hong Kong) (“Professional Investors”) only. This document is for distribution to Professional Investors only. Investors should not purchase the
Bonds in the primary or secondary markets unless they are Professional Investors and understand the risks involved. The Bonds are only suitable
for Professional Investors.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this Offering Circular, make
no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this Offering Circular.

The Hong Kong Stock Exchange has not reviewed the contents of this Offering Circular, other than to ensure that the prescribed form disclaimer
and responsibility statements, and a statement limiting distribution of this Offering Circular to Professional Investors only have been reproduced
in this Offering Circular. Listing of the Bonds on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange is not to be taken as an indication of the commercial merits or
credit quality of the Bonds, the Issuer, the Guarantor, BEHL or quality of disclosure in this Offering Circular.

This Offering Circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
Limited for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer, the Guarantor and BEHL. The Issuer, the Guarantor and BEHL accept full
responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Offering Circular and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best
of their knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading.

See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 11 for a discussion of certain factors to be considered in connection with an investment in the Bonds.

The Bonds and the Guarantee have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities
Act”) and, subject to certain exceptions, may not be offered or sold within the United States. The Bonds are being offered only outside the United
States in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act.

For a description of these and certain further restrictions on offers and sales of the Bonds and the distribution of this Offering Circular, see “Subscription
and Sale”.

The Bonds will be evidenced by a global certificate (the “Global Certificate”) in registered form, which will be registered in the name of a nominee of,
and deposited on or about 2018 (the “Issue Date”) with, a common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream
Banking S.A. (“Clearstream”). Interests in the Global Certificate will be shown on, and transfers thereof will be effected only through, the records
maintained by Euroclear and Clearstream. Except in the limited circumstances set out herein, certificates for the Bonds will not be issued in exchange
for interests in the Global Certificate. See “Summary of Provisions Relating to the Bonds in Global Form”.

The Bonds have not been and will not be rated.

Joint Global Coordinators, Lead Managers and Bookrunners
(in alphabetical order)

Deutsche Bank Mizuho Securities UBS
Offering Circular dated 2018



IMPORTANT NOTICE

This preliminary offering circular (the “Offering Circular’) does not constitute an offer to sell
to, or a solicitation of an offer to buy from, any person in any jurisdiction to whom it is unlawful
to make the offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction. Neither the delivery of this Offering
Circular nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication
that there has been no change in our affairs since the date of this Offering Circular or that the
information contained in this Offering Circular is correct as of any time after that date.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
take no responsibility for the contents of this document, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this document.

MiFID II product governance/Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely for
the purposes of the manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect
of the Bonds has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Bonds is eligible
counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended,
“MiFID II”); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Bonds to eligible counterparties and
professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the
Bonds (a “distributor”) should take into consideration the manufacturer’s target market assessment;
however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Bonds (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer’s target market
assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

PRIIPs REGULATION/PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS — The Bonds
are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (“EEA”). For these
purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point
(11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC (“IMD”),
where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1)
of MiFID II. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014
(the “PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Bonds or otherwise making them available to
retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Bonds or otherwise
making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPS Regulation.

This document includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Issuer and the Guarantor. The Issuer and the Guarantor accept full responsibility for the accuracy of
the information contained in this Offering Circular and confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading. The
Issuer and the Guarantor, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that (i) this Offering Circular
contains all information with respect to the Issuer, the Guarantor and their respective subsidiaries
taken as a whole (collectively, the “Group”), BEHL and to the Bonds, the Guarantee and the Letter
of Comfort, which is material in the context of the issue and offering of the Bonds; (ii) the statements
contained in this Offering Circular relating to the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Group are in every
material particular true and accurate and not misleading; (iii) the opinions and intentions expressed
in this Offering Circular with regard to the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Group are honestly held, have
been reached after considering all relevant circumstances and are based on reasonable assumptions;
and (iv) there are no other facts in relation to the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Group, the Bonds, the
Guarantee or the Letter of Comfort the omission of which would, in the context of the issue and
offering of the Bonds, make any statement in this Offering Circular misleading in any material respect.

This Offering Circular has been prepared by the Issuer and the Guarantor solely for use in connection
with the proposed offering of the Bonds described in this Offering Circular. The distribution of this
Offering Circular and the offering of the Bonds in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law.



Persons into whose possession this Offering Circular comes are required by the Issuer, the Guarantor,
Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch, Mizuho Securities Asia Limited and UBS AG Hong Kong
Branch (the “Joint Lead Managers”) to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions.
No action is being taken to permit a public offering of the Bonds or the distribution of this Offering
Circular in any jurisdiction where action would be required for such purposes. There are restrictions
on the offer and sale of the Bonds and the circulation of documents relating thereto, in certain
jurisdictions including the United States, the European Economic Area, the United Kingdom, the
People’s Republic of China, Hong Kong, Singapore, the British Virgin Islands and Bermuda and to
persons connected therewith. For a description of certain further restrictions on offers, sales and
resales of the Bonds and distribution of this Offering Circular, see “Subscription and Sale”.

No person has been or is authorised to give any information or to make any representation concerning
the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Group or the Bonds other than as contained herein and, if given or made,
any such other information or representation should not be relied upon as having been authorised by
the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents (the “Trustee” and the
“Agents” in each case as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds). Neither the delivery of
this Offering Circular nor any offering, sale or delivery made in connection with the issue of the Bonds
shall, under any circumstances, constitute a representation that there has been no change or
development reasonably likely to involve a change in the affairs of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the
Group or any of them since the date hereof or create any implication that the information contained
herein is correct as at any date subsequent to the date hereof. This Offering Circular does not
constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Joint Lead
Managers, the Trustee or the Agents to subscribe for or purchase any of the Bonds and may not be used
for the purpose of an offer to, or a solicitation by, anyone in any jurisdiction or in any circumstances
in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or is unlawful.

This Offering Circular may not be copied or reproduced in whole or in part. It may be distributed only
to and its contents may be disclosed only to the prospective investors to whom it is provided. By
accepting delivery of this Offering Circular each investor agrees to these restrictions.

There has been no independent verification of any of the information contained herein. No
representation or warranty, express or implied, is made or given by the Joint Lead Managers, the
Trustee or the Agents (or any of their respective affiliates, directors, officers, employees,
representatives, advisers, agents or any person who controls any of them) as to the accuracy,
completeness or sufficiency of the information contained in this Offering Circular, and nothing
contained in this Offering Circular is, or shall be relied upon as, a promise, representation or warranty
by the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents (or any of their respective affiliates, directors,
officers, employees, representatives, advisers, agents or any person who controls any of them). This
Offering Circular is not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation nor should it
be considered as a recommendation by any of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Joint Lead Managers, the
Trustee or the Agents that any recipient of this Offering Circular should purchase the Bonds. Each
potential purchaser of the Bonds should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained
in this Offering Circular and its purchase of the Bonds should be based upon such investigations with
its own tax, legal and business advisers as it deems necessary.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents (or
any of their respective affiliates, directors, officers, employees, representatives, advisers, agents or
any person who controls any of them) accepts any responsibility for the contents of this Offering
Circular or for any other statement in connection with the issue and offering of the Bonds, the Group,
the Guarantee, the Guarantor or the Issuer made or purported to be made by the Joint Lead Managers
or on their behalf. The Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee and the Agents (and each of their respective
affiliates, directors, officers, employees, representatives, advisers, agents and each person who
controls any of them) accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or
otherwise, which they might otherwise have in respect of this Offering Circular or any such statement.



Listing of the Bonds on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange is not to be taken as an indication of the
merits of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Group, the Bonds or the Guarantee. In making an
investment decision, prospective investors must rely on their examination of the Issuer, the
Guarantor, the Group and the terms of this offering, including the merits and risks involved. The
Bonds have not been approved or recommended by any Hong Kong or other regulatory authority.
Furthermore, the foregoing authorities have not passed upon or endorsed the merits of the
offering or confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of this Offering Circular.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OF THE BONDS, UBS AG HONG KONG BRANCH AS
THE STABILISING MANAGER (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE STABILISING
MANAGERS) MAY EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WITH A VIEW TO SUPPORTING THE
MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT WHICH MIGHT
OTHERWISE PREVAIL. HOWEVER, THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT THE STABILISING
MANAGER (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE STABILISING MANAGER) WILL
UNDERTAKE STABILISATION ACTION. ANY STABILISATION ACTION MAY BEGIN ON
OR AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH ADEQUATE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF THE TERMS OF
THE OFFER OF THE FURTHER BONDS IS MADE AND, IF BEGUN, MAY BE ENDED AT ANY
TIME AND MUST BE BROUGHT TO AN END AFTER A LIMITED PERIOD.

In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the Issuer, the
Guarantor and the Group and the terms of the offering, including the merits and risks involved. See
“Risk Factors” for a discussion of certain factors to be considered in connection with an investment
in the Bonds.

Unless otherwise indicated, all references in this Offering Circular to “Terms and Conditions of
Bonds” are to the terms and conditions governing the Bonds set out in “Terms and Conditions of the
Bonds”.

Unless otherwise indicated, all references in this Offering Circular to “China” or the “PRC” are to
the People’s Republic of China and the “Government” are to the government of the PRC, including
all political sub-divisions (including central, provisional, municipal and other regional or local
government entities) and, for the purpose of this Offering Circular only, excluding Hong Kong, the
Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan, and all references to “Hong Kong” are
to the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China.

Unless otherwise specified or the context requires, references herein to “Renminbi”’, “RMB” or
“CNY” are to the lawful currency of the PRC, references herein to “Hong Kong dollars”, “HK
dollars”, “HK$”, “HK cents” or “HK¢” are to the lawful currency of Hong Kong ; references herein
to “US dollars”, “US$”, “US cents” or “US¢” are to the lawful currency of the United States of
America and references to “HKFRS” are to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor records and publishes its financial statements in Hong Kong
dollars. Unless otherwise stated in this Offering Circular, all translations from Hong Kong dollars into
US dollars were made at the rate of HK$7.8128 to US$1.00, the noon buying rate in New York City
for cable transfers payable in Hong Kong dollars as certified for customs purposes by the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York on 29 December 2017. All such translations in this Offering Circular are
provided solely for your convenience and no representation is made that the Hong Kong dollar
amounts referred to herein have been, could have been or could be converted into US dollars, or vice
versa, at any particular rate, or at all. For further information relating to the exchange rates, see
“Exchange Rates”.
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GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

The glossary of technical terms contains certain definitions of technical terms used in this Offering

Circular as they relate to the Group and its business. Some of these definitions may not correspond

to standard industry definitions.

BOO

BOT

CAGR

Comprehensive renovation project

oxidation ditch

sedimentation

sewage

sewage treatment

TOT

water treatment

Build-Own-Operate, a project in which an enterprise
undertakes the financing, design, construction, operation
and maintenance of facilities, which are owned by the
enterprise, and has the right to operate such facilities in the
concession period during which the enterprise can charge
service fees to cover its costs of investment, operation and
maintenance and obtain reasonable returns

Build-Operate-Transfer, a project in which the proprietor
grants the rights to a contracted enterprise by concession
agreement to undertake the financing, design, construction,
operation and maintenance of facilities, which enterprise can
charge a fee during the concession period to cover its costs
of investment, operation and maintenance as well as
reasonable returns, and, upon expiration of the concession
period, the relevant facilities will be transferred back to the
proprietor

Compound Annual Growth Rate

a project in which the proprietor grants the rights to a
contracted enterprise by an agreement to undertake the
financing, design, construction and renovation of facilities,
and, upon completion of the construction of such facilities,
the relevant facilities will be transferred back to proprietor
and the proprietor will pay the enterprise the cost of
investment over a period of time

machinery that increases the oxygen level in sewage

settling of suspended solids in a fluid through the natural
process of gravity

water that has been used for domestic or industrial purposes
which may contain organic and inorganic pollutants,
bacteria, dissolved and/or suspended solids

use of physical, chemical and biological processes to remove
pollutants from sewage before discharging it into a water
body

Transfer-Operate-Transfer, a project in which the proprietor
transfers the rights to operate facilities to an enterprise for
a consideration pursuant to concession agreement, in return,
the enterprise can charge users a fee during the concession
period, and, upon expiration of the concession period, the
relevant facilities will be transferred back to the proprietor

use of chemical and biological processes to treat raw water
before supplying the water for general consumption

_iv_



FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

29

There are statements in this Offering Circular which contain words and phrases such as “aim”,
“anticipate”, “assume”, “believe”, “contemplate”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “future”, “goal”,
“intend”, “may”, “objective”, “plan”, “predict”, “positioned”, “project”’, “risk”, “seek to”, “shall”,
“should”, “will likely result”, “will pursue”, “plan” and words and terms of similar substance used in
connection with any discussion of future operating or financial performance or the Group’s
expectations, plans, projections or business prospects identify forward-looking statements. In
particular, the statements under the headings “Risk Factors” and “Description of the Group” regarding
the Group’s strategies and other future events or prospects are forward-looking statements. All
forward-looking statements are management’s present expectations of future events and are subject to
a number of factors and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those
described in the forward-looking statements. In addition to the risks related to the business of the
Group discussed under “Risk Factors”, other factors could cause actual results to differ materially
from those described in the forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to:

° risks associated with global, regional or national business activities;

° general economic and political conditions, including those related to the water industry and the
PRC;

° the business strategy and plan of operation;

° fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;
° changes in global, regional or national economic and social conditions;
° changes in economic and political conditions and increases in regulatory burdens in the PRC and

other countries in which the Group operates, transacts business or has interests;

° accidents and natural disasters;

° changes in import controls or import duties, levies or taxes, either in international markets or in
the PRC;

° changes in laws, regulations, taxation or accounting standards or practices;

° changes in prices or demand for products or raw materials produced or used by the Group, both
in the PRC and in international markets, as a result of competitive actions or economic factors,
such as inflation or exchange rate fluctuations;

° the risks of increased costs and the uncertainty of technological change;

° the ability of third parties to perform in accordance with contractual terms and specifications;
and

° acquisitions or divestitures.

These forward-looking statements speak only as at the date of this Offering Circular. The Issuer and
the Guarantor expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or
revisions to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in the Group’s
expectations with regard thereto or any change of events, conditions or circumstances, on which any
such statement was based.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
SUMMARY . . 1
THE ISSUE .« 4
SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION. . . .. . e 7
RISK FACTORS . . e 11
EXCHANGE RATES . . . o e 32
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS . . ... ... . . 33
SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE BONDS IN GLOBAL FORM. . ... ... 48
THE LETTER OF COMFORT . . .. . e 50
USE OF PROCEEDS . . . .. e e e e e e 53
CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS . . . ... e 54
DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER . . ... . e e 55
DESCRIPTION OF THE GROUP. . . . . .. e 56
DESCRIPTION OF BEHL . . . .. e 77
DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT . . . ... e 78
TAXATION . . 83
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE. . . .. e e e e 88
GENERAL INFORMATION . . . . e e e e e e 92
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS . . ... e e F-1

_Vi_



SUMMARY

The summary below is only intended to provide a limited overview of information described in more
detail elsewhere in this Offering Circular. As it is a summary, it does not contain all of the information
that may be important to investors and terms defined elsewhere in this Offering Circular shall have
the same meanings when used in this Summary. Prospective investors should therefore read this
Offering Circular in its entirety.

The Group

The Group is one of the leading integrated water and sewage treatment solutions providers in the PRC
principally engaged in (i) water treatment services which include sewage and reclaimed water
treatment services and water distribution services, mainly in the PRC, Macau, Singapore and Portugal,
(i1) construction services for water environmental renovation projects including comprehensive
renovation projects and BOT projects, mainly in the PRC, Malaysia and Portugal, and (iii) technical
services and sale of machineries in relation to sewage treatment and water environmental renovation
projects in the PRC. Leveraging upon its core technologies, strategic alliances with local governments,
project management expertise, financing channels and engineering, consulting and project design
capabilities, the Group enjoys a superior market position in the PRC and is continuing to expand its
operations in the PRC and other parts of the world.

The Group was one of the four companies globally, and the only PRC company which won the “Water
Company of the Year” award in the 2014 Global Water Summit held in Paris by Global Water
Intelligence. In addition, the Group has continuously been ranked first among the “Top Ten Influential
Enterprises in the Water Industry in China” (F1 B 7K+ KB ) 2) from 2010 to 2016 in survey
conducted by h2o0-China.com. The Group has also been recognised as “Flagship Enterprise in the
Water Industry” (KFSEME ) in surveys jointly organised by Chinese Hydraulic Engineering
Society, China Water Resources News and China Water Expo from 2012 to 2013 for its standing in the
water industry in the PRC. In the 2016 Global Water Summit in Abu Dhabi held by the Global Water
Intelligence, the Group’s Second Changi NEWater Plant BOO Project in Singapore has won the first
in the Water Deal of the Year category.

The coverage of the water plants of the Group and its joint ventures extends to 21 provinces, five
autonomous regions and two municipalities across the PRC and Portugal, Malaysia, Macau and
Singapore. The Group’s operations are widely spread across the southern, western, Shandong, eastern
and northern regions in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group and its joint ventures entered into service concession
arrangements for a total of 782 water plants including 655 sewage treatments plants, 112 water
distribution plants, 14 reclaimed water treatment plants and one seawater desalination plant either in
operation, under construction or ownership of which was being transferred from the proprietors to the
Group and its joint ventures. As at the same date, out of the foregoing plants, 256 sewage treatment
plants, 86 water distribution plants and eight reclaimed water treatment plants were in operation.

The total daily design water processing capacity of the operating water plants of the Group and its
joint ventures reached approximately 18.7 million tonnes as at 31 December 2017, representing an
increase of approximately 13.3 per cent. as compared with the total daily design water processing
capacity as at 31 December 2016. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group and its joint
ventures treated approximately 3,700.5 million tonnes of sewage and reclaimed water and supplied
approximately 1,417.0 million tonnes of tap water. The construction projects of the Group and its joint
ventures generally entail the construction services in respect of water environmental renovation such
as river renovation, construction of water and sewage pipelines and sewage treatment and water supply
plants.

As at 31 December 2017, the Guarantor’s largest shareholder, BEHL (392.HK), held 43.49 per cent.
of the Guarantor’s issued share capital. As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s total assets and total




liabilities were HK$100.5 billion and HK$67.4 billion, respectively, and as at 31 December 2016, the
Group’s total assets and total liabilities were HK$81.0 billion and HK$54.3 billion, respectively. For
the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s total revenue, profit from operating activities and
profit for the year were HK$21.2 billion, HK$5.7 billion and HK$4.4 billion, respectively, and for the
year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s total revenue, profit from operating activities and profit
for the year were HK$17.4 billion, HK$5.3 billion and HK$3.7 billion, respectively.

Key Competitive Strengths

The Group has the following principal strengths, which enable the Group to compete successfully in
its principal business sectors:

° favourable industry dynamics and policy support;
° unique business scale and superior market position;

° solid profit growth;

° strong low-cost financing capability and healthy debt structure;
° strong shareholder support;

° advanced research and development capability; and

° experienced management team.

Strategies

The Group believes that increasing water consumption in the PRC and rapid industrialisation of the
PRC economy will continue to create growth opportunities for the Group. The Group has leveraged
its competitive advantages in, among others, advanced technologies, strong networks with local
governments and project management expertise to become one of the leading integrated water system
solution providers in the PRC. The Group intends to maintain its leading position in the PRC water
industry by pursuing the following strategies:

° maintain an integrated business model to accelerate expansion of sewage treatment and water
supply projects;

° develop new profit drivers; and
° maintain prudent financial policies.
Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited

BEHL is a conglomerate backed by the Beijing Municipal Government focusing on managing strategic
infrastructure, public utilities and other investments.

BEHL’s broad portfolio of assets includes:

° natural gas business;

° brewery business;




° water and environmental business; and
° solid waste treatment business.

Leveraging on these businesses, BEHL seeks to achieve consistent financial performance and to attract
international investment to further develop Beijing’s municipal infrastructure and other businesses.

BEHL’s portfolio of businesses, each with a leading market position and stable cash flows, enables it
to manage volatility across its business segments, thereby positioning BEHL to capture growth
opportunities in the utilities and consumer products sectors in Beijing and throughout the PRC.
BEHL is rated “Baal” by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and “BBB+” by Standard and Poor’s Rating
Services. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject
to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

BEHL has been listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 392) since 29 May 1997.

As at 31 December 2017, BEHL had a market capitalisation of approximately HK$58.6 billion.




THE ISSUE

The following summary contains some basic information about the Bonds. Some of the terms described
below are subject to important limitations and exceptions. Phrases used in this summary and not
otherwise defined shall have the meanings given to them in “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds”. For
a complete description of the terms and conditions of the Bonds, see “Terms and Conditions of the
Bonds” in this Offering Circular.

Issuer Beijing Enterprises Water Capital Management Holdings

Limited (JL#E/KEE ARG HEE R A RN AD).

Guarantor Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (Jt#E 7K %5 45 [ 4 [}
NECIDR

Letter of Comfort Provider Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited.

Issue US$ per cent. Guaranteed Bonds due

Issue Price per cent.

Form and Denomination The Bonds will be issued in registered form in the specified

denomination of US$200,000 and integral multiples of
US$1,000 in excess thereof.

Interest The Bonds will bear interest from and including 2018
at the rate of per cent. per annum, payable
semi-annually in arrear in equal installments on and

in each year, commencing on 2018.

Issue Date 2018.

Maturity Date

Status of the Bonds and the The Bonds constitute direct, unsubordinated, unconditional
Guarantee and (subject to Condition 4 (a) of the Terms and Conditions of
the Bonds) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and shall at all
times rank pari passu and without any preference among
themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the
Bonds shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by
applicable law and subject to Condition 4 (a) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Bonds, at all times rank at least equally with
all its other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations.

The Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably
guaranteed the due payment of all sums expressed to be
payable by the Issuer under the Bonds and the Trust Deed.
The obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee shall,
save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable
legislation and subject to Condition 4(a) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Bonds, at all times rank at least equally with
all its other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations.

Negative Pledge The Bonds will contain a negative pledge provision as further
described in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds.




Events of Default

Taxation

Final Redemption

Redemption for Taxation
Reasons

Redemption for Change of
Control

Redemption at the Option of
the Issuer

The Bonds will contain certain events of default provisions as
further described in Condition 9 of the Terms and Conditions
of the Bonds.

All payments of principal, premium (if any) and interest by or
on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor in respect of the
Bonds or under the Guarantee shall be made free and clear of,
and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties,
assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature
imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within
the British Virgin Islands, the PRC or Bermuda or any
political subdivision or authority therein or thereof having
power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required
by law, as further described in Condition 8 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Bonds. In such event, the Issuer, or, as the
case may be, the Guarantor, shall, subject to the limited
exceptions specified in Condition 8 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Bonds, pay such additional amounts as will
result in receipt by the Bondholders of such amounts as would
have been received by them had no such withholding or
deduction been required.

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the
Bonds will be redeemed at their principal amount on

The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in
whole, but not in part, at their principal amount, (together
with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date fixed for
redemption), at any time in the event of certain changes
affecting taxes of the British Virgin Islands, the PRC or
Bermuda, as further described in Condition 6(b) of the Terms
and Conditions of the Bonds.

At any time following the occurence of a Change of Control
(as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds), the
holder of each Bond will have the right, at such holder’s
option, to require the Issuer to redeem all, but not some only,
of such holder’s Bonds on the Change of Control Put Date (as
defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds), at 101 per
cent. of their principal amount, together with accrued but
unpaid interest to (but excluding) the Change of Control Put
Date, as further described in Condition 6(c¢) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Bonds.

At any time and from time to time, the Issuer may redeem the
Bonds, in whole but not in part, at a Make Whole Price as of,
and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but excluding), the
redemption date, as further described in Condition 6(d) of the
Terms and Conditions of the Bonds.




Clearing Systems

Clearance and Settlement

Governing Law

Principal Paying Agent
Registrar and Transfer Agent
Trustee

Listing

Further Issues

Use of Proceeds

Letter of Comfort

The Bonds will be represented by the Global Certificate,
which will be registered in the name of a nominee of, and
deposited on the Issue Date with, a common depositary for
Euroclear and Clearstream. Interests in the Global Certificate
will be shown on, and transfers thereof will be effected only
through, records maintained by Euroclear and Clearstream.
Except as described herein, certificates for Bonds will not be
issued in exchange for interests in the Global Certificate.

The Bonds have been accepted for clearance by Euroclear and
Clearstream under the following codes:

ISIN: XS1805357487

Common Code: 180535748

LEI Code: 3003009FUTGWDC8CUKS89

Hong Kong law.

The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch.

The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch.
The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch.

Application has been made to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
for listing of, and permission to deal in, the Bonds by way of
debt issues to professional investors only.

The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of the
Bondholders, create and issue further securities either having
the same terms and conditions as the Bonds in all respects (or
in all respects except for the issue date, the first payment of
interest on them and the timing for complying with the NDRC
Post-issue Reporting (as defined in the Terms and Conditions
of the Bonds)) and so that such further issue shall be
consolidated and form a single series with the Bonds or upon
such terms as the Issuer may determine at the time of their
issue, as further described in Condition 15 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Bonds.

See section entitled “Use of Proceeds”.

BEHL, the largest shareholder of the Guarantor, has issued a
letter of comfort to holders of the Bonds on 2018 as
set out in “The Letter of Comfort” on page 50.




SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following tables set forth the summary consolidated financial information of the Guarantor as at
and for the years indicated.

The summary audited consolidated financial information as at and for the years ended 31 December
2015, 2016 and 2017 set forth below is derived from the Guarantor’s published audited consolidated
financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017 (which have been audited by
Ernst & Young, certified public accountants registered in Hong Kong, and are included elsewhere in
this Offering Circular) and should be read in conjunction with such published audited consolidated
financial statements and the notes thereto.

The Guarantor’s audited consolidated financial statements are prepared and presented in accordance

with HKFRS.
Summary Financial Information

Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 31 December

2015 2016 2017
(audited) (audited) (audited)
(HK$°000) (HK$°000) (HK$°000)

Revenue ............ ... ... ... .. ... ... 13,502,957 17,354,833 21,192,372
Costofsales ....... ... ... .. .. . . ... ...... (8,536,057) (11,569,994) (14,727,848)
Gross profit . . ........ ... ... . ... ... ..., 4,966,900 5,784,839 6,464,524
Interest income ... ........... . . ... ... ... 315,781 202,887 280,989
Other income and gains, net. .. ............. 454,638 1,121,589 1,006,587
Administrative eXpenses. . . . ... ............ (1,225,728) (1,537,747) (1,753,221)
Other operating expenses, net .............. (248,054) (311,068) (343,336)
Profit from operating activities . . . ... ... ... 4,263,537 5,260,500 5,655,543
Fair value gain on derivative financial

INStIUMENTS . . . . o e e e e e e e e e e e 253,714 410,039 39,554
Finance costs. ... ... ... ... . ... .. (1,146,708) (1,401,329) (1,457,988)
Share of profits and losses of:

Joint ventures. . ... ............ ... .. ... 162,795 192,172 521,629

Associates ... ... ﬂ 182,373 556,578
Profit before tax. . . .. ................... 3,545,559 4,643,755 5,315,316
Income tax expense .. .................... M) (970,773) (874,772)
Profit for the year ... ................... 2,767,793 3,672,982 4,440,544
Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Guarantor ............ 2,455,370 3,227,013 3,717,227

Holders of perpetual capital instruments. . . . . — 56,570 240,291

Non-controlling interests . ............... 312,423 389,399 483,026

3,672,982 4,440,544

2,767,793




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment . .. ..............
Investment properties. . .. .......... ... ...
Goodwill .. ... ... .
Operating concessSions . . ... ... ......ouuunnn..
Other intangible assets. .. ....................
Investments in joint ventures . .................
Investments in associates. ....................
Derivative financial instruments. .. .............
Available-for-sale investments . .. ..............
Amounts due from contract customers . ..........
Receivables under service concession arrangements .
Trade receivables. ... .......................
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables . ... ..

Deferred tax assets. . . ...
Total non-current assets . . .. ..................

Current assets

Non-current assets held for sale................
Inventories. . . ... ... ... . e
Amounts due from contract customers . ..........
Receivables under service concession arrangements .
Trade receivables. ... .......................
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ... ...
Derivative financial instruments. . . .............
Restricted cash and pledged deposits . .. .........

Cash and cash equivalents . .. .................

Total current assets

Total assets. . . . ...... ... ... ... . ... .. .......

EQUITY

Equity attributable to shareholders
of the Guarantor

Issued capital. . .. ... ... ... . L

Reserves

Perpetual capital instruments .. ..............
Non-controlling interests . .. .................

Total equity

2015 2016 2017
(audited) (audited) (audited)
(HK$°000) (HK$’°000) (HK$’°000)
1,379,801 2,831,452 3,841,866

— 755,326 1,083,677
2,967,365 3,312,200 3,303,632
2,421,012 3,389,996 4,190,771

37,290 61,936 101,899
3,563,399 3,294,613 6,468,569
902,774 2,390,062 4,184,775
42,404 — —
153,664 693,611 1,245,004
11,495,709 16,204,380 15,059,884
16,977,664 22,638,167 33,322,895

665,352 1,347,108 1,731,053
5,609,924 2,046,779 2,115,819

122,388 106,751 272,320

46,338,746 59,072,381 76,922,164
226,647 141,345 330,052
99,083 90,847 135,370
1,311,629 1,100,669 875,721
1,712,947 1,933,078 2,614,866
2,959,325 3,024,152 2,852,976
5,033,177 4,415,085 6,744,944

167,174 214,150 —

269,189 134,526 46,150
6,373,831 10,921,037 9,938,829

18,153,002 21,974,889 23,538,908
64,491,748 81,047,270 100,461,072
872,295 873,787 879,382
15,311,538 15,627,355 19,905,341
16,183,833 16,501,142 20,784,723
— 6,305,025 6,623,082
4,106,582 3,961,173 5,633,518
4,106,582 10,266,198 12,256,600
20,290,415 26,767,340 33,041,323




As at 31 December

2015 2016 2017

(audited) (audited) (audited)

(HK$°000) (HK$°000) (HK$°000)
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Other payables and accruals. ... ............... 415,215 344,625 570,507
Bank and other borrowings . .................. 17,121,178 16,662,637 21,443,596
Corporate bonds. . .. ... ... ... ... .. .. .. .. 4,105,212 11,663,212 10,495,364
Notes payable . ....... ... .. ... .. ..., 3,091,413 2,939,743 3,074,932
Finance lease payables. .. ....... ... ... .. ... 51,814 40,906 395,461
Provision for major overhauls . ................ 205,489 187,759 207,426
Deferred income . .......................... 117,564 135,115 1,435,088
Deferred tax liabilities. ... ................... 1,320,597 1,691,342 2,103,997
Total non-current liabilities . .................. 26,428,482 33,665,339 39,726,371
Current liabilities
Trade payables. .. ....... .. .. . .. . ... 5,786,331 9,842,824 11,687,517
Other payables and accruals. . ................. 4,817,755 5,234,492 6,769,636
Income tax payables. .. ....... .. ... ... ..... 490,816 672,844 693,648
Bank and other borrowings ................... 6,015,190 4,812,255 4,689,344
Corporate bonds. . . .......... ... .. 599,674 — 3,750,484
Finance lease payables. ... ...... ... ... .. ... 63,085 52,176 102,749
Total current liabilities. . .. ... ... ............ 17,772,851 20,614,591 27,693,378
Total liabilities . . . .. ....................... 44,201,333 54,279,930 67,419,749
Total equity and liabilities. . . ................ 64,491,748 81,047,270 100,461,072




Summary Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Net cash flows used in operating activities .......
Net cash flows used in investing activities. . ... ...
Net cash flows from financing activities .........
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ... ...

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year.........

For the year ended 31 December

2016 2017
(audited) (audited)
(HK$°000) (HK$°000)

(2,500,323) (6,714,432)
(2,028,722) (114,670)
9,468,745 3,968,397
4,939,700 (2,860,705)
(393,155) 544,318
10,912,243 8,595,856




RISK FACTORS

Prior to making an investment decision, prospective investors should carefully consider the following
risk factors, along with the other matters set out in this Offering Circular. The following risk factors
could affect the Group’s actual results and could cause them to differ materially from estimates in any
forward-looking statements given by or on behalf of the Group. Hong Kong and PRC laws and
regulations may differ from the laws and regulations in other countries. Additional risks not described
below or not currently known to the Issuer and the Guarantor or that the Issuer and the Guarantor
currently deem immaterial may also adversely affect the value of the Bonds. These risks can be
categorised into: (i) risks associated with the Group’s business; (ii) risks relating to the PRC; and (iii)
risks relating to the Bonds and the Guarantee.

Risks associated with the Group’s business

The success of the Group’s business depends heavily on the economic and environmental conditions
in the geographic area surrounding its projects.

The Group is an integrated water and sewage treatment solutions provider in the PRC principally
engaged in water treatment services and construction services for water environmental renovation
projects including comprehensive renovation projects and BOT projects. The demand for the Group’s
water treatment and related construction services is dependent in part on the economic and
environmental conditions in the geographic area surrounding the Group’s projects. Any economic
slowdown in the markets where the Group operates could reduce the demand for its services, which
could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition
and prospects.

The Group’s business is significantly affected by the regulations and policies for water treatment
and distribution in the PRC.

The demand for the Group’s services is strongly influenced by applicable laws, regulations and
Government policies. In recent years, the Government has adopted various policies favourable to the
environmental protection industry. There can be no assurance that these policies will be implemented
in the time frame or manner intended. In addition, the Group cannot predict the precise impact of these
policies on specific industry sectors or local markets in which it operates. If the Government
withdraws or suspends any policies favourable to the environmental protection industry in the future,
the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects could be materially and
adversely affected.

Besides, revenue from the Group’s water distribution business consists primarily of tariff payments
under the relevant concession agreements. Adjustments to tariffs are generally subject to approvals by
the relevant Government authorities, and applications for upward adjustments to the tariffs may be
made in the case of increases in key costs including raw material prices, labour costs and electricity
charges. In the event that there is any increase in such key costs, there is no assurance that the relevant
Government authorities will approve the Group’s applications for increasing the tariffs to reflect such
increase in costs. Furthermore, even if the relevant Government authorities agree to increase the tariff,
there is no assurance that such increase will fully reflect the increase in the Group’s actual costs. If
there is an increase in the Group’s costs but tariff is not allowed to increase, or tariff is allowed to
increase but such increase could not fully reflect the increase in the Group’s actual costs, the Group’s
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects may be materially and adversely
affected.

Water shortages and restrictions on the use or supply of water could adversely affect the Group’s
business.

Water shortages or restrictions on the use or supply of water may cause interruptions to the Group’s
business. In the event of extreme circumstances, such interruptions could affect the Group’s water
treatment services provided to its customers, which could materially and adversely affect the Group’s
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.



The Group may not be able to manage future rapid growth and expansion, which could put
significant strain on its managerial, operational and financial resources.

The Group’s business and operations have recently grown rapidly. The Group’s revenue increased by
approximately 22.1 per cent. from HK$17,354.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to
HK$21,192.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. The Group’s fast business growth could
put significant strain on its managerial, operational and financial resources. The Group’s ability to
manage future growth will depend on its ability to effectively implement and improve management,
operational and financial information systems on a timely basis and to expand, train, motivate and
manage its workforce. There is no assurance that the Group’s personnel, systems, procedures and
controls will be adequate to support its future growth.

When executing the Group’s expansion plan, the Group may face difficulties such as inadequate
information of and experience with local regulatory customs and policies, customer preferences and
behaviour, business environment and competition with other existing service providers in the market.
There is no assurance that the Group will execute its expansion plan successfully, or that the expansion
plan will generate positive returns on its investment. Failure to manage the Group’s expansion
effectively may lead to increased costs, a decline in revenue and reduced profitability, which in turn
will materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition
and prospects.

The Group will also face various issues arising from the acquisition after the relevant transaction is
completed, such as integration of the business into its operations and allocation of internal resources.
The successful integration of an acquired business may be affected by the size and complexity of the
acquired business and the execution of the integration plan by local management. The Group may face
unexpected delays or encounter difficulties that may require the Group to allocate additional resources
to resolve such issues. Any such issue may materially and adversely affect the Group’s business,
results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Group may not be able to successfully acquire, secure, develop and operate new projects to grow
its business.

The Group’s future growth largely depends on its ability to acquire, secure, develop and operate new
projects. The Group intends to actively expand its business operations into various geographic markets
that it believes to have strong demand for its services and growth potential. The Group’s ability to
acquire, secure, develop and operate new projects is dependent on a number of factors, many of which
are beyond its control, including the following:

° global, national and local economic conditions, local government policies and regulatory
requirements, including environmental standards, the effectiveness and level of government
promulgation of environmental protection measures that affect its customers;

° the development of its target markets, including the development of local economies and local
population growth and the resulting demand for water treatment and distribution services and

construction services;

° its ability to identify feasible and attractive projects and successfully win bids or competitive
negotiations and complete commercial negotiations for such projects;

° its ability to collaborate with local governments to construct and operate relevant projects;



° competition in the PRC’s water treatment and distribution industries; and the availability and
cost of suitable land, infrastructure, equipment and raw materials necessary for the development
and operation of facilities or plants.

If the Group is unable to acquire, secure, develop and operate new projects to grow its business due
to factors which are beyond its control, the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition
and prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

The Group’s customers may make claims against it and terminate their services in whole or in part
prematurely should the Group breach terms of its agreements with them or fail to implement
projects which satisfy their requirements and expectations.

The Group is engaged in various water treatment and distribution services projects and the provision
of construction services for water environmental renovation projects including comprehensive
renovation projects and BOT projects. No assurance can be given by the Group that the construction
of the above projects will be completed on time or that these services or these projects will be
delivered or completed to the requirements and expectations of its customers. Failure to complete
projects on time or to meet the requirements and expectations of its customers, or the delivery by it
of defective systems or services, may lead to claims brought against the Group by customers and/or
termination of its services in whole or in part by the Group’s customers prematurely and/or calls by
customers for payment of the performance bonds provided to them by the Group. Unsatisfactory
design or workmanship, staff turnover, human errors, failure to deliver services on time, default by its
sub contractors or misinterpretation of or failure to adhere to regulations and procedures could result
in delays or failures in the construction, testing or commissioning of any water plant. As a result, the
Group could experience delays in the recognition of its revenue from such projects and it may not
receive payments from its customers. This, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. In addition, the Group’s reputation
may be negatively affected, which could negatively affect its brand image and the ability to obtain new
projects.

The performance of the Group is highly related to the performance of its construction services
business, and the Group may not be able to secure new construction projects.

A substantial part of the Group’s revenue is generated from its construction services for water
environmental renovation projects including comprehensive renovation projects and BOT projects.
For the years ended 31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017, revenue from the construction services
accounted for approximately 61.7 per cent., 65.2 per cent. and 66.0 per cent., respectively, of the
Group’s total revenue. A customer that accounts for a significant portion of such revenue in a given
period may not generate a similar amount of revenue, if any, in subsequent periods due to reasons
beyond the control of the Group. As such, in order for the Group to maintain and increase its revenue
and profitability, it needs to secure additional projects from other customers, and it may not be
successful in doing so. In addition, any adverse development in the operations of the Group’s
construction services business or the Group’s ability to develop new projects may substantially reduce
the Group’s revenue. If the Group fails to secure additional construction projects or if there is any
adverse development in its construction services business, the Group’s business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

Sewage and reclaimed water treatment and water distribution projects are capital intensive with
long payback periods, and the Group may require additional funding for these and other investment
projects.

The Group is engaged in sewage and reclaimed water treatment and water supply projects primarily
on a BOT, BOO or TOT business model, which typically requires significant initial cash outlays and
has long payback periods. These projects require the Group to make substantial financial investments
during the construction phase of the projects, which typically lasts for 12 to 18 months. In connection
with the projects operated on a BOT or BOO business model, the Group is responsible for the costs



of construction of the sewage or reclaimed water treatment and water distribution facilities and the
operation of the facilities during the concession period, which may be up to 40 years. During such
periods, the Group bears the costs of maintenance and repair of the facilities. After the construction
is completed and commercial operations of the relevant facilities have commenced (in the case of BOT
or BOO projects) and upon obtaining the TOT Operation Right (in the case of TOT projects), the
Group receives regular, typically monthly, tariff payments from its customers during the concession
period.

Due to the capital intensive and long-term nature of BOT, BOO and TOT projects and other projects
requiring substantial capital investment, there is no assurance that the Group will be able to secure
adequate funding or refinancing for these projects on terms that are acceptable to it, or at all, or that
these projects will achieve their initial expected returns. If the Group fails to obtain project financing
or refinancing for these projects or other projects in the amount budgeted, or at all, it may need to
finance these projects from its internal resources, which may strain its resources for developing or
acquiring other projects and other corporate purposes. In addition, the Group has used certain assets,
including equity interests in certain of its subsidiaries and certain sewage treatment and water
distribution concession right, to secure certain of its financing. Such security will constrain its ability
to dispose such assets when required.

In addition, failure to properly perform its obligations in respect of these projects may lead to a
reduction in its returns and may even lead to a loss of all or part of its initial capital investments. As
a result, the Group may not be able to undertake or acquire new projects, and its business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

Significant indebtedness may restrict the Group’s business activities and increase the Group’s
exposure to various operational risks.

The Group relies on bank loans and proceeds from bond issuances to satisfy a portion of its capital
requirements, and the Group has had a significant amount of outstanding indebtedness. As at 31
December 2017, the Group had total indebtedness (comprising long-term and short-term bank and
other borrowings, finance lease payables, corporate bonds and notes payables) of approximately
HK$44.0 billion, of which approximately HK$8.5 billion would become due within 12 months. If any
of the Group companies defaults on its borrowings guaranteed by the Group, the lender may exercise
its right under the guarantee to demand repayment from the Guarantor. As a result, the Group’s
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects may be materially and adversely
affected.

Substantial indebtedness could impact the Group’s business in a number of ways, including:

° requiring the Group to dedicate part of its operating cash flow for its indebtedness before it
receives the Government funding;

° increasing the Group’s finance costs, thus affecting the overall profits of the Group;

° limiting the Group’s flexibility in planning for or responding to changes in the Group’s business
and the industries in which it operates;

° limiting, together with the financial and other restrictive covenants of the Group’s indebtedness,
among others, the Group’s ability to borrow additional funds; and

° increasing the Group’s vulnerability to adverse general economic and industry conditions.
From time to time, the Group may need to obtain lenders’ consent for any deviation from or
non-compliance with certain financial and other restrictive covenants in its bank loan contracts. There

is no assurance that the Group will always be able to comply with the restrictions and covenants in
its current or future debt obligations and other agreements in the future. In the event of a default under
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such agreements, the lenders could terminate their commitments to the Group, accelerate the debt,
declare all borrowed amounts due and payable or terminate the agreements, as the case may be. Some
of the Group’s financing arrangements including the Bonds, contain cross-acceleration or
cross-default provisions. A default by the Group under another financing agreement may cause
acceleration of the repayment of the debt outstanding or result in a default under the agreement
containing a cross-acceleration or cross-default provision. If the Group defaults under a large amount
of debts, there can be no assurance that its cash would be sufficient to remedy those debts or repay
them in full as they become due, or that it would be able to find alternative financing on terms that
are acceptable to it.

In addition, certain of the Group’s bank borrowings are secured by certain assets, such as equity
interests in certain of the Group’s subsidiaries and certain sewage treatment and water distribution
concession right. The third-party security rights may limit the Group’s use of these assets and
adversely affect its operational efficiency. If the Group fails to service its borrowings when due and
the banks enforce their security rights under the relevant security agreements, the Group may lose part
or all of the assets securing the borrowings, and its business, results of operations, financial condition
and prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

The Group typically only receives payment in connection with the revenue recognised from the
construction of its BOT projects on receipt of cash tariff payments during the operational phase of
its BOT projects, and there may be a mismatch between the revenue recognition and underlying
cash flows for the Group’s projects.

For each of the Group’s BOT projects, once the facility is operational, the Group receives regular,
usually monthly, cash payments from the relevant customer based on the contractually agreed pricing
formula and the volume of sewage treated or water supplied (or the contractually guaranteed minimum
volume, if any). The Group usually does not receive payments from its customers during the
construction phase of these projects. However, in accordance with HKFRS as supplemented by Hong
Kong (International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee) — Interpretation 12 on Service
Concession Agreements (“HK (IFRIC) — Interpretation 12 on Service Concession Agreements”),
the Group recognises revenue from these projects during both the construction phase and the
operational phase. The Group records revenue during the construction phase on the basis of percentage
of completion method, based on the cost of construction incurred plus the fair market value of a
certain mark-up on the construction costs determined by an independent appraiser. There is a
mismatch between the Group’s revenue and the underlying cash flows for such projects, because the
Group generally does not receive actual payments for its construction services and only receive
payments for its operation services. Thus, the Group may need to rely on its internal resources and
external financing to supplement cash flow from operations during the construction phase so as to
meet its payment obligations in full and on time. If the Group fails to secure sufficient external
financing or generate sufficient cash from its operations to finance its projects, or if its finance costs
increase materially, the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects may
be materially and adversely affected. Additionally, the Group may not receive sufficient cash
payments from projects for which construction revenue had been recognised. If the relevant project
does not materialise or if the actual cash receipts in the operation phase of the project are significantly
smaller than expected, the Group may need to recognise impairment or write-offs in the subsequent
period for the related intangible assets or receivables under service concession arrangements. There
is no assurance that impairment or write-offs will not occur in the future, which may materially and
adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

A portion of revenue recognised from the construction phase of a BOT project is also recognised as
a service concession receivable to be offset against the allocated amount after receipt of the cash tariff
and other payments received related to the relevant project during the operational phase. Service
concession receivables for BOT projects are settled during the concession periods of the relevant BOT



projects, which can be up to 20 to 40 years. There is no assurance that the service concession
receivables will be fully settled before the expiry of the relevant concession period, which may result
in the impairment of the Group’s financial assets and may materially and adversely affect its business,
results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Failure to achieve the projected utilisation of the facilities operated by the Group may adversely
affect its earnings.

Each of the Group’s BOT, BOO and TOT projects has been or will be built to a specific design water
processing capacity in accordance with the terms of the relevant concession agreements. Depending
on the growth in the population and level of industrialisation in the area serviced by the relevant
facilities, there is no assurance that the facilities the Group operates will be able to achieve the
forecast utilisation of their design water processing capacity. If the facilities operated by the Group
are not utilised to their designed capacities, the Group may not generate the projected revenue and
profit from the relevant projects, and its business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

The Group is subject to various completion risks with respect to its construction projects which
could give rise to significant delays or additional costs.

The construction of water facilities involves many potential risks, including changes in construction
design and oppositions by relevant interest groups to the development of land and construction of
industrial areas, or delays caused by the discovery of historical artifacts during the land development
process. Any such risks, if realised, could result in cost overruns, which may materially and adversely
affect the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

In addition, protests and other forms of opposition by relevant interest groups, such as lawsuits or
demonstrations, may delay the Group’s construction projects. No assurance can be given that such
activities in the future, including currently pending or future lawsuits, will not cause the Group to
experience significant delays or additional costs.

The Group relies on the performance of its subcontractors.

The Group has arrangements with subcontractors that are essential to its operations. If any of these
key counterparties fails to perform its obligations or if the credit-worthiness of any of these
counterparties deteriorates, the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

Furthermore, there is a risk that the Group may not be able to find suitable alternative sub contractors
at commercially reasonable contract terms if contracts with its current counterparties terminate. This
may result in delays in the completion of the Group’s projects or incurrence of additional costs, which
could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition
and prospects.

The Group is exposed to credit risks and payment delays of its customers.

The Group is subject to credit risks of its customers, and the Group’s profitability is dependent on its
customers making prompt payments for the work performed. The Group’s construction and service
contracts provide for payments by instalment. If there is any delay in payments by the Group’s
customers, the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects may be
materially and adversely affected.



The Group is exposed to risks associated with entering into contracts with the Government and other
public organisations, and its performance may be significantly affected by Government spending on
infrastructure and other projects.

The Group’s customers include agencies or entities owned or otherwise controlled by the Government.
To the extent that the Group’s projects are funded by the Government, they may be subject to delays
or changes as a result of the changes in the Government’s budgets or for other policy considerations.
Government spending on infrastructure and other construction projects has historically been, and will
continue to be, cyclical in nature and vulnerable to fluctuations in the PRC’s economic conditions and
changes in the Government’s policies. The revenue contributed by the Government and
Government-controlled customers accounted for the majority of the Group’s total revenue for 2016
and 2017. The Group therefore has significant exposure to risks associated with contracting with
Government and other public organisations. In addition, any disputes with Government and other
public organisations could potentially lead to contract termination if unresolved or may take a
considerably longer period of time to resolve than disputes with counterparties in the private sector,
and payments due to the Group from Government and other public organisations may be delayed as
a result. In some circumstances, they may also require the Group to change its construction methods,
equipment or other performance terms or direct it to reconfigure its designs or purchase specific
equipment for the relevant project in connection with the Group’s engineering and construction
projects or undertake additional obligations or change other contractual terms, thereby subjecting the
Group to additional costs. Resolution of any disagreement with them with respect to such changes may
be time-consuming and may cause the Group to incur additional costs. Changes in Governmental
budgets and policies relating to the Group’s projects could also result in delays in project
commencement or completion, adverse changes to such projects or a withholding of, or delay in,
payment to the Group. If any of the Government and or other public organisations terminates a
contract with the Group, its order book could be reduced, its business plans may be adversely affected,
which could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations, financial
condition and prospects.

The Group is subject to risks associated with technological changes.

As an established integrated water solutions provider, the Group must ensure that it is able to
continually provide state of the art solutions to its customers that meet their needs in order to maintain
its market share. However, there are rapid technological changes and improvements in sewage and
reclaimed water treatment technology and equipment. The Group’s products and technologies must
pass rigorous testing and field trials, which can be time-consuming and expensive. The
commencement and completion of the tests and field trials are subject to many factors such as delays
in producing or failure to produce test results, data or analysis, inadequate or inconclusive results,
changes in regulatory policies or industry standards or delays by government or regulatory authorities.
Changes in regulations or standards for sewage and reclaimed water treatment in regions where the
Group conducts its business may also necessitate the use of new technologies or the improvement of
its existing technologies.

For example, after the outbreak of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (“SARS”) in 2003, higher
standards for treatment of sewage discharged by hospitals and clinics were imposed by the State
Environmental Protection Administration, currently the Ministry of Environmental Protection of the
PRC, to prevent the spread of communicable diseases. The Ministry of Health of the PRC (the
“MOH”) and the Standardization Administration of the PRC has promulgated a total of more than 100
standards for drinking water with which the Group is required to comply. In addition, when the Group
expands its business to overseas countries, it has to comply with the standards required by
governments in different jurisdictions. The Group may need to develop new technologies or upgrade
existing technologies or facilities to meet the standards imposed by the MOH or other regulatory
authorities in the PRC or other countries. In the event that the Group is unable to develop or source
new and enhanced sewage and reclaimed water treatment solutions to keep up with such technological
changes or changes in regulatory requirements, its business, results of operations, financial condition
and prospects may be materially and adversely affected.



The Group faces increasing competition from existing and new market participants in the industries
in which it operates.

The competition in the water and sewage treatment market in the PRC has evolved significantly over
the past decade, and is believed to be increasingly intense in the future. The Group primarily competes
with major state-owned and private water and sewage solution providers and a number of international
environmental services companies. As a result of the PRC’s accession to the World Trade
Organisation, the Government has opened up domestic markets to foreign competition, and foreign
invested companies are now allowed to participate in water-related projects. Competitors may have
greater financial, marketing or other resources and may have more advanced technologies, greater
brand recognition, economies of scale, longer track records or more established relationships in
certain markets in which the Group operates. In addition, as the Group expands into new geographical
markets or introduces new products and services, it may be subject to competition from other market
players.

Whether the Group will successfully compete depends on its ability to anticipate and respond to many
competitive factors, including project execution capabilities, technology capabilities, treatment
solutions quality and customer services, the needs of local customers and familiarity with local
regulations. There can be no assurance that the Group’s current or potential competitors will not offer
services comparable or superior to those that it offers at the same or lower prices or adapt more
quickly than the Group does to evolving industry trends or changing market conditions. If the Group
fails to compete effectively or if the competition with respect to the Group’s products or services
continues to increase, there would be an adverse effect on the Group’s financial results and return on
capital expenditures, which could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Group’s expansion into overseas markets will be affected by economic conditions and political
and other risks in such countries where it operates, and the Group may not be successful in
managing the Group’s expansion into new countries.

The Group has expanded its sewage and reclaimed water treatment and construction services to
overseas countries such as Singapore, Portugal, Macau and Malaysia since 2010 by acquiring local
entities or projects and through investing and forming joint ventures. The Group will selectively
pursue suitable opportunities in overseas markets from time to time and strategically expand its
overseas business.

Such overseas business may be affected by the changes in, and the instability of, international
economic and political conditions as well as the regional conditions of the jurisdictions where it
operates. The political and economic conditions in such regions are often subject to instability. As a
result of the Group’s overseas operation, it is exposed to risks associated with expanding and
conducting business in foreign countries and regions, including but not limited to:

° political and legal risks, such as civil unrest, acts of terrorism, war, coups, civil war, local or
global political or military tensions, diplomatic relations tensions or changes, confiscation or
nationalisation of the Group’s assets or the imposition of restrictions, penalties or other sanctions
in relation to any dealings in certain high risk regions;

° changes in foreign currency controls and foreign exchange policy;
° fluctuations in the economy and financial markets, as well as credit risk;

° changes in foreign government regulations or policies and the lack of a well-developed or
independent legal system in foreign countries, which may create difficulties for the Group to
enforce its contractual rights;



° dependence on foreign governments or entities controlled by such foreign governments for utility
or infrastructure;

° possible unfavourable labour conditions or employee strikes;

° inadequate understanding of local operating and market conditions, lack of understanding of
local taxation (including any adverse tax policies), customs, preferential treatment, corrupt
business practices and other laws, regulations, standards and other requirements;

° risks of increased costs, prolonged construction periods, and contradictions with anticipated
targets caused by violation of laws and regulations of the host country or improper handling of
the legal issues in the host country;

° anti-PRC sentiments or protectionism, anti-dumping and others measures against PRC
companies; and

° the cyclical nature and the demand of local market, and competition from other international and
local companies.

In addition, the Group may need to allocate management resources and employees to high risk regions
where its overseas projects are situated. The Group may purchase insurance and adopt other measures
to protect employees and assets that may incur significant expenses. However, the sufficiency and
effectiveness of such measures cannot be assured. The Group’s exposure to such risks varies
depending on the projects and the specific stage of each project. In addition, due to lack of managerial
experience or resources in the new markets, the Group may need to rely on local management team
and their expertise. Any loss of the services of key personnel and failure to recruit and retain a
sufficient number of experienced personnel could materially and adversely affect operation of the
Group in these new markets. The above scenarios may therefore disrupt the Group’s projects, result
in a loss of staff and assets and may adversely affect its business, results of operations, financial
condition and prospects or overseas expansion plan.

The Group’s operations is subject to extensive regulatory requirements, including environmental
regulations, and any such non-compliance may result in a material adverse effect on the Group’s
results of operations.

The Group’s operations are subject to extensive national and local laws and regulations governing
environmental protection, workplace safety and product quality, among others. Moreover,
environmental laws and regulations are becoming increasingly stringent and may in the future impose
onerous obligations on the Group or significant penalties for non-compliance. While the Group intends
to comply with applicable legislation and regulatory requirements, the liabilities, costs, obligations
and requirements associated with the compliance with these laws and regulations may be substantial
and may delay the commencement of or cause interruptions to the Group’s operations.
Non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Group’s operations may
result in substantial penalties or fines, suspension or revocation of the Group’s relevant licences or
permits, termination of government contracts or suspension of the Group’s operations. Such events
could materially and adversely affect the Group’s businesses, financial condition, results of operations
and reputation.

Changes in laws or regulations, including environmental laws and regulations, may result in the Group
having to incur substantial capital expenditure to upgrade or supplement its existing facilities or
becoming subject to any fines or penalties. If the Group was to incur significant fines or penalties or
become involved in protracted litigation, or if any of its facilities are closed or are required to
temporarily suspend operations or upgrade to comply with the applicable laws and regulations, the
Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects may be materially and
adversely affected.
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The Group’s operations may be exposed to risks relating to environmental, health and safety issues.

The Group’s water treatment and distribution and construction operations could expose it to the risk
of substantial liability relating to environmental, health and safety issues, such as those resulting from
discharge of pollutants into the environment, handling, storage and disposal of solid or hazardous
materials or wastes and the investigation and remediation of contaminated sites. The Group may be
responsible for the investigation and remediation of environmental conditions at currently and
formerly operated construction sites. The Group may also be subject to associated liabilities, including
liabilities for natural resource damage, third party property damage or personal injury resulting from
lawsuits brought by the Government or private litigants as a result of the Group’s or its
subcontractors’ activities. In the course of the Group’s operations, hazardous wastes may be generated
at third-party-owned or operated sites, and hazardous wastes may be disposed of or treated as
third-party-owned or operated disposal sites. If those sites become contaminated, the Group could be
held responsible for the cost of investigation and remediation of such sites, any associated natural
resource damage, and civil or criminal fines or penalties, which could materially and adversely affect
the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Group is exposed to significant risks relating to its operations, including natural disasters and
other disruptive events, and its insurance policies may not provide adequate coverage.

Significant damage or other impediments to water treatment or distribution systems managed by the
Group as a result of, among others:

° natural disasters, such as earthquakes, floods, prolonged droughts and typhoons;

° human-errors in operating the water supply and sewage treatment systems; or

° protests and other forms of opposition by environmental interest groups, such as lawsuits and
demonstrations,

may materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition
and prospects. The Group maintains insurance against some, but not all, of these events, but no
assurance can be given that its insurance will be adequate to cover any direct or indirect losses or
liabilities it may suffer.

The Group’s ability to grow will be harmed if it does not retain the continued services of its key
technical and management personnel and identify, hire and retain additional qualified personnel.

There is a strong competition for qualified technical and management personnel in the sectors in which
the Group competes. The Group may not be able to continue to attract and retain qualified technical
and management personnel, such as engineers, architects and project managers, who are necessary for
the development of its business or to replace qualified personnel. The Group’s planned growth may
place increased demands on its resources and will likely require the addition of technical and
management personnel and the development of additional expertise by existing personnel. Loss of the
services of, or failure to recruit, key technical and management personnel could limit the Group’s
ability to complete existing projects successfully and to engage in new projects, which could
materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects.



Work stoppage and other labour relations matters may have an adverse effect on the Group’s
financial results.

The Group believes that it has good working relationships with its employees and has not experienced
any material work stoppage, strike or other labour problems in the past. However, there is no assurance
that any of such events will not arise in the future. If the Group’s employees were to engage in a strike
or other work stoppage, the Group could experience a significant disruption of operations and/or
higher ongoing labour costs, which could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, results
of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Group may be involved from time to time in material disputes, administrative, legal and other
proceedings arising out of its operations and may face liabilities or damages to its reputation as a
result.

The Group may be involved from time to time in material disputes with various parties involved in
its operation, including subcontractors, suppliers, partners and purchasers. These disputes may lead to
protests, legal or other proceedings and may result in damage to the Group’s reputation, substantial
costs and diversion of resources and management’s attention and may have a material adverse effect
on the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. In addition, the
Group may have disagreements with regulatory bodies or encounter additional compliance issues in
the course of its operations, which may subject the Group to administrative proceedings and
unfavourable decrees.

Risks relating to the PRC

Changes in PRC political and economic policies and conditions could adversely affect the Group’s
business and prospects.

The PRC has been, and will continue to be, a significant operating base for the Group’s business. The
economy of the PRC differs from the economies of most developed countries in many respects,
including:

° structure;

° level of Government involvement;

° level of development;

° growth rate;
° control of foreign exchange; and
° allocation of resources.

The Government has been pursuing economic reforms to transform its economy from a planned
economy to a market economy since 1978 emphasising utilisation of market forces in the development
of the PRC economy. However, a substantial part of the PRC economy is still being operated under
various controls of the Government, and the Government continues to play a significant role in
regulating industries by imposing industrial policies. By imposing industrial policies and other
economic measures, such as control of foreign exchange, taxation and foreign investment, the
Government exerts considerable direct and indirect influence on the development of the PRC
economy. Many of the economic reforms carried out by the Government are unprecedented or
experimental and are expected to be refined and improved over time. Other political, economic and
social factors may also lead to further adjustments of the reform measures. This refining and
adjustment process may not necessarily have a positive effect on the Group’s operations and business
development. For example, the Government has in the past implemented a number of measures



intended to slow down certain segments of the economy that the Government believed to be
overheating, such as raising benchmark interest rates of commercial banks, reducing currency supply
and placing additional limitations on the ability of commercial banks to make loans by raising bank
reserves against deposits. The Group’s business, results of operations or financial condition may be
adversely affected by changes in the PRC political, economic and social conditions, laws, regulations
and policies and by changes in the rates or method of taxation and the imposition of additional
restrictions on currency conversion.

These limitations on the cash flow between the Group and its PRC subsidiaries could restrict the
Group’s ability to act in response to changing market conditions and transfer the proceeds from the
issue of the Bonds to its onshore subsidiaries and to make dividend payments from its PRC
subsidiaries, thus affecting the Group’s ability to pay the interest due and payable under the Bonds on
each interest payment date, or to pay the principal of the outstanding Bonds on the maturity date.

The implementation of the Labour Contract Law of the PRC may significantly increase the Group’s
operating expenses and adversely affect its business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects.

The Labour Contract Law of the PRC (the “Labour Contract Law”) imposes liabilities on employers
and significantly increases the cost to an employer for workforce reduction. It formalises workers’
rights concerning layoffs, employment contracts and the role of trade unions and provides for specific
standards and procedures for the termination of an employment contract. In addition, the Labour
Contract Law requires a statutory economic compensation upon the termination of an employment
contract in most cases, including but not limited to in cases of the expiration of a fixed-term
employment contract, unless such employee chooses not to renew the employment contract while the
terms being offered are the same or more favourable than the existing employment contract. In the
event that the Group decides to change or decrease its workforce, the Labour Contract Law could
adversely limit the Group’s ability to effect such changes in a timely and cost-effective manner, which
may adversely affect its business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

PRC laws and regulations involve many uncertainties, and the current legal system in the PRC
could have a negative impact on the Group’s business and/or limit the legal protections available
to the Bondholders.

A notable portion of the Group’s business is conducted in the PRC, and several of its operating
subsidiaries are located in the PRC. As such, these PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC laws and
regulations applicable to foreign investment in the PRC. The PRC legal system is a civil law system
based on written statutes. Unlike the common law system, prior cases have little precedent value in
deciding subsequent cases in the civil law legal system. Additionally, such PRC written statutes are
often principle-oriented and require detailed interpretations by the enforcement bodies to further apply
and enforce such laws. When the Government started its economic reforms in 1978, it began to build
a comprehensive system of laws and regulations to regulate business practices and overall economic
orders of the country. The Government has made significant progress in the promulgation of laws and
regulations dealing with business and commercial affairs of various participants of the economy,
involving foreign investment, corporate organisation and governance, commercial transactions,
taxation and trade. However, the promulgation of new laws, changes in existing laws and abrogation
of local regulations by national laws may have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects. Additionally, given the involvement of different
enforcement bodies of the relevant rules and regulations and the non-binding nature of prior court
decisions and administrative rulings, the interpretation and enforcement of PRC laws and regulations
involve significant uncertainties under the current legal environment. In addition, the enforcement of
existing laws or contracts based on existing laws may be uncertain and sporadic, and it may be
difficult to obtain swift and equitable enforcement or to obtain enforcement of a judgment by a court
of another jurisdiction. All of these uncertainties may limit the legal protections available to the
Bondholders.



Government control over currency conversion may limit the Group’s ability to utilise its cash
effectively.

The Government imposes controls on the convertibility of the Renminbi into foreign currencies and,
in certain cases, the remittance of currency out of the PRC. The Guarantor receives a significant
portion of its revenues in Renminbi. As a holding company incorporated in Bermuda, the Guarantor
may rely on dividend payments from its PRC subsidiaries to fund any cash and financing requirements
of the Group. Under existing PRC foreign exchange regulations, payments of current account items,
including profit distributions and trade and service-related foreign exchange transactions, can be made
in foreign currencies without prior approval from State Administration of Foreign Exchange or its
competent counterpart (“SAFE”) by complying with certain procedural requirements. Therefore, the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries are able to pay dividends in foreign currencies to the Group without prior
approval from SAFE. But approval from or registration with appropriate Government authorities is
required where Renminbi is to be converted into foreign currency and remitted out of the PRC to pay
for capital expenses, such as the repayment of loans denominated in foreign currencies. This could
affect the ability of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to obtain foreign exchange through debt or equity
financing, including by means of loans or capital contributions from the Group. The Government may
also at its discretion restrict access in the future to foreign currencies for current account transactions.
If the foreign exchange control system prevents the Group from obtaining sufficient foreign currencies
to satisfy the Group’s foreign currency demands, the Group may not be able to satisfy its obligations
under the Bonds.

The Group’s operations may be affected by rising inflation rates within the PRC.

Inflation rates within the PRC have been on an upward trend in recent years. The Government has
taken numerous monetary tightening measures, including raising interest rates and reserve
requirement ratios, and curbing bank lending, to slow down economic growth and control price
increases. Increasing inflationary rates are due to many factors beyond the Group’s control, such as
rising food prices, rising production and labour costs, high lending levels, the PRC and foreign
governmental policies and regulations, and movements in exchange rates and interest rates. It is
impossible to accurately predict future inflationary trends. If inflation rates rise beyond the Group’s
expectations, the costs of its business operations may become significantly higher than the Group has
anticipated for the future, and the Group may be unable to pass on such higher costs to consumers in
amounts that are sufficient to cover increasing operating costs. As a result, further inflationary
pressures within the PRC may have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations
and financial condition, as well as its liquidity and profitability.

Under the EIT Law, the Guarantor and the Issuer may be classified as a “resident enterprise” of
the PRC. Such classification could result in unfavourable tax consequences to the Guarantor and
the Issuer.

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (“EIT Law”), an enterprise established outside of
the PRC with a “de facto management body” within the PRC is deemed a “resident enterprise”,
meaning that it is treated in a manner similar to a PRC enterprise for enterprise income tax purposes.
Dividends paid from one resident enterprise to another may qualify as “tax-exempt income”. The
implementing rules of the EIT Law define “de facto management” as “substantial and overall
management and control over the production and business operations, personnel, accounting, and
properties etc.” of the enterprise. A Circular issued by the State Administration of Taxation on 22 April
2009, provides that a foreign Chinese-funded enterprise controlled by a PRC company or a PRC
company group will be classified as a “resident enterprise” with a “de facto management body”
located within the PRC if all of the following requirements are satisfied: (i) the senior management
and core management departments in charge of daily operations perform their duties are located
mainly within the PRC; (ii) financial and human resources decisions are subject to determination or



approval by persons or bodies in the PRC; (iii) major assets, accounting books, company seals and
minutes and files of board and shareholders’ meetings are located or kept within the PRC; and (iv) at
least half of the enterprise’s directors with voting rights or senior management customarily reside
within the PRC.

On 29 January 2014, the State Administration of Taxation issued an Announcement on the
Determination of PRC Tax Resident Enterprise Subject to Criteria of “de facto management body”,
which requires a Chinese-funded offshore-incorporated enterprise that falls within the criteria of “de
facto management body” to make an application for the classification as a “resident enterprise”, which
in turn will be confirmed by the province-level tax authority.

Since several members of the Group’s management are currently based in the PRC, there is no
assurance that the Guarantor or the Issuer will not be deemed to be a “resident enterprise” under the
EIT Law and, therefore, be subject to enterprise income tax at a rate of 25 per cent. on its global
income in the future.

If the Guarantor or the Issuer is treated as a PRC resident enterprise for purposes of the EIT Law, the
interest that the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) pays in respect of the Bonds may be
subject to PRC withholding tax at a rate of 10 per cent. if paid to a non-PRC resident enterprise
Bondholder (which has no establishment within the PRC or its income has no actual connection to its
establishment inside the PRC) and 20 per cent. if paid to a non-PRC resident individual Bondholder,
and any gain a Bondholder may realise from the transfer of the Bonds may be treated as income
derived from sources within the PRC and may be subject to PRC withholding tax at a rate of 10 per
cent. in the case of a non-PRC resident enterprise Bondholder (which has no establishment within the
PRC or its income has no actual connection to its establishment inside the PRC) and 20 per cent. in
the case of a non-PRC resident individual Bondholder (in each case unless an applicable treaty
provides otherwise), which may materially and adversely affect the value of investment in the Bonds.

Interest payable by the Group to its foreign investors and gains on the sale of the Bonds may be
subject to withholding tax under PRC tax laws.

Under the EIT Laws, if any of the Group’s entities are deemed to be a PRC resident enterprise, the
interest payable on the Bonds may be considered to be sourced within the PRC. In that case, unless
an investor in the Bonds qualifies for a preferential withholding rate under a tax treaty, the PRC
income tax at the rate of 10 per cent. would be withheld at source from interest paid by the Group to
investors that are “non-resident enterprises” if such “non-resident enterprise” investors do not have an
establishment or place of business in the PRC or if, despite the existence of such establishment or
place of business in the PRC, the relevant income is not effectively connected with such establishment
or place of business in the PRC. Any gain realised on the transfer of the Bonds by such non-resident
enterprise investors may be subject to a 10 per cent. PRC income tax if any of the Group’s entities
is treated as a PRC resident enterprise, and such gain is regarded as income derived from sources
within the PRC. Furthermore, if any of the Group’s entities is considered a PRC resident enterprise,
and relevant PRC tax authorities consider interest that the Group’s entities pay with respect to the
Bonds, or any gains realised from the transfer of Bonds, to be income derived from sources within the
PRC, such interest or gains earned by non-resident individuals may be subject to the PRC income tax
(which, in the case of interest, may be withheld at source by the Group) at a rate of 20 per cent. It
is uncertain whether the Group’s entities will be considered a PRC “resident enterprise” and whether
in that case interest payable to the Group’s non-resident investors, or the gain that the Group’s
non-resident investors may realise from the transfer of the Bonds would be treated as income sourced
within the PRC and be subject to PRC tax. In addition, if investors are required to pay PRC income
tax on the transfer of the Bonds, the value of investment in the Bonds of the investors may be
materially and adversely affected. It is unclear whether, if any of the Group’s entities is considered
a PRC “resident enterprise”, the affected Bondholder might be able to claim the benefit of income tax
treaties or agreements entered into between the PRC and other countries or areas.
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The anti-monopoly law may subject the Group’s future acquisitions to increased scrutiny, which
could affect its ability to consummate acquisitions on terms favourable to the Group.

The anti-monopoly law of the PRC became effective on 1 August 2008. The law was enacted to guard
against and cease monopolistic activities, and to safeguard and promote orderly market competition.
Under the anti-monopoly law, monopolistic acts include monopolistic agreements among business
operators, abuse of dominant market positions by business operators and concentration of business
operators that eliminates or restricts competition or might be eliminating or restricting competition.
The Regulations on the Thresholds for Reporting of Concentration of Business Operators (“Reporting
Threshold Regulations”) provide specific thresholds for reporting of concentration of business
operators. Under the anti-monopoly law and the Reporting Threshold Regulations, parties to a
concentration must report to the Ministry of Commerce in advance if, in the preceding accounting year
the turnover in the aggregate achieved by all parties to the transaction exceeds RMB10,000 million
worldwide or RMB2,000 million within the PRC, and the turnover achieved by at least two of the
parties exceeds RMB400 million within the PRC. However, the Ministry of Commerce has the right
to initiate investigation of a transaction not reaching the above-mentioned reporting thresholds if the
Ministry of Commerce has evidence that the transaction has or may have the effect of excluding or
restricting competition.

The anti-trust scrutiny procedures and requirements set forth in the anti-monopoly law and the
Reporting Threshold Regulations grant the Government extensive authority of evaluation and control
over the terms of acquisitions in the PRC by foreign investors, and their implementation involves
significant uncertainties and risks. To the extent the Group’s future concentration (including as a result
of: (1) mergers; (2) control over other undertakings through acquiring their shares or assets; and (3)
control over other undertakings or the ability to exert a decisive influence on the same through signing
contracts or other means) meet the threshold requirements set forth in the law and the Reporting
Threshold Regulations, or are deemed by the Ministry of Commerce to meet the thresholds, the Group
will be subject to anti-monopoly review. The consummation of the Group’s future acquisitions could
therefore be much more time-consuming and complex, and any required approval processes, including
obtaining approval from the Ministry of Commerce, may delay or prevent the consummation of such
acquisitions and prevent the Group from attaining its business objectives.

On 3 February 2011, the General Office of the PRC State Council issued the Circular of the General
Office of the State Council on the Establishment of Security Review System Regarding Mergers and
Acquisitions in the PRC by Foreign Investors with effect in March 2011, according to which,
acquisitions by foreign investors of domestic PRC companies in the sectors such as military
enterprises, key agricultural products, key energy and resources, key infrastructure, key transportation
services, key technologies and key equipment manufacturing activities that raise national security
concerns, shall be subject to security review where the foreign investor might acquire actual control
of the target PRC company through acquisition. This regulation is unclear in certain aspects including
the definition of key sectors which are expected to be further specified and therefore how it will be
interpreted and implemented in practice remains to be seen. If the Group’s future acquisitions fall
within the security review scope, the consummation of such acquisitions could therefore be much more
time-consuming and complex, and any required approval processes may delay or prevent the
consummation of such acquisitions, and prevent the Group from attaining its business objectives.

The national and regional economies in the PRC and the Group’s prospects may be adversely
affected by natural disasters, acts of God or a recurrence of SARS or an outbreak of other
epidemics, such as influenza A subtypes HINI and H7N9 and avian flu (H5N1).

The Group’s business is subject to general economic and social conditions in the PRC. Natural
disasters, epidemics and other acts of God beyond the Group’s control may adversely affect the
economic infrastructure and people in the PRC. Some regions in the PRC, including the cities where
the Group operates, are under the threat of flood, earthquake, sandstorm, snowstorm, fire, drought or
susceptible to epidemics such as SARS or the Ebola virus disease. Past occurrences of epidemics,



depending on their scale of occurrence, have caused different degrees of damage to the national and
local economies in the PRC. A recurrence of SARS or an outbreak of any other epidemics in the PRC,
such as influenza A subtypes HIN1 and H7N9 and avian flu (H5N1), especially in the cities where the
Group has operations, may result in material disruptions to its supply chains, its sales and marketing,
which in turn may adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects.

The possible slowdown of the PRC economy could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business
results of operations and financial condition.

The economy of the PRC experienced rapid growth in the past 30 years. There has been a slowdown
in the growth of the PRC’s GDP since the second half of 2013, and this has raised market concerns
that the historic rapid growth of the economy of the PRC may not be sustainable. According to the
National Statistics Bureau of the PRC, the annual growth rate of the PRC’s GDP in 2015 slowed down
to 6.9 per cent. on a year-on-year basis compared to 7.3 per cent. in 2014, and it further decreased to
6.7 per cent. in 2016 on a year-on-year basis, representing the slowest growth in the past 20 years. A
slight increase to 6.8 per cent. in 2017 on a year-on-year basis was recorded.

Most of the Group’s business operations are conducted in the PRC. Accordingly, the Group’s results
of operations, financial condition and prospects are subject to a significant degree to economic
developments in the PRC. A negative economic climate could impact the ability of the Group’s
customers to make capital expenditures, thereby affecting their ability to purchase the Group’s
products. The recurrence of adverse macroeconomic conditions may have an adverse effect on the
Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

Risks relating to the Bonds and the Guarantee

The Bonds and the Guarantee are unsecured obligations.

The Bonds and the Guarantee are unsecured obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantor, respectively.
The repayment of the Bonds and payment under the Guarantee may be adversely affected if:

° the Issuer or the Guarantor enters into bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganisation or other
winding-up proceedings;

° there is a default in payment under the Issuer’s or the Guarantor’s future secured indebtedness
or other unsecured indebtedness; or

° there is an acceleration of any of the Issuer’s or the Guarantor’s indebtedness.

If any of these events were to occur, the Issuer’s or the Guarantor’ assets may not be sufficient to pay
amounts due on the Bonds or under the Guarantee.

The Issuer is a company with no material assets and will rely on remittances from the Guarantor
and its subsidiaries to make payments under the Bonds.

The Issuer will not conduct business or any other activities other than the offering, sale or issuance
of indebtedness and the lending of the proceeds thereof to the Guarantor and/or any company
controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Guarantor and any other activities in connection therewith or
related thereto. The Issuer does not and will not have any material assets other than amounts due to
it from the Guarantor or its subsidiaries, and its ability to make payments under the Bonds will depend
on its receipt of timely remittances from the Guarantor or its subsidiaries.



The insolvency laws of the British Virgin Islands, Bermuda and Hong Kong and other local
insolvency laws may differ from those of another jurisdiction with which the holders of the Bonds
are familiar.

As the Issuer is incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin Islands, the Guarantor is incorporated
under the laws of Bermuda, and BEHL is incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong, any insolvency
proceedings relating to the Issuer, the Guarantor or BEHL would likely involve insolvency laws of the
British Virgin Islands, Bermuda or Hong Kong, as applicable, the procedural and substantive
provisions of which may differ from comparable provisions of the local insolvency laws of
jurisdictions with which the holders of the Bonds are familiar.

A trading market for the Bonds may not develop.

The Bonds are a new issue of securities for which there is currently no trading market. Although an
application has been made to list the Bonds on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, there can be no
assurance as to the liquidity of the Bonds or that an active trading market will develop. If such a
market were to develop, the Bonds could trade at prices that may be higher or lower than the initial
issue price depending on many factors, including prevailing interest rates, the Group’s operations and
the market for similar securities. Although application has been made for the listing of the Bonds on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, no assurance can be given as to the liquidity of, or trading marked
for, the Bonds. None of the Joint Lead Managers is obligated to make a market in the Bonds, and if
the Joint Lead Managers do so they may discontinue such market-making activity at any time without
notice. Further, the Bonds may be allocated to a limited number of investors, in which case liquidity
may be limited. In addition, the Bonds and the Guarantee are being offered and sold outside of the
United States in reliance on Regulation S and, as a result, the Bonds may not be offered or sold within
the United States. It is the investors’ obligation to ensure that offers and sales of the Bonds within the
United States and other countries comply with applicable securities laws. Please see “Subscription and
Sale”. None of the Joint Lead Managers, the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Trustee or the Agents can
predict whether an active trading market for the Bonds will develop or be sustained.

Investors in the Bonds may be subject to foreign exchange risks.

The Bonds are denominated and payable in US dollars. An investor who measures investment returns
by reference to a currency other than US dollars would be subject to foreign exchange risks by virtue
of an investment in the Bonds, due to, among others, economic, political and other factors over which
none of the Joint Lead Managers, the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Trustee or the Agents has any control.
Depreciation of the US dollar against such currency could cause a decrease in the effective yield of
the Bonds below their stated coupon rates and could result in a loss when the return on the Bonds is
translated into such currency. In addition, there may be tax consequences for investors as a result of
any foreign currency gains resulting from any investment in the Bonds.

International financial markets and world economic conditions may adversely affect the market
price of the Bonds.

The market price of the Bonds may be adversely affected by declines in the international financial
markets and world economic conditions. The market for Chinese securities is, to varying degrees,
influenced by economic and market conditions in other markets, especially those in Asia. Although
economic conditions are different in each country, investors’ reactions to developments in one country
can affect the securities markets and the securities of issuers in other countries, including China. Since
the sub-prime mortgage crisis in 2008, the international financial markets have experienced
significant volatility. If similar developments occur in the international financial markets in the future,
the market price of the Bonds could be adversely affected.



Changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Bonds.

The Bonds will carry a fixed interest rate. The Bondholders may suffer unforeseen losses due to
fluctuations in interest rates. Generally, a rise in interest rates may cause a fall in the prices of the
Bonds, resulting in a capital loss for the Bondholders. However, the Bondholders may reinvest the
interest payments at higher prevailing interest rates. Conversely, when interest rates fall, the prices of
the Bonds may rise. The Bondholders may enjoy a capital gain but interest payments received may be
reinvested at lower prevailing interest rates.

Decisions that may be made on behalf of all holders of the Bonds may be adverse to the interests
of individual holders of the Bonds.

The Terms and Conditions of the Bonds contain provisions for calling meetings of the holders of the
Bonds to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined
majorities to bind all holders of the Bonds including holders who did not attend and vote at the
relevant meeting and holders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. Furthermore, there is
a risk that the decision of the majority of holders of the Bonds may be adverse to the interests of
individuals holders.

The Issuer may not be able to redeem the Bonds upon the due date for redemption thereof.

The Issuer may be required to redeem all of the Bonds on the Maturity Date, following a Change of
Control or an Event of Default or following service by the Issuer of a notice pursuant to Condition
6(b) or Condition 6(d) of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds. If such an event were to occur, the
Issuer may not have sufficient cash in hand and may not be able to arrange financing to redeem the
Bonds in time, or on acceptable terms, or at all. The ability to redeem the Bonds in such event may
also be limited by the terms of other debt instruments. The Issuer’s failure to repay, repurchase or
redeem tendered Bonds would constitute an event of default under the Bonds, which may also
constitute a default under the terms of the Guarantor’s or its subsidiaries’ other indebtedness.

The liquidity and price of the Bonds following the offering may be volatile.

The price and trading volume of the Bonds may be highly volatile. Factors such as variations in each
of the Group’s revenue, earnings and cash flows and proposals of new investments, strategic alliances
and/or acquisitions, interest rates and fluctuations in prices for comparable companies or any adverse
change in the credit rating, revenues, earnings or results of operations could cause the price of the
Bonds to change. Any such developments may result in large and sudden changes in the volume and
price at which the Bonds will trade. There can be no assurance that these developments will not occur
in the future.

The Issuer may issue additional securities in the future.

As set out in Condition 15 of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds, the Issuer may from time to time
and without the consent of the Bondholders create and issue further securities. There can be no
assurance that any such future issuance will not adversely affect the market price of the Bonds.

The Letter of Comfort is neither legally binding nor a guarantee, and BEHL is not legally obligated
to support the Guarantor and the Issuer in the manner contemplated by the Letter of Comfort.

The Letter of Comfort provided by BEHL to holders of the Bonds is not legally binding. It is not a
guarantee provided by BEHL. Accordingly, there is no assurance that BEHL will provide support to
the Guarantor and the Issuer in the manner contemplated by the Letter of Comfort. In addition, the
holders of the Bonds will not be able to bring any action against BEHL to enforce the Letter of
Comfort. Even if BEHL intends to provide direct financial support to the Guarantor and the Issuer to
meet their respective outstanding debt obligations, such financial support will be subject to
Government approvals which cannot be assured.



If any of the Guarantor or its subsidiaries, including the Issuer, is unable to comply with the
restrictions and covenants in its respective debt agreements, or the Bonds, there could be a default
under the terms of these agreements, or the Bonds, which could cause repayment of the relevant
debt to be accelerated

If the Issuer or the Guarantor is unable to comply with the restrictions and covenants in the Terms and
Conditions of the Bonds, or if any of the Guarantor or its subsidiaries, including the Issuer, is unable
to comply with its current or future debt obligations and other agreements, there could be a default
under the terms of these agreements or the Bonds. In the event of a default under these agreements,
the holders of the debt could terminate their commitments to lend to the Guarantor or its relevant
subsidiary, accelerate repayment of the debt, declare all amounts borrowed due and payable or
terminate the agreements, as the case may be. Furthermore, some of the Group’s debt agreements, and
the Bonds, contain (or may in the future contain) cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions. As a
result, the default by the Guarantor or any of its subsidiaries under one debt agreement may cause the
acceleration of repayment of debt, including the Bonds, or result in a default under its other debt
agreements, including the Bonds. If any of these events occur, there can be no assurance that the assets
and cash flows of the Guarantor and its subsidiaries would be sufficient to repay in full all of their
indebtedness, or that they would be able to find alternative financing. Even if alternative financing
could be obtained, there can be no assurance that it would be on terms that are favourable or
acceptable to the Guarantor or its subsidiaries.

Modifications and waivers may be made in respect of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds and
the Trust Deed by the Trustee or less than all of the holders of the Bonds.

The Terms and Conditions of the Bonds provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of the
holders of the Bonds, agree to any modification (except as mentioned in the Trust Deed) of the Trust
Deed, the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds and/or the Agency Agreement which in the opinion of
the Trustee will not be materially prejudicial to the interests of the holders of the Bonds and to any
modification of the Trust Deed, the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds and/or the Agency Agreement
which in the opinion of the Trustee is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is to correct a manifest
error or to comply with any mandatory provision of applicable law.

In addition, the Trustee may, without the consent of the holders of the Bonds, authorise or waive any
proposed breach or breach of the Trust Deed, the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds or the Agency
Agreement (other than a proposed breach, or a breach relating to the subject of certain reserved
matters) if, in the opinion of the Trustee, the interests of the holders of the Bonds will not be
materially prejudiced thereby.

The Trustee may request the holders of the Bonds to provide an indemnity and/or security and/or
prefunding to its satisfaction.

In certain circumstances (including without limitation the giving of notice to the Issuer and the
Guarantor pursuant to Condition 9 of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds and the taking of any
actions, steps and/or proceedings pursuant to Condition 13 of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds),
the Trustee may (at its sole discretion) request the holders of the Bonds to provide an indemnity and/or
security and/or prefunding to its satisfaction before it takes any actions, steps and/or proceedings on
behalf of the holders of the Bonds. The Trustee shall not be obliged to take any such actions if not
first indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction. Negotiating and agreeing to an
indemnity and/or security and/or prefunding can be a lengthy process and may impact on when such
actions can be taken. The Trustee may not be able to take actions, notwithstanding the provision of
an indemnity or security or prefunding to it, in breach of the terms of the Trust Deed constituting the
Bonds, the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds or the Agency Agreement (as applicable) and in such
circumstances, or where there is uncertainty or dispute as to the applicable laws or regulations, to the
extent permitted by the agreements and the applicable laws and regulations, it will be for the holders
of the Bonds to take such actions directly.
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Gains on the transfer of the Bonds may be subject to income tax under PRC tax laws.

Under the new EIT law and its implementation rules, any gains realised on the transfer of the Bonds
by holders who are deemed under the new EIT law as non-resident enterprises may be subject to PRC
EIT if such gains are regarded as income derived from sources within the PRC (although non-PRC
Bondholders who are Hong Kong tax residents may be exempt from paying income tax on gains
derived from a sale or exchange of the Bonds in Hong Kong pursuant to the Arrangement between the
Mainland of China and the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double
Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with Respect to Taxes on Income (the “Arrangement”)
and the interpretation and implementation rules for the Arrangement). Under the new EIT law, a
“non-resident enterprise” means an enterprise established under the laws of a jurisdiction other than
the PRC and whose actual administrative organisation is not in the PRC, which has established offices
or premises in the PRC, or which has not established any offices or premises in the PRC but has
obtained income derived from sources within the PRC. There remains uncertainty as to whether the
gains realised from the transfer of the Bonds would be treated as income derived from sources within
the PRC and be subject to PRC tax. This will depend on how the PRC tax authorities interpret, apply
or enforce the EIT Law and its implementation rules. In addition, there is uncertainty as to whether
gains realised on the transfer of the Bonds by individual holders who are not PRC citizens or residents
will be subject to PRC individual income tax. If such gains are subject to PRC income tax, the 10 per
cent. EIT rate and 20 per cent. individual income tax rate will apply respectively unless there is an
applicable tax treaty or arrangement that reduces or exempts such income tax. If holders of the Bonds
are required to pay PRC income tax on the transfer of the Bonds, the value of their investment in the
Bonds may be materially and adversely affected. The taxable income will be the balance of the total
income obtained from the transfer of the Bonds minus all costs and expenses that are permitted under
PRC tax laws to be deducted from the income.

The Bonds may not be a suitable investment for all investors.

Each potential investor in any Bonds must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its
own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

° have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant
Bonds, the merits and risks of investing in the relevant Bonds and the information contained or
incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular;

° have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the relevant Bonds and the impact such
investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;

° have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
relevant Bonds;

° understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Bonds and be familiar with the behaviour of any
relevant indices and financial markets; and

° be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the
applicable risks.

A potential investor should not invest in Bonds which are complex financial instruments unless it has
the expertise (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Bonds will
perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Bonds and the impact
this investment will have on the potential investor’s overall investment portfolio.



Additionally, the investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and
regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its
legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (a) Bonds are legal investments for it, (b)
Bonds can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (c) other restrictions apply to its
purchase of any Bonds. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate
regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Bonds under any applicable risk-based capital or
similar rules.

Certain facts and statistics are derived from publications not independently verified by the Group
or the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents.

Facts and statistics in this Offering Circular relating to the global economy and the relevant industry
are derived from publicly available sources. While each of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Guarantor
has taken reasonable care to ensure that the facts and statistics presented are accurately reproduced
from such sources, they have not been independently verified by any of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the
Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee, the Agents or any of their respective affiliates, directors, officers,
employees, representatives, advisers, agents or any person who controls any of them and, therefore,
none of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee, the Agents or any of the
aforementioned persons make any representation as to the accuracy of such facts and statistics. Due
to possibly flawed or ineffective calculation and collection methods and other problems, the facts and
statistics herein may be inaccurate or may not be comparable to facts and statistics produced for other
economies and should not be unduly relied upon. Further, the Issuer cannot assure investors that such
facts and statistics are stated or compiled on the same basis or with the same degree of accuracy as
may be the case elsewhere.

The Bonds will initially be represented by the Global Certificate and holders of a beneficial interest
in the Global Certificate must rely on the procedures of the relevant Clearing System.

Bonds will initially be represented by the Global Certificate. Such Global Certificate will be deposited
with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream (each of Euroclear and Clearstream, a
“Clearing System”). Except in the circumstances described in the Global Certificate, investors will
not be entitled to receive definitive Bonds. See “Summary of Provisions Relating to the Bonds in
Global Form”. The relevant Clearing System will maintain records of their account holders credited
with holding beneficial interests in the Global Certificate. While the Bonds are represented by the
Global Certificate, investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through the Clearing
Systems.

While the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate, the Issuer will discharge its payment
obligations under the Bonds by making payments to the common depositary for Euroclear and
Clearstream for distribution to their account holders. A holder of a beneficial interest in the Global
Certificate must rely on the procedures of the relevant Clearing System to receive payments under the
Bonds. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in
respect of, beneficial interests in the Global Certificate.

Holders of beneficial interests in the Global Certificate will not have a direct right to vote in respect

of the Bonds. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled
by the relevant Clearing System to appoint appropriate proxies.



EXCHANGE RATES

The Hong Kong dollar is freely convertible into other currencies, including the US dollar. Since 17
October 1983, the Hong Kong dollar has been linked to the US dollar at the rate of HK$7.80 to
US$1.00. The Basic Law of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic
of China (the “Basic Law”), which came into effect on 1 July 1997, provides that no foreign exchange
control policies shall be applied in Hong Kong.

The market exchange rate of the Hong Kong dollar against the US dollar continues to be determined
by the forces of supply and demand in the foreign exchange market. However, against the background
of the fixed rate system which applies to the issuance and withdrawal of Hong Kong currency in
circulation, the market exchange rate has not deviated significantly from the level of HK$7.80 to
US1.00. In May 2005, the Hong Kong Monetary Authority broadened the 22-year-old trading band
from the original rate of HK$7.80 per US dollar to a rate range of HK$7.75 to HK$7.85 per US dollar.
The Hong Kong government has indicated its intention to maintain the link within that rate range.
Under the Basic Law, the Hong Kong dollar will continue to circulate and remain freely convertible.
The Hong Kong government has also stated that it has no intention of imposing exchange controls in
Hong Kong and that the Hong Kong dollar will remain freely convertible into other currencies,
including the US dollar. However, no assurance can be given that the Hong Kong government will
maintain the link within the current rate range or at all.

The following table sets forth the exchange rate between Hong Kong dollar and the US dollar set forth
in the H.10 weekly statistical release of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the
United States for the periods indicated:

Period Period end Average® High Low
(RMB per US$1.00)
2010 ... 7.7810 7.7692 7.8040 7.7501
2011 ... 7.7663 7.7793 7.8087 7.7634
2012 ... 7.7507 7.7556 7.7699 7.7493
2013 .. 7.7539 7.7565 7.7654 7.7503
2014 ... 7.7531 7.7554 7.7669 7.7495
2015 ... 7.7507 7.7519 7.7686 7.7495
2016 ... 7.7534 7.7618 7.8270 7.7505
2017
January........... ... ... 7.7579 7.7560 7.7580 7.7540
February................ 7.7627 7.7596 7.7627 7.7575
March. . ................ 7.7714 7.7655 7.7702 7.7611
April . ... ... 7.7779 7.7737 7.7806 7.7687
May ........ .. ... 7.7929 7.7864 7.7933 7.7775
June . ... L. 7.8055 7.7984 7.8055 7.7908
July ... 7.8100 7.8091 7.8128 7.8034
August . ... 7.8267 7.8217 7.8267 7.8121
September. . . ............ 7.8110 7.8127 7.8256 7.7995
October . ............... 7.8015 7.8053 7.8106 7.7996
November. .............. 7.8093 7.8052 7.8118 7.7955
December............... 7.8128 7.8128 7.8228 7.8050
2018
January................. 7.8210 7.8190 7.8230 7.8161
February................ 7.8262 7.8222 7.8267 7.8183
March. . ................ 7.8484 7.8413 7.8486 7.8275
April (through 6 April). . ... 7.8482 7.8487 7.8490 7.8482
Note:

(1)  Exchange rates between Hong Kong dollars and US dollars represent the noon buying rates as set forth in the H.10
statistical release of the Federal Reserve Board.

(2)  Annual averages have been calculated from month-end rates. Monthly averages have been calculated using the average
of the daily rates during the relevant period.



TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS

The following, subject to modification and other than the words in italics, is the text of the terms
and conditions of the Bonds which will appear on the reverse of each of the definitive certificates
evidencing the Bonds:

The issue of US$ per cent. guaranteed bonds due (the “Bonds”, which term
shall include, unless the context requires otherwise, any additional Bonds issued in accordance with
Condition 15 and consolidated and forming a single series therewith) was authorised by a resolution
of the board of directors of Beijing Enterprises Water Capital Management Holdings Limited (the
“Issuer”) passed on 2018. The Bonds are guaranteed by Beijing Enterprises Water Group
Limited (the “Guarantor”). The giving of the Guarantee (as defined in Condition 3(b)) was authorised
by a resolution of the board of directors of the Guarantor on 2018. Beijing Enterprises
Holdings Limited (the “BEHL”), the largest shareholder of the Guarantor, has issued a non-legally
enforceable letter of comfort dated 2018 in connection with the issue of the Bonds. The Bonds
are constituted by a trust deed dated on or about 2018 (the “Issue Date”) between the Issuer,
the Guarantor and The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch (the “Trustee” which expression
shall, where the context so permits, include all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under
the Trust Deed) as trustee for the holders of the Bonds (as amended and/or supplemented from time
to time, the “Trust Deed”). These terms and conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the
detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the form of the Bonds. Copies of the Trust Deed
and of the agency agreement dated on or about 2018 relating to the Bonds between the Issuer,
the Guarantor, the Trustee, The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as principal paying agent
(the “Principal Paying Agent”), The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch as
registrar (the “Registrar”) and as transfer agent (the “Transfer Agent”) and any other agents named
in it (as amended and/or supplemented from time to time, the “Agency Agreement”), are available for
inspection at all reasonable times during usual business hours (being between 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m.)
at the principal office of the Trustee (being at the Issue Date at One Canada Square, London E14 5AL,
United Kingdom) and at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent following prior written
request and proof of holding to the satisfaction of the Trustee or, as the case may be, the Principal
Paying Agent. References herein to “Paying Agents” include the Principal Paying Agent, and
“Agents” means the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar, the Transfer Agent and any other agent or
agents appointed from time to time under the Agency Agreement with respect to the Bonds. The
Bondholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the
provisions of the Trust Deed and those provisions of the Agency Agreement applicable to them.

All capitalised terms that are not defined in these terms and conditions (these “Conditions”) will have
the meanings given to them in the Trust Deed.

1 FORM, SPECIFIED DENOMINATION AND TITLE

The Bonds are issued in the specified denomination of US$200,000 and integral multiples of
US$1,000 in excess thereof.

The Bonds are represented by registered certificates (“Certificates”) and, save as provided in
Condition 2(a), each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Bonds by the same holder.

Title to the Bonds shall pass by registration in the register that the Issuer shall procure to be kept by
the Registrar in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement (the “Register”). Except as
ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of
any Bond shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes whether or
not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it, any writing on
the Certificate representing it or the theft or loss of such Certificate and no person shall be liable for
so treating the holder.



In these Conditions, “Bondholder” (in relation to a Bond) and “holder” mean the person in whose
name a Bond is registered.

Upon issue, the Bonds will be represented by a global certificate (the “Global Certificate”) registered
in the name of a nominee of, and deposited with, a common depository for Euroclear Bank SA/NV and
Clearstream Banking S.A.. These Conditions are modified by certain provisions contained in the
Global Certificate while any of the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate. See “Summary
of Provisions relating to the Bonds in Global Form”.

2

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

TRANSFERS OF BONDS

Transfer: A holding of Bonds may, subject to Condition 2(d), be transferred in whole or in part
upon the surrender (at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the
Certificate(s) representing such Bonds to be transferred, together with the form of transfer
endorsed on such Certificate(s) (or another form of transfer substantially in the same form and
containing the same representations and certifications (if any), unless otherwise agreed by the
Issuer), duly completed and executed and any other evidence as the Registrar or Transfer Agent
may require. In the case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Bonds represented by one
Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part transferred
and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall be
issued to the transferor. In the case of a transfer of Bonds to a person who is already a holder
of Bonds, a new Certificate representing the enlarged holding shall only be issued against
surrender of the Certificate representing the existing holding. All transfers of Bonds and entries
on the Register will be made in accordance with the detailed regulations concerning transfers of
Bonds scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer, with
the prior written approval of the Registrar and the Trustee, or by the Registrar, with the prior
written approval of the Trustee. A copy of the current regulations will be made available by the
Registrar to any Bondholder following written request and satisfactory proof of holding.

Transfers of interests in the Bonds evidenced by the Global Certificate will be effected in
accordance with the rules of the relevant clearing systems.

Delivery of New Certificates: Each new Certificate to be issued pursuant to Condition 2(a) or
Condition 2(b) shall be available for delivery within seven business days of receipt of a duly
completed form of transfer. Delivery of the new Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified
office of any Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case may be) to whom delivery or
surrender of such form of transfer and Certificate shall have been made or, at the option of the
holder making such delivery or surrender as aforesaid and as specified in the relevant form of
transfer or otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the holder entitled to
the new Certificate to such address as may be so specified, unless such holder requests otherwise
and pays in advance to the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be) the costs
of such other method of delivery and/or such insurance as it may specify. In this Condition 2(b),
“business day” means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday or public holiday, on which banks
are open for business in the place of the specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the
Registrar (as the case may be).

Transfer or Exercise Free of Charge: Certificates, on transfer, exercise of an option or
redemption, shall be issued and registered without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the
Registrar or any Transfer Agent, but upon payment of any tax, duty or other governmental
charges that may be imposed in relation to it (or the giving of such indemnity and/or security
and/or prefunding as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent may require).

Closed Periods: No Bondholder may require the transfer of a Bond to be registered (i) during
the period of 15 days ending on (and including) the due date for redemption of that Bond, (ii)
during the period of 15 days prior to (and including any date on which Bonds may be called for
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redemption by the Issuer at its option pursuant to Condition 6(b) or Condition 6(d), (iii) after a
Change of Control Put Exercise Notice has been deposited in respect of such Bonds pursuant to
Condition 6(c), or (iv) during the period of seven days ending on (and including) any Record
Date (as defined in Condition 7(a)(ii)).

3 STATUS AND GUARANTEE

(a) Status: The Bonds constitute direct, unsubordinated, unconditional and (subject to Condition
4(a)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu and without any
preference among themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds shall, save
for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable legislation and subject to Condition 4(a),
at all times rank at least equally with all the Issuer’s other present and future unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations.

(b) Guarantee: The Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due payment of
all sums expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the Bonds and the Trust Deed. The
Guarantor’s obligations in respect of the Bonds and the Trust Deed (the “Guarantee”) are
contained in the Trust Deed (and any supplement thereto). The obligations of the Guarantor under
the Guarantee shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable legislation and
subject to Condition 4(a), at all times rank at least equally with all its other present and future
unsecured and unsubordinated obligations.

4 COVENANTS
(a) Negative Pledge:

So long as any Bond remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed), neither the Issuer nor the
Guarantor shall, and each of the Issuer and the Guarantor shall procure that none of their respective
Subsidiaries (as defined in Condition 4(d) below) will, create or have outstanding any mortgage,
charge, lien, pledge or other security interest upon the whole or any part of its present or future
undertaking, assets or revenues (including any uncalled capital) to secure any Relevant Indebtedness
or to secure any guarantee or indemnity in respect of any Relevant Indebtedness, without at the same
time or prior thereto according to the Bonds the same security as is created or subsisting to secure any
such Relevant Indebtedness, guarantee or indemnity or such other security as either (i) the Trustee
shall in its absolute discretion deem not materially less beneficial to the interest of the Bondholders
or (ii) shall be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of
Bondholders.

(b) Notification to NDRC

The Issuer undertakes that it will within 10 Registration Business Days after the Issue Date report or
cause to be reported to the NDRC the requisite information and documents in accordance with the
Circular on Promoting the Reform of the Administrative System on the Issuance by Enterprises of
Foreign Debt Filings and Registrations ([ 7% %% Ji& 2t 5= 23 B 41 HE 4 26 5517 AME M 58 6 wo il 4 B ol s
(38 (BE P ANE [ 2015 12044 58) ) issued by the NDRC and effective as of 14 September 2015 and
any implementation rules as issued by the NDRC from time to time (the “NDRC Post-issue
Reporting”).

(c) Notification of the NDRC Post-issue Reporting

The Issuer shall within 10 Business Days after the submission of the NDRC Post-issue Reporting,
provide the Trustee with (i) a certificate in English substantially in the form set out in the Trust Deed
signed by an Authorised Signatory (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer confirming the
completion of the NDRC Post-issue Reporting, and (ii) copies of the relevant documents evidencing
the NDRC Post-issue Reporting (if any), each certified in English by an Authorised Signatory of the
Issuer as a true and complete copy of the original (the items specified in (i) and (ii) together, the



“Registration Documents”). In addition, the Issuer shall, within five Registration Business Days after
the documents comprising the Registration Documents are delivered to the Trustee, give notice to the
Bondholders (in accordance with Condition 16) confirming the completion of the NDRC Post-issue
Reporting.

The Trustee shall have no obligation to monitor or ensure the NDRC Post-issue Reporting is made as
required by Condition 4(b) or to assist with the NDRC Post-issue Reporting or to verify the accuracy,
validity and/or genuineness of any Registration Documents or to give notice to the Bondholders
confirming the completion of the NDRC Post-issue Reporting, and shall not be liable to Bondholders
or any other person for not doing so.

(d) Definitions: In these Conditions:

“NDRC” means the National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC or its local
counterparts;

“person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture,
trust, unincorporated organisation or government or any agency or political subdivision thereof;

“PRC” means the People’s Republic of China, which shall for the purpose of these Conditions only,
exclude the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China, the Macau
Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China and Taiwan;

“Registration Business Day” means a day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday, on which
commercial banks are generally open for business in Beijing;

“Relevant Indebtedness” means any indebtedness which is in the form of, or represented or
evidenced by, bonds, notes, debentures, loan stock or other securities which for the time being are, or
are intended to be or capable of being, quoted, listed or dealt in or traded on any stock exchange or
over-the-counter or other securities market, provided that the Relevant Indebtedness shall not include
any indebtedness issued in the PRC; and

a “Subsidiary” means (a) any company or other business entity of which the Guarantor owns or
controls (either directly or through one or more other Subsidiaries) more than 50 per cent. of the
issued share capital or other ownership interest having ordinary voting power to elect directors,
managers or trustees of such company or other business entity, or (b) any entity whose financial
statements at any time are required by Hong Kong law or in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles applicable to Hong Kong to be fully consolidated with those of the Guarantor.

5 INTEREST

The Bonds bear interest on their outstanding principal amount from and including 2018 at the
rate of per cent. per annum, payable semi-annually in arrear in equal instalments of USS$

per Calculation Amount (as defined below) on and in each year (each an
“Interest Payment Date”).

Each Bond will cease to bear interest from the due date for redemption unless, upon surrender of the
Certificate representing such Bond, payment of principal or premium (if any) is improperly withheld
or refused. In such event it shall continue to bear interest at such rate (both before and after judgment)
until whichever is the earlier of (a) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Bond up to that
day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Bondholder, and (b) the day falling seven days after
the Trustee or the Principal Paying Agent has notified Bondholders of receipt of all sums due in
respect of all the Bonds up to that seventh day (except to the extent that there is failure in the
subsequent payment to the relevant holders under these Conditions).



If interest is required to be calculated for a period of less than a complete Interest Period (as defined
below), the relevant day-count fraction will be determined on the basis of a 360-day year consisting
of 12 months of 30 days each and, in the case of an incomplete month, the number of days elapsed.

In these Conditions, the period beginning on and including 2018 and ending on but excluding
the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on and including an Interest
Payment Date and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date is called an
“Interest Period”.

Interest in respect of any Bond shall be calculated per US$1,000 in principal amount of the Bonds (the
“Calculation Amount”). The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for any period shall
(save as provided above in relation to equal instalments) be equal to the product of the rate of interest
specified above, the Calculation Amount and the day-count fraction for the relevant period, rounding
the resulting figure to the nearest cent (half a cent being rounded upwards).

6 REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE

(a) Final Redemption: Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be
redeemed at their principal amount on (the “Maturity Date”). The Bonds may not be
redeemed at the option of the Issuer other than in accordance with this Condition 6.

(b) Redemption for Tax Reasons: The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole,
but not in part, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the
Bondholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), at their principal amount, (together with
interest accrued to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption), if the Issuer (or, if the
Guarantee was called, the Guarantor) satisfies the Trustee immediately prior to the giving of such
notice that (i) it has or will become obliged to pay Additional Tax Amounts as provided or
referred to in Condition 8 as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations
of the British Virgin Islands, Bermuda or the PRC or, in any such case, any political subdivision
or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the application or
official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes
effective on or after 2018, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer (or
the Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable measures available to it, provided that no
such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which
the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) would be obliged to pay such Additional Tax
Amounts were a payment in respect of the Bonds then due. Prior to the publication of any notice
of redemption pursuant to this Condition 6(b), the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be)
shall deliver to the Trustee (A) a certificate signed by an Authorised Signatory (as defined in the
Trust Deed) of the Issuer (or of the Guarantor, as the case may be) stating that the Issuer is
entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the
conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred, and (B) an opinion
of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer (or the
Guarantor, as the case may be) has or will become obliged to pay such Additional Tax Amounts
as a result of such change or amendment. The Trustee shall be entitled to accept such certificate
and opinion as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out in (i)
and (ii) above of this Condition 6(b) without further enquiry and without liability to any
Bondholder, in which event the same shall be conclusive and binding on the Bondholders.

(¢) Redemption for Change of Control: At any time following the occurrence of a Change of
Control, the holder of each Bond will have the right, at such holder’s option, to require the Issuer
to redeem all, but not some only, of such holder’s Bonds on the Change of Control Put Date at
101 per cent. of their principal amount, together with accrued but unpaid interest to (but
excluding) the Change of Control Put Date. To exercise such right, the holder of the relevant
Bond must deposit at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or any other Paying
Agent a duly completed and signed notice of redemption, in the form for the time being current,
obtainable from the specified office of any Paying Agent (a “Change of Control Put Exercise



Notice”), together with the Certificate evidencing the Bonds to be redeemed, by not later than
30 days following a Change of Control, or, if later, 30 days following the date upon which notice
thereof is given to Bondholders by the Issuer or the Guarantor in accordance with Condition 16.
The “Change of Control Put Date” shall be the fourteenth day after the expiry of such period
of 30 days as referred to above.

A Change of Control Put Exercise Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable and the Issuer
shall redeem the Bonds the subject of Change of Control Put Exercise Notices delivered as
aforesaid on the Change of Control Put Date.

The Issuer or the Guarantor shall give notice to the Bondholders (in accordance with Condition
16) and to the Principal Paying Agent and the Trustee in writing by not later than 14 days
following the first day on which it becomes aware of the occurrence of a Change of Control,
which notice shall specify the procedure for exercise by holders of their rights to require
redemption of the Bonds pursuant to this Condition 6(c).

For the purposes of these Conditions:
a “Change of Control” occurs when:

(i) any Person or Persons acting together (other than BEHL or BE Group or any of their
respective Subsidiaries) acquires Control of the Guarantor if such Person or Persons does
not or do not have, and would not be deemed to have, Control of the Guarantor on the Issue
Date;

(i) the Guarantor consolidates with or merges into or sells or transfers all or substantially all
of its assets to any other Person (other than BEHL or BE Group or any of their respective
Subsidiaries), unless the consolidation, merger, sale or transfer will not result in the other
Person or Persons acquiring Control over the Guarantor or the successor entity;

(iii) one or more other Persons (other than BEHL or BE Group or any of their respective
Subsidiaries) acquires the legal or beneficial ownership of all or substantially all of the
Guarantor’s issued share capital;

(iv) (a) BEHL does not or ceases to own or hold more than 35 per cent. of the voting rights of
the issued share capital of the Guarantor, whether directly or indirectly, and whether
obtained by ownership of share capital, the possession of voting rights, contract or
otherwise, (b) BEHL does not or ceases to supervise the Guarantor, (c) BEHL is not or
ceases to be, directly or indirectly, the single largest shareholder of the Guarantor, and/or
(d) the nominees of BEHL cease to comprise the majority of the members of the
Guarantor’s board of directors;

(v) the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the People’s
Government of Beijing Municipality does not, directly or indirectly, through BE Group or
other companies under its supervision and control, hold at least 50.1 per cent. of BEHL’s
issued and outstanding capital stock or does not Control BEHL; or

(vi) the Issuer ceases to remain a directly or indirectly wholly-owned Subsidiary of the
Guarantor;

“BE Group” means Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited, a company incorporated under
the laws of the PRC;

“Control” means the ownership or control of more than 50 per cent. of the voting rights of the
issued share capital of the Guarantor or BEHL (as the case may be) or the right to appoint and/or



(d)

remove all or the majority of the members of the board of directors of the Guarantor or BEHL
(as the case may be) or other governing body, whether obtained directly or indirectly, and
whether obtained by ownership of share capital, the possession of voting rights, contract or
otherwise; and

a “Person”, as used in this Condition 6(c), includes any individual, company, corporation, firm,
partnership, joint venture, undertaking, association, organisation, trust, state or agency of state
(in each case whether or not being a separate legal entity) but does not include the Guarantor’s
wholly owned direct or indirect Subsidiaries.

Redemption at the Option of the Issuer: On giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’
notice (an “Optional Redemption Notice”) to the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent in
writing and to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16, the Issuer may at any time and
from time to time redeem the Bonds, in whole but not in part, at a Make Whole Price as of, and
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but excluding), the redemption date (the “Optional
Redemption Date”) specified in the Optional Redemption Notice.

In this Condition 6(d):

“Adjusted Treasury Rate” means, with respect to any Optional Redemption Date, the rate per
annum equal to the semi-annual equivalent yield to maturity of the Comparable Treasury Issue,
assuming a price for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its principal
amount) equal to the Comparable Treasury Price for such redemption date;

“Comparable Treasury Issue” means the U.S. Treasury security having a maturity comparable
to that would be utilised, at the time of selection and in accordance with customary
financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt securities of comparable maturity to

“Comparable Treasury Price” means, with respect to any Optional Redemption Date:

(i) the average of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in
each case as a percentage of its principal amount) on the third business day preceding such
Optional Redemption Date, as set forth in the daily statistical release (of any successor
release) published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York and designated “Composite
3:30 p.m. Quotations for U.S. Government Securities”; or

(i1) if such release (or any successor release) is not published or does not contain such prices
on such business day, (a) the average of the Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations for such
Optional Redemption Date, after excluding the highest and lowest of such Reference
Treasury Dealer Quotations, or (b) if fewer than three such Reference Treasury Dealer
Quotations are available, the average of all such quotations;

“Make Whole Price” means, with respect to a Bond at any redemption date, the amount
calculated by the Quotation Agent and notified to the Issuer that is the greater of (i) the present
value of the principal amount of the Bonds, assuming a scheduled repayment thereof on the
Maturity Date plus all required remaining scheduled interest payments due on such Bond through
to and including the Maturity Date (but excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the Optional
Redemption Date), computed using a discount rate equal to the Adjusted Treasury Rate plus 50
basis points, and (ii) the principal amount of such Bonds;

“Quotation Agent” means the Reference Treasury Dealer selected by and at the cost of the
Issuer;

“Reference Treasury Dealer” means each of any three investment banks of recognised standing
that is a primary U.S. Government securities dealer in New York City, selected by the Issuer in
good faith; and
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(e)

()

(2)

(a)

“Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations” means, with respect to each Reference Treasury
Dealer and any Optional Redemption Date, the average as determined by the Quotation Agent,
of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a
percentage of its principal amount) quoted in writing to such Quotation Agent by such Reference
Treasury Dealer at 5:00 p.m. (New York time) on the third business day preceding such Optional
Redemption Date.

Notice of Redemption: All Bonds in respect of which any notice of redemption is given under
this Condition 6 shall be redeemed on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this
Condition 6. If there is more than one notice of redemption given in respect of any Bond (which
shall include any notice given by the Issuer pursuant to Condition 6(b) or Condition 6(d) and any
Change of Control Put Exercise Notice given by a Bondholder pursuant to Condition 6(c)), the
notice given first in time shall prevail and in the event of two notices being given on the same
date, the first to be given shall prevail.

Purchase: The Guarantor, the Issuer and their respective Subsidiaries may at any time purchase
Bonds in the open market or otherwise at any price. The Bonds so purchased, while held by or
on behalf of the Guarantor, the Issuer or any such Subsidiary, shall not entitle the holder to vote
at any meetings of the Bondholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes
of, among other things, calculating quorums at meetings of the Bondholders or for the purposes
of Conditions 9, 12(a) and 13.

Cancellation: All Certificates representing Bonds purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer, the
Guarantor or their respective Subsidiaries shall be surrendered for cancellation to the Registrar
and, upon surrender thereof, all such Bonds shall be cancelled forthwith. Any Certificates so
surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer and
the Guarantor in respect of any such Bonds shall be discharged.

PAYMENTS

Method of Payment:

(i) Payments of principal and premium (if any) shall be made (subject to surrender of the
relevant Certificates at the specified office of any Transfer Agent or of the Registrar if no
further payment falls to be made in respect of the Bonds represented by such Certificates)
in the manner provided in Condition 7(a) (ii) below.

(ii) Interest on each Bond shall be paid to the person shown on the Register at the close of
business on the fifth business day before the due date for payment thereof (the “Record
Date”). Payments of interest on each Bond shall be made in US dollars by transfer to the
registered account of the holder of such Bond. For the purposes of this Condition 7, a
Bondholder’s “registered account” means the US dollar account maintained by or on
behalf of it, details of which appear on the Register at the close of business on the fifth
Payment Business Day before the due date for payment. In this Condition 7(a), “business
day” means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which the Registrar
is open for business in the place of its specified office.

(iii) If the amount of principal being paid upon surrender of the relevant Certificate is less than
the outstanding principal amount of such Certificate, the Registrar will annotate the
Register with the amount of principal so paid and will (if so requested in writing by the
Issuer or a Bondholder) issue a new Certificate with a principal amount equal to the
remaining unpaid outstanding principal amount. If the amount of premium (if any) or
interest being paid is less than the amount then due, the Registrar will annotate the Register
with the amount of premium (if any) or interest so paid.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

Notwithstanding the forgoing, so long as the Global Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear
Bank SA/NV, Clearstream Banking S.A. or an Alternative Clearing System (as defined in the form
of the Global Certificate), each payment in respect of the Global Certificate will be made to the
person shown as the holder in the Register at the close of business of the relevant clearing system
on the Clearing System Business Day before the due date for such payments, where “Clearing
System Business Day” means a weekday (Monday to Friday, inclusive) except 1 January and 25
December.

Payments subject to Fiscal Laws: All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal
or other laws, regulations and directives in the place of payment. No commission or expenses
shall be charged to the Bondholders in respect of such payments.

Payment Initiation: Where payment is to be made by transfer to an account in US dollars,
payment instructions (for value on the due date or, if that is not a Payment Business Day, for
value the first following day which is a Payment Business Day) will be initiated or, in the case
of payments of principal and premium (if any) where the relevant Certificate has not been
surrendered at the specified office of any Transfer Agent or of the Registrar, on a day on which
the Principal Paying Agent is open for business and on which the relevant Certificate is
surrendered.

Appointment of Agents: The Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar and the Transfer Agent
initially appointed by the Issuer and the Guarantor and their respective specified offices are
listed below. The Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar and the Transfer Agent act solely as
agents of the Issuer and the Guarantor and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency
or trust for or with any Bondholder. The Issuer and the Guarantor reserve the right at any time
with the prior written approval of the Trustee to vary or terminate the appointment of the
Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar, any Transfer Agent or any of the other Agents and to
appoint additional or other Agents, provided that the Issuer and the Guarantor shall at all times
maintain (i) a Principal Paying Agent, (ii) a Registrar, (iii) a Transfer Agent and (iv) such other
agents as may be required by any other stock exchange on which the Bonds may be listed.

Notice of any such termination or appointment or any change of any specified office of an Agent
shall promptly be given by the Issuer to the Bondholders.

Delay in Payment: Bondholders will not be entitled to any interest or other payment for any
delay after the due date in receiving the amount due on a Bond if the due date is not a Payment
Business Day, if the Bondholder is late in surrendering or cannot surrender its Certificate (if
required to do so).

Non-Payment Business Days: If any date for payment in respect of any Bond is not a Payment
Business Day, the holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Payment
Business Day nor to any interest or other sum in respect of such postponed payment. In this
Condition 7, “Payment Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday or public
holiday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in New York,
London and the place in which the specified office of the Registrar is located and where payment
is to be made by transfer to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which
foreign exchange transactions may be carried on in the relevant currency in the principal
financial centre of the country of such currency.

TAXATION

All payments of principal, premium (if any) and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor
in respect of the Bonds or under the Guarantee shall be made free and clear of, and without
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withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever
nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within the British Virgin Islands,
Bermuda or the PRC or any political subdivision or authority therein or thereof having power to tax,
unless such withholding or deduction is required by law.

Where such withholding or deduction is made by the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be) by
or within the PRC at up to and including the aggregate rate applicable on 2018 (the
“Applicable Rate”), the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor will increase the amounts paid
by it to the extent required, so that the net amount received by the Bondholders equals the amounts
which would otherwise have been receivable by them had no such withholding or deduction been
required.

If the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be) is required to make a deduction or withholding (i)
by or within Bermuda or (ii) by or within the British Virgin Islands or (iii) by or within the PRC in
excess of the Applicable Rate, the Issuer, or as the case may be, the Guarantor shall pay such
additional amounts (“Additional Tax Amounts”) as will result in receipt by the Bondholders of such
amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required,
except that no Additional Tax Amounts shall be payable in respect of any Bond:

(a) Other connection: to a holder (or to a third party on behalf of a holder) who is liable to such
taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Bond by reason of his
having some connection with the British Virgin Islands, Bermuda or the PRC other than the mere
holding of the Bond; or

(b) Surrender more than 30 days after the Relevant Date: in respect of which the Certificate
representing it is presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the
extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to such Additional Tax Amounts on
surrendering the Certificate representing such Bond for payment on the last day of such period
of 30 days.

“Relevant Date” in respect of any Bond means the date on which payment in respect of it first
becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on
which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date seven days after that
on which notice is duly given to the Bondholders that, upon further surrender of the Certificate
representing such Bond being made in accordance with these Conditions, such payment will be made,
provided that payment is in fact made upon such surrender.

9 EVENTS OF DEFAULT

If any of the following events (each an “Event of Default”) occurs, the Trustee at its discretion may,
and if so requested by holders of at least 25 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds
then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall, (provided in any such case that
the Trustee shall first have been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction), give
written notice to the Issuer and the Guarantor declaring that the Bonds are, and they shall immediately
become, due and payable at their principal amount together (if applicable) with accrued interest:

(a) Non-Payment: the Issuer, or as the case may be, the Guarantor fails to pay the principal of or
any interest on any of the Bonds when due and, in the case of interest, the default continues for
a period of 14 days; or

(b) Breach of Other Obligations: the Issuer or the Guarantor does not perform or comply with any
one or more of its other obligations in the Bonds or under the Trust Deed which default is in the
opinion of the Trustee incapable of remedy or, if in the opinion of the Trustee capable of remedy,
is not remedied within 30 days after notice of such default shall have been given to the Issuer
and the Guarantor by the Trustee; or
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(c)

(d)

(e)

()

(g)

(h)

(1)

@

(k)

Cross-Default: (i) any other present or future indebtedness of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any
of their respective Subsidiaries for or in respect of moneys borrowed or raised becomes (or
becomes entitled to be declared) due and payable prior to its stated maturity by reason of any
actual default or potential default, event of default or the like (howsoever described), or (ii) any
such indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case may be, within any originally applicable
grace period, or (iii) the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries fails to pay
when due any amount payable by it under any present or future guarantee for, or indemnity in
respect of, any moneys borrowed or raised provided that the aggregate amount of the relevant
indebtedness, guarantees and indemnities in respect of which one or more of the events
mentioned above in this Condition 9(c) have occurred equals or exceeds US$40,000,000 or its
equivalent (on the basis of the middle spot rate for the relevant currency against the US dollar
as quoted by any leading bank on the day on which this Condition 9(c) operates); or

Enforcement Proceedings: one of more final judgments or orders made in respect of all or a
material part of the property, assets or revenues of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their
respective Subsidiaries; or

Security Enforced: any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance, present or future,
created or assumed by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries over all
or a material part of the property, assets or revenue of the Issuer, the Guarantor or the relevant
Subsidiary, as the case may be, becomes enforceable and any step is taken to enforce it (including
the taking of possession or the appointment of a receiver, manager or other similar person) and
is not discharged or stayed within 60 days; or

Insolvency: the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries is (or is deemed by
law or a court of competent jurisdiction to be) insolvent or bankrupt or unable to pay its debts,
stops, suspends or threatens to stop or suspend payment of all or a material part of its debts,
proposes or makes a general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit
of the relevant creditors in respect of or affecting all or any part of the debts of the Issuer, the
Guarantor, or any of their respective Subsidiaries, as the case may be; or

Winding-up: an order is made by a court of competent jurisdiction or an effective resolution
passed for the winding-up or dissolution of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their respective
Subsidiaries, or the Guarantor, the Issuer or any of their respective Subsidiaries ceases or
threatens to cease to carry on all or substantially all of its business or operations, except for the
purpose of and followed by a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger or
consolidation (i) on terms approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Bondholders, or (ii)
in the case of a Subsidiary, whereby the undertaking and assets of the Subsidiary are transferred
to or otherwise vested in the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries; or

Nationalisation: any step is taken by any person with a view to the seizure, compulsory
acquisition, expropriation or nationalisation of all or a material part of the assets of the Issuer,
the Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries; or

Authorisation and Consents: any regulation, decree, consent, approval, license or other
authority necessary to enable the Issuer and the Guarantor to perform their respective obligations
under the Bonds and/or the Trust Deed or for the validity or enforceability thereof expires or is
withheld, revoked or terminated or otherwise ceases to remain in full force and effect or is
modified; or

Guarantee: the Guarantee is not (or is claimed by the Guarantor not to be) in full force and
effect; or

Analogous Events: any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction has an

analogous effect to any of the events referred to in any of Condition 9(d) to Condition 9(g) (all
inclusive).

43



Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has undertaken in the Trust Deed that it will send to the Trustee,
within the applicable time periods set out in the Trust Deed, a certificate signed by an Authorised
Signatory (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor to the effect
that, as at a date not more than five days prior to the date of the certificate, no Event of Default or
Potential Event of Default (as defined in the Trust Deed) has occurred.

10 PRESCRIPTION

Claims against the Issuer and the Guarantor for payment in respect of the Bonds shall be prescribed
and become void unless made within 10 years (in the case of principal or premium) or five years (in
the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect of them.

11 REPLACEMENT OF CERTIFICATES

If any Certificate is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to
applicable laws, regulations or other relevant regulatory authority regulations, at the specified office
of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent as may from time to time be designated by the Issuer or the
Guarantor for that purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Bondholders, in each case on
payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as
to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer or the Guarantor may require. Mutilated
or defaced Certificates must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

12 MEETINGS OF BONDHOLDERS, MODIFICATION AND WAIVER

(a) Meetings of Bondholders: The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of
Bondholders to consider matters affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by
Extraordinary Resolution of a modification of any of these Conditions or any provisions of the
Trust Deed. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Trustee and
shall be convened by the Trustee if requested in writing to do so by Bondholders holding not less
than 10 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding and
subject to the Trustee being indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction
against all costs and expenses. The quorum for any meeting convened to consider an
Extraordinary Resolution will be two or more persons holding or representing more than 50 per
cent. in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding, or at any
adjourned meeting two or more persons being or representing Bondholders whatever the
principal amount of the Bonds held or represented, unless the business of such meeting includes
consideration of proposals, inter alia, (1) to modify the maturity of the Bonds or the dates on
which interest is payable in respect of the Bonds, (ii) to reduce or cancel the principal amount
of, any premium payable in respect of, or interest on, the Bonds, (iii) to change the currency of
payment of the Bonds, (iv) to modify the provisions concerning the quorum required at any
meeting of Bondholders or the majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution, or (v) to
cancel or amend the Guarantee, in which case the necessary quorum will be two or more persons
holding or representing not less than 66.66 per cent., or at any adjourned meeting not less than
25 per cent., in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding. Any
Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be binding on Bondholders (whether or not they were
present at the meeting at which such resolution was passed).

The Trust Deed provides that a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of not
less than 90 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding
shall for all purposes be as valid and effective as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting
of Bondholders duly convened and held. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one
document or several documents in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more
Bondholders.

(b) Modification of Agreements and Deeds: The Trustee may (but shall not be obliged to) agree,
without the consent of the Bondholders, to (i) any modification of any of these Conditions or any
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of the provisions of the Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement that is in its opinion of a formal,
minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or is to comply with any
mandatory provision of applicable law, and (ii) any other modification (except as mentioned in
the Trust Deed), and any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach, of any of
these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed that is in the opinion of the Trustee
not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders. Any such modification,
authorisation or waiver shall be binding on the Bondholders and, unless the Trustee otherwise
agrees, such modification, authorisation or waiver shall be notified by the Issuer to the
Bondholders as soon as practicable thereafter.

(c) Entitlement of the Trustee: In connection with the exercise of its functions, rights, powers and
discretions (including but not limited to those referred to in this Condition 12) the Trustee shall
have regard to the interests of the Bondholders as a class and shall not have regard to the
consequences of such exercise for individual Bondholders, and the Trustee shall not be entitled
to require on behalf of any Bondholders, nor shall any Bondholder be entitled to claim, from the
Issuer, the Guarantor or the Trustee (as the case may be) any indemnification or payment in
respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Bondholders.

13 ENFORCEMENT

At any time after the Bonds become due and payable, the Trustee may, at its discretion and without
further notice, take such steps and/or actions and/or institute such proceedings against the Issuer
and/or the Guarantor (as the case may be) as it may think fit to enforce the terms of the Trust Deed
and the Bonds, but it need not take any such steps and/or actions and/or institute any such proceedings
unless (a) it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution or so requested in writing by
Bondholders holding at least 25 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding,
and (b) it shall first have been indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. No
Bondholder may proceed directly against the Issuer and/or the Guarantor unless the Trustee, having
become bound so to proceed, fails to do so within a reasonable time and such failure is continuing.

14 INDEMNIFICATION OF THE TRUSTEE

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from
responsibility, including provisions relieving it from taking proceedings to enforce payment unless
first indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. The Trustee is entitled to enter
into business transactions with the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any entity related (directly or
indirectly) to the Issuer or the Guarantor without accounting for any profit.

The Trustee shall not be under any obligation to ascertain whether any Event of Default or Potential
Event of Default has occurred or to monitor compliance with the provisions of the Trust Deed, the
Agency Agreement or these Conditions and shall not be liable to any person for any loss arising from
any breach or any such event. Furthermore, none of the Trustee or any of the Agents shall be
responsible for the performance by the Issuer, the Guarantor and any other person appointed by the
Issuer and/or the Guarantor in relation to the Bonds of the duties and obligations on their part
expressed in respect of the same and, unless it has express written notice from the Issuer or the
Guarantor to the contrary, the Trustee and each Agent shall be entitled to assume that the same are
being duly performed.

None of the Trustee or any Agent shall be liable to any Bondholder or any other person for any action
taken by the Trustee or any Agent in accordance with the instructions of the Bondholders. The Trustee
shall be entitled to rely on any direction, request or resolution of Bondholders given by holders of the
requisite principal amount of Bonds outstanding or passed at a meeting of Bondholders convened and
held in accordance with the Trust Deed. Whenever the Trustee is required or entitled by the terms of
the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement or these Conditions to exercise any discretion or power, take
any action, make any decision or give any direction, the Trustee is entitled, prior to its exercising any
such discretion or power, taking any such action, making any such decision, or giving any such
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direction, to seek directions from the Bondholders by way of an Extraordinary Resolution, and the
Trustee is not responsible for any loss or liability incurred by any person as a result of any delay in
it exercising such discretion or power, taking such action, making such decision, or giving such
direction where the Trustee is seeking such directions or in the event that no such directions are
received. The Trustee shall not be under any obligation to monitor compliance with the provisions of
the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement or these Conditions.

The Trustee may rely without liability to Bondholders on any report, confirmation or certificate from
or any advice or opinion of any legal advisers, accountants, financial advisers, financial institution or
any other expert, whether or not obtained by or addressed to it and whether their liability in relation
thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement letter relating thereto entered into by the Trustee
or any other person or in any other manner) by reference to a monetary cap, methodology or otherwise.
The Trustee may accept and shall be entitled to rely on any such report, confirmation, certificate,
advice or opinion, in which event such report, confirmation, certificate, advice or opinion shall be
binding on the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Bondholders.

15 FURTHER ISSUES

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Bondholders create and issue further
securities either having the same terms and conditions as the Bonds in all respects (or in all respects
except for the issue date, the first payment of interest on them and the timing for complying with the
NDRC Post-issue Reporting) and so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single
series with the Bonds or upon such terms as the Issuer may determine at the time of their issue.
References in these Conditions to the Bonds include (unless the context requires otherwise) any such
other securities issued pursuant to this Condition 15 and forming a single series with the Bonds. Any
further securities forming a single series with the Bonds constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed
supplemental to it shall be constituted by a deed supplemental to the Trust Deed.

16 NOTICES

Notices to the holders of Bonds shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses in the Register
and deemed to have been given on the fourth weekday (being a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday
or public holiday) after the date of mailing. Notices to the holders of Bonds shall also be published
at the Issuer’s expense in a leading English language daily newspaper having general circulation in
Asia (which is expected to be The Wall Street Journal Asia). The Issuer shall also ensure that notices
are duly published in a manner that complies with the rules and regulations of any stock exchange or
other relevant authority on which the Bonds are for the time being listed. Any such notice shall be
deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once, on the first
date on which publication is made.

17 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

(a) Governing Law: The Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Guarantee and the Bonds are
governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of Hong Kong.

(b) Jurisdiction: The courts of Hong Kong are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes
that may arise out of or in connection with the Bonds, the Guarantee, the Trust Deed and the
Agency Agreement and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in
connection with any Bonds, the Guarantee, the Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement
(“Proceedings”) may be brought in the courts of Hong Kong. Pursuant to the Trust Deed, each
of the Issuer and the Guarantor has irrevocably submitted to the jurisdiction of the courts of
Hong Kong.

(c) Agent for Service of Process: The Issuer has irrevocably agreed to appoint the Guarantor of

66/F, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong as its agent in Hong Kong to
receive service of process in any Proceedings in Hong Kong based on any of the Bonds. Such
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service shall be deemed completed on delivery to such process agent (whether or not it is
forwarded to and received by the Issuer). If for any reason the Guarantor shall cease to have an
office in Hong Kong, the Issuer and the Guarantor will promptly appoint a substitute process
agent and shall notify the Bondholders and the Trustee of such appointment within 30 days of
such cessation. Nothing herein shall affect the right to serve process in any other manner
permitted by law.

18 CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ORDINANCE (CAP 623)

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Bonds under the Contracts
(Rights of Third Parties) Ordinance (Cap 623) except and to the extent (if any) that the Bonds
expressly provide for such Ordinance to apply to any of their terms.
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SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE BONDS IN GLOBAL FORM

The Global Certificate contains the following provisions which apply to the Bonds in respect of which
they are issued while they are represented by the Global Certificate, some of which modify the effect
of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds. Terms defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds
have the same meaning in this section. Terms defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds have
the meaning in the paragraphs below.

The Bonds will be represented by the Global Certificate which will be registered in the name of a
nominee of, and deposited with, a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream.

Under the Global Certificate, the Issuer, for value received, will promise to pay such principal, interest
and premium (if any) on the Bonds to the holder of the Bonds on such date or dates as the same may
become payable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds.

Owners of interests in the Bonds in respect of which the Global Certificate is issued will be entitled
to have title to the Bonds registered in their names and to receive individual definitive Certificates if
either Euroclear or Clearstream or any other clearing system through which the Bonds are cleared (an
“Alternative Clearing System”) is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than
by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business
or does in fact do so.

Individual definitive Certificates will be issued in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal
amount of the Global Certificate. Such exchange will be effected in accordance with the provisions
of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the regulations concerning the transfer and registration
of the Bonds scheduled thereto and, in particular, shall be effected without charge to any holder of the
Bonds or the Trustee, but against such indemnity and/or security as the Registrar or the relevant Agent
may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which may be levied or imposed
in connection with such exchange.

The Issuer will cause sufficient individual definitive Certificates to be executed and delivered to the
Registrar for completion, authentication and despatch to the relevant holders of the Bonds. A person
with an interest in the Bonds in respect of which the Global Certificate is issued must provide the
Registrar not less than 30 days’ notice at its specified office of such holder’s intention to effect such
exchange and a written order containing instructions and such other information as the Issuer and the
Registrar may require to complete, execute and deliver such individual definitive Certificates.

In addition, the Global Certificate will contain provisions which modify the Terms and Conditions of
the Bonds as they apply to the Bonds evidenced by the Global Certificate. The following is a summary
of certain of those provisions:

Payment

So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate, each payment in respect of the Global
Certificate will be made to, or to the order of, the person shown as the holder of the Bonds in the
Register at the close of business (of the relevant clearing system) on the Clearing System Business
Day immediately prior to the due date for such payments, where “Clearing System Business Day”
means Monday to Friday, inclusive except 25 December and 1 January.

Calculation of Interest

So long as the Bonds are represented by a Global Certificate and such Global Certificate is held on
behalf of a clearing system, the Issuer has promised, inter alia, to pay interest in respect of such Bonds
from the Issue Date in arrear at the rates, on the dates for payment, and in accordance with the method
of calculation provided for in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds, save that the calculation is made
in respect of the total aggregate amount of the Bonds represented by such Global Certificate.
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Notices

So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate and the Global Certificate is held on
behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream or any Alternative Clearing System, notices to holders of the Bonds
shall be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear or Clearstream or such Alternative
Clearing System, for communication by it to accountholders entitled to an interest in the Bonds in
substitution for notification as required by the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds.

Meetings

For the purposes of any meeting of Bondholders, the holder of the Bonds represented by this Global
Certificate shall (unless the Global Certificate represents only one Bond) be treated as two persons for
the purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Bondholders and as being entitled to one
vote in respect of each US$1,000 in principal amount of Bonds for which the Global Certificate is
issued.

Bondholder’s Redemption

The Bondholder’s redemption option in Condition 6(c) (Redemption for Change of Control) of the
Terms and Conditions of the Bonds may be exercised by the holder of the Global Certificate giving
notice to the Principal Paying Agent of the principal amount of Bonds in respect of which the option
is exercised within the time limits specified in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds.

Issuer’s Redemption

The options of the Issuer provided for in Condition 6(b) (Redemption for Tax Reasons) and Condition
6(d) (Redemption at the Option of the Issuer) of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds shall be
exercised by the Issuer giving notice to the Bondholders within the time limits set out in and
containing the information required by the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds.

Transfers

Transfers of interests in the Bonds will be effected through the records of Euroclear and Clearstream
(or any Alternative Clearing System) and their respective participants in accordance with the rules and
procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream (or any Alternative Clearing System) and their respective
direct and indirect participants.

Cancellation

Cancellation of any Bond by the Issuer following its redemption or purchase by the Issuer or its
respective Subsidiaries will be effected by a reduction in the principal amount of the Bonds in the
register of Bondholders.

Trustee’s Powers

In considering the interests of Bondholders while the Global Certificate is registered in the name of
a nominee for a clearing system, the Trustee may, to the extent it considers it appropriate to do so in
the circumstances, but without being obligated to do so, (a) have regard to any information as may
have been made available to it by or on behalf of the relevant clearing system or its operator as to the
identity of its accountholders (either individually or by way of category) with entitlements in respect
of the Bonds and (b) consider such interests on the basis that such accountholders were the holders
of the Bonds in respect of which the Global Certificate is issued.

The Global Certificate shall not become valid for any purpose until authenticated by or on behalf of
the Registrar.
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THE LETTER OF COMFORT

Disclaimer: BEHL has issued the following letter to holders of the Bonds in connection with the issue
of the Bonds. The letter does not, however, represent a guarantee or a legally binding obligation of
BEHL in relation to the Bonds, the Guarantee or the offering of the Bonds. See “Risk Factors — Risks
relating to the Bonds and the Guarantee — The Letter of Comfort is neither legally binding nor a
guarantee, and BEHL is not legally obliged to support the Guarantor and the Issuer in the manner
contemplated by the Letter of Comfort.”

Form of the Letter of Comfort

To: Holders of the US$ per cent. Guaranteed Bonds due (the
“Bondholders”)

Copy to: Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (the “Guarantor”)
From: Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
Dated:

Dear Sirs,

We, Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong, with
the registered office at 66/F., Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, are a diversified
conglomerate with focus on natural gas business, brewery business, water and environmental business
and solid waste treatment business. Being the flagship and sole platform of the Company in the water
service market, the Guarantor has set its strategic object as to become a leading integrated water
system solution provider.

We hereby confirm that we are aware that Beijing Enterprises Water Capital Management Holdings

Limited (the “Issuer”) proposes to issue US$ per cent. Guaranteed Bonds due
(the “Bonds”, which expression shall, if the context so admits, include the global certificate

to be initially delivered in respect of the Bonds and shall include any additional Bonds issued in

accordance with Condition 15 and consolidated and forming a single series therewith), which will be

guaranteed (the “Guarantee”) by the Guarantor pursuant to a trust deed (the “Trust Deed”) dated
2018 between the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Trustee.

The Company intends for Bondholders to be the beneficiaries under this Letter as provided herein.
1 Interpretation
1.1 Definitions: The following expression has the following meanings:

“Subsidiary” of any person means (a) any company or other business entity of which that person
owns or controls (either directly or through one or more other Subsidiaries) more than 50 per
cent. of the issued share capital or other ownership interest having ordinary voting power to elect
directors, managers or trustees of such company or other business entity, or (b) any company or
other business entity which at any time has its accounts consolidated with those of that person
or which, under the law, regulations or generally accepted accounting principles of the
jurisdiction of incorporation of such person from time to time, should have its accounts
consolidated with those of that person;

1.2 The Trust Deed: In this Letter, unless the context requires or the same are otherwise
defined, words and expressions defined in the Trust Deed and not otherwise defined herein
shall have the same meaning in this Letter.
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Undertakings

The Company undertakes, so long as any Bonds are outstanding, that it shall:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

cause each of the Issuer and the Guarantor to remain solvent and a going concern at all
times under the applicable accounting standards;

cause the Guarantor to procure that the Issuer will not carry on any business activity
whatsoever other than in connection with the Bonds (such activities in connection with the
Bonds shall, for the avoidance of doubt, include (a) the offering, sale or issuance of the
Bonds; (b) the offering, sale or issuance of Relevant Indebtedness as permitted under the
terms and conditions of the Bonds; and (c) the activities directly related to the
establishment and/or maintenance of the Issuer’s corporate existence);

unless required to dispose of any or all such shares pursuant to a court decree or order of
any governmental or regulatory authority, which, in the opinion of a legal adviser to the
Company, may not be successfully challenged, that (a) the Company and/or its Subsidiaries
shall directly or indirectly together own and hold more than 35 per cent. (the “Restricted
Shares”) of all the issued shares and/or voting rights of the Guarantor; (b) the Company
will not directly or indirectly pledge or in any way encumber or otherwise dispose of any
Restricted Shares in the Guarantor; and (c) the Company shall cause the Issuer to remain
a wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Guarantor;

promptly take any and all action necessary to comply with its obligations under this Letter;
and

use its reasonable efforts to do all such things and take all such actions as may be necessary
or desirable to give effect to this Letter.

Communications

Any communication shall be by letter or fax:

in the case of the Issuer at:

BEIJING ENTERPRISES WATER CAPITAL MANAGEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
c/o Rooms 6706-07, 67/F, Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Telephone no.: +852 2105 0800
Fax no.: +852 2796 9972
Attention: Mr. Eric Tung

in the case of the Company at:

BEIJING ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED
66/F, Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Telephone no.: +852 2915 2898
Fax no.: +852 2857 5084
Attention: The Directors



in the case of the Guarantor at:

BEIJING ENTERPRISES WATER GROUP LIMITED
Rooms 6706-07, 67/F, Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Telephone no.: +852 2105 0800
Fax no.: +852 2796 9972
Attention: Mr. Eric Tung

Communications will take effect, in the case of a letter, when delivered, and in the case of fax, when
the relevant delivery receipt is received by the sender; provided that any communication which is
received (or deemed to take effect in accordance with the foregoing) outside business hours or on a
non-business day in the place of receipt shall be deemed to take effect at the opening of business on
the next following business day in such place. Any communication delivered to any party under this
Letter which is sent by fax will be written legal evidence.

For the avoidance of doubt, this letter is not treated as having any legally binding effect.
Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of

Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited

Name:

Title: Executive Director



USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds of the issue of the Bonds, which will be approximately US$ million after
deducting expenses (including but not limited to the management and underwriting commission to be
charged by the Joint Lead Managers), will be used by the Group for refinancing of existing borrowings
and general working capital purpose.



CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS

The following table sets forth the consolidated total borrowings (both current and non-current
portions), equity and total capitalisation of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and as adjusted to give
effect to the issue of the Bonds:

As at 31 December 2017

Actual As adjusted™®
(HK$°000) (HK$’°000)

Total borrowings — current portion
Bank and other borrowings . ............ .. .. .. .. .. ... ... 4,689,344 4,689,344
Corporate bonds. . . .. ... e 3,750,484 —
Finance lease payables. ... ......... ... . .. . . ... 102,749 102,749
Total . .. 8,542,577 4,792,093
Total borrowings — non-current portion
Bank and other borrowings . ........... ... ... ... ... ... .. 21,443,596 21,443,596
Corporate bonds. . . ... .. .. 10,495,364 10,495,364
Notes payable ... ... .. .. . . e 3,074,932 3,074,932
Finance lease payables. ... ...... ... ... . .. . ... 395,461 395,461
The Bonds being issued® L, — 3,900,000
Total . .. 35,409,353 39,309,353
Equity® @
Issued capital. . ... ... . 879,382 879,382
Reserves . ... 19,905,341 19,905,341
Total . .. 20,784,723 20,784,723
Total capitalisation . . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ...... 56,194,076 60,094,076
Total capitalisation and current portion of total borrowings . . 64,736,653 64,886,169
Notes:

(1) Figures in the “As adjusted” column reflect the issuance of the Bonds.

(2) The aggregate principal amount of the Bonds has been translated from US dollars to Hong Kong dollars at the rate of
US$1.00 to HK$7.80.

(3)  Excluding non-controlling interests and perpetual capital instruments.

(4) On 1 February 2018, 450,000,000 shares were issued by the Guarantor to certain placing agents for cash subscription
and on 4 April 2018, 169,491,525 shares were issued by the Guarantor to BEECL. On 6 and 10 April 2018, 2,200,000

shares were repurchased by the Guarantor.

(5) Total capitalisation represents the sum of total borrowings (non-current portion) and equity.

Except as disclosed above, there has been no material change in the consolidated capitalisation and
indebtedness of the Group since 31 December 2017.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER

Formation

The Issuer is a limited liability company incorporated under the BVI Business Companies Act (BVI
Company Number: 1972913). It was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on 14 March 2018. The
Issuer is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor.

Business Activity

The Issuer was established for the purpose of issuing the Bonds and advancing the proceeds to the
Guarantor and/or its subsidiaries. The Issuer has not engaged, since the date of its incorporation, in
any other material activities other than those relating to the proposed issue of Bonds and the
on-lending of the proceeds thereof to the Guarantor and/or any other subsidiary of the Guarantor, and
the authorisation of documents and agreements referred to in this Offering Circular to which it is or
will be a party.

Financial Statements

Under British Virgin Islands law, the Issuer is not required to publish interim or annual financial
statements. The Issuer has not published, and does not propose to publish, any financial statements.
The Issuer is, however, required to keep proper books of account as are sufficient to show and to
explain its transactions and which will, at any time, enable the financial position of the Issuer to be
determined with reasonable accuracy.

Directors and Officers

The directors of the Issuer as at the date of this Offering Circular are Mr. Li Haifeng and Mr. Tung
Woon Cheung Eric. The registered office of the Issuer is Portcullis Chambers, 4th Floor, Ellen Skelton
Building, 3076 Sir Francis Drake Highway, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands VG1110. The
Issuer has no employee.

Share Capital

The Issuer is authorised under its memorandum of association to issue a maximum of 50,000 shares
which may be issued with or without a par value, and one share without par value has been issued to,
and is held by, the Guarantor. The register of members of the Issuer is maintained at its registered
office in the British Virgin Islands at Portcullis Chambers, 4th Floor, Ellen Skelton Building, 3076 Sir
Francis Drake Highway, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands VG1110. No part of the equity
securities of the Issuer is listed or dealt on any stock exchange, and no listing or permission to deal
in such securities is being or is proposed to be sought. As at the date of this Offering Circular, the
Issuer does not have any debt outstanding other than the Bonds to be issued.



DESCRIPTION OF THE GROUP
Overview

The Group is one of the leading integrated water and sewage treatment solutions providers in the PRC
principally engaged in (i) water treatment services which includes sewage and reclaimed water
treatment services and water distribution services, mainly in the PRC, Macau, Singapore and Portugal,
(i1) construction services for water environmental renovation projects including comprehensive
renovation projects and BOT projects, mainly in the PRC, Malaysia and Portugal, and (iii) technical
services and sale of machineries in relation to sewage treatment and water environmental renovation
projects in the PRC. Leveraging upon its core technologies, strategic alliances with local governments,
project management expertise, financing channels and engineering, consulting and project design
capabilities, the Group enjoys a superior market position in the PRC and is continuing to expand its
operations in the PRC and other parts of the world.

The Group was one of the four companies globally, and the only PRC company which won the “Water
Company of the Year” award in the 2014 Global Water Submit held in Paris by Global Water
Intelligence. In addition, the Group has continuously been ranked first among the “Top Ten Influential
Enterprises in the Water Industry in China” (4B 7K 3+ K2 J) & 3€) from 2010 to 2016 in survey
conducted by h2o0-China.com. The Group has also been recognised as “Flagship Enterprise in the
Water Industry” (JKESHEME24) in surveys jointly organised by Chinese Hydraulic Engineering
Society, China Water Resources News and China Water Expo from 2012 to 2013 for its standing in the
water industry in the PRC. In the 2016 Global Water Summit in Abu Dhabi held by the Global Water
Intelligence, the Group’s Second Changi NEWater Plant BOO Project in Singapore has won the first
in the Water Deal of the year category.

The coverage of the water plants of the Group and its joint ventures extends to 21 provinces, five
autonomous regions and two municipalities across the PRC and Portugal, Malaysia, Macau and
Singapore. The Group’s operations are widely spread across the southern, western, Shandong, eastern
and northern regions in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group and its joint ventures entered into service concession
arrangements for a total of 782 water plants including 655 sewage treatments plants, 112 water
distribution plants, 14 reclaimed water treatment plants and one seawater desalination plant either in
operation, under construction or ownership of which was being transferred from the proprietors to the
Group and its joint ventures. As at the same date, out of the foregoing plants, 256 sewage treatment
plants, 86 water distribution plants and eight reclaimed water treatment plants were in operation.

The total daily design water processing capacity of the operating water plants of the Group and its
joint ventures reached approximately 18.7 million tonnes as at 31 December 2017, representing an
increase of approximately 13.3 per cent. as compared with the total daily design water processing
capacity as at 31 December 2016. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group and its joint
ventures treated approximately 3,700.5 million tonnes of sewage and reclaimed water and supplied
approximately 1,417.0 million tonnes of tap water. The construction projects of the Group and its joint
ventures generally entail the construction services in respect of water environmental renovation such
as river renovation, construction of water and sewage pipelines and sewage treatment and water supply
plants.

As at 31 December 2017, the Guarantor’s largest shareholder, BEHL (392.HK), held 43.49 per cent.
of the Guarantor’s issued share capital. As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s total assets and total
liabilities were HK$100.5 billion and HK$67.4 billion, respectively, and as at 31 December 2016, the
Group’s total assets and total liabilities were HK$81.0 billion and HK$54.3 billion, respectively. For
the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s total revenue, profit from operating activities and
profit for the year were HK$21.2 billion, HK$5.7 billion and HK$4.4 billion, respectively, and for the
year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s total revenue, profit from operating activities and profit
for the year were HK$17.4 billion, HK$5.3 billion and HK$3.7 billion, respectively.



Key Competitive Strengths

The Group has the following principal strengths, which enable the Group to compete successfully in
its principal business sectors.

Favourable industry dynamics and policy support

The Group, as a market leader in the water and sewage treatment industry in the PRC, is well
positioned to benefit from favourable industry dynamics and supportive Government policies.

° China’s urbanisation creates a long-term growth momentum in the demand for China’s water
supply and sewage treatment services. In light of the foregoing, the Group expects that the
demand for efficient and advanced tap water supply and sewage treatment services in China will
remain robust.

° China’s water industry remains relatively fragmented and there is no apparent single player
dominating the industry. Against this backdrop, the Group believes that there are significant
growth opportunities for it to continue develop and expand its water services business in China.

° Since the 12th “Five-Year Plan”, China attached great importance to protection of its ecological
environment and the Government has vigorously promoted the prevention and control of water
pollution. With environmental protection remaining a priority for the Government in its 13th
Five-Year Plan as well as in the 19th National Congress Report, the Group expects stricter
environmental protection and water quality standards to be promulgated and implemented. The
Group anticipates that the Government’s goal of substantially reducing pollution levels in rivers,
lakes and seas in the PRC will create increasing demand for the Group’s water treatment services
and construction services for the water environmental renovation. In addition, the Government
encourages investment in the water environment renovation and water treatment industry from
private sectors.

Unique business scale and superior market position

The Group is a comprehensive integrated water and sewage treatment solutions provider with unique
business scale and superior market position, maintaining a diversified product offerings and an
established nation-wide network. As at 31 December 2017, the Group and its joint ventures had 655
sewage treatment plants, 112 water distribution plants, 14 reclaimed water treatment plants and one
seawater desalination plant, with a well-balanced geographical presence across 21 provinces, five
autonomous regions and two municipalities in the PRC, as well as other countries and regions such
as Portugal, Malaysia, Macau and Singapore. The Group’s operations in the PRC are widely spread
across the southern, western, Shandong, eastern and northern regions in the PRC .

The Group has also achieved an effective and sustainable growth in sewage treatment and water supply
capacity. The Group and its joint ventures in aggregate achieved over 30 per cent. of CAGR in their
total daily design water processing capacity (in relation to plants either in operation, under
construction or ownership of which was being transferred from the proprietors to the Group and its
joint ventures) from approximately 3.6 million tonnes as at 31 December 2009 to approximately 31.4
million tonnes as at 31 December 2017. In addition, the Group’s superior market position is proven
by its numerous global and national awards since its establishment. For more details of the Group’s
awards, see “— Overview.” With its nation-wide geographical exposure, large number of high quality
projects across China, extensive market presence with a well-known brand in the water utility sector,
and vast population coverage, the Group believes that its unique business scale and market position
allow it to stay at the forefront of its industry.



Solid profit growth

Leveraging upon its advanced technology and superior operational expertise, the Group’s profit has
increased rapidly in recent years, with profit attributable to shareholders of the Guarantor achieving
a CAGR of approximately 38 per cent. from 2012 to 2017. The Group’s revenue increased from
HK$337.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2008 to HK$21,192.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2017.

The Group’s solid profit growth is supported by predictable demand driven by the Government and
household consumption. Concessions for sewage treatment are typically granted for 20 to 40 years,
providing the Group with stable income and long term earning visibility. The water industry in the
PRC also receives support from the Government which typically guarantees a minimum sewage
treatment volume. In terms of tariff and returns, the Group is able to maintain its average tariff for
sewage treatment at RMB1.01 and RMB1.08 per tonne for 2016 and 2017 respectively. In addition,
the service concession agreements for sewage treatment entered into by the Group have built-in price
adjustment mechanism to protect the Group from rising operating cost. The tariff for sewage treatment
is usually adjusted every two to three years by reference to changes in key cost indices such as
consumer price index and such tariff has in the past been adjusted upward.

Strong low-cost financing capability and healthy debt structure

Leveraging on its efficient financing platform, the Group’s strong and cost-effective financing
capability is demonstrated by a series of financing activities since 2008, including bonds issuance,
syndicated loans, open offer and share placement. The Group enjoys a competitive financing cost
which is generally lower than the average financing cost of its peers listed in Hong Kong. The Group’s
healthy debt structure, comprising over a majority of long-term debt, matches with the stable cash
flow of the Group and provides great flexibility for re-financing.

Strong shareholder support

BEHL is the single largest shareholder of the Guarantor with a 43.49 per cent. equity interest in the
Guarantor as at 31 December 2017 held through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Beijing Enterprises
Environmental Construction Limited (“BEECL”).

As the major water utilities flagship company of BEHL, the Group’s strong partnership with BEHL
benefits the Group in various ways, including (i) project sourcing and securing new water projects in
affluent regions in the PRC; (ii) securing bank lending from various major banks at preferential
interest rates; and (iii) obtaining equity financing through open offers which were typically
underwritten by BEHL.

Leveraging upon its strong relationship with its ultimate holding company, Beijing Enterprises Group
Company Limited, which is wholly owned by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the People’s Government of Beijing Municipality, BEHL is well-positioned to help the
Group to continue to secure large-scale water projects from local governments. In addition, the
Group’s relationship with BEHL enables the Group to capitalise on BEHL'’s relatively strong credit
ratings of “Baal” and “BBB+” from Moody’s and S&P, respectively, to secure bank lending at rates
favourable to the Group.

From time to time, the Group benefits from financial support from BEHL in the forms of equity
investment and asset injection. In January 2008, BEHL subscribed for 247,000,000 new shares of the
Guarantor at HK$0.4 per share and subscribed for convertible bonds of the Guarantor at HK$700
million. In March 2011, an open offer of one offer share for two existing shares was completed,
whereby 2,283,378,231 new shares of the Guarantor was issued at HK$1.485 per share. The open offer
was fully underwritten by BEECL and a total funds of approximately HK$3,391 million was raised as
a result. In February and May 2013, BEHL injected an asset portfolio into the Group, comprising



the ownership and/or future income of various water plants in Beijing, Shandong and Hainan with a
total daily design water processing capacity of 1,290,000 tonnes, and a total of 776,810,838
consideration shares of the Guarantor were issued to BEECL. In April 2018, the Guarantor issued
169,491,525 new shares to BEECL, raising an approximately HK$1,000 million of proceeds for the
Group.

Advanced research and development capability

The Group’s self-researched LIER-POOLK patent, rewarded by numerous certificates, was awarded
with Grade A quality certificates issued by the State Ministry of Construction and the Development,
the Reform Commission and the Ministry of Environmental Protection. For more details of
LIER-POOLK technology, see “— Business of the Group — Water treatment services — Sewage and
reclaimed water treatment service.”

The Group’s strong technical capability is further strengthened by its acquisition of two technology
companies. The Group acquired Nanjing Municipal Design and Research Institute Co., Ltd. and
Huaian Research Institute & Water Investigation and Design Co., Ltd., both technology services
enterprises which own various qualifications for engineering consulting and design in municipal
utility projects and infrastructure projects.

The Group possesses strong research and development capability and has continued to strengthen it
through cooperation with prestigious institutions, such as Tsinghua University, a leading institution in
environmental protection particularly in the water area. The Group also has full national-level
technical qualifications to provide a variety of engineering and consulting services. By capitalising on
its extensive business network, the Group has been able to penetrate into new markets and industries
to further its growth.

Experienced management team

The Group’s management team has extensive experience in the water industry with a proven track
record in water and sewage treatment. The majority of the Group’s core management team has been
working together for more than ten years and has provided guidance and execution leadership to the
Group. The Group’s core team benefits significantly from the accumulated expertise and hands-on
experience of its project managers. The Group believes that the management team enables it to
continue to improve the efficiency of its operations, the quality of its product offerings and its ability
to satisfy its customers’ requirements. The Group believes that its strong management and execution
capacity is evidenced by its revenue and profit growth.

Strategies

The Group believes that increasing urbanisation and water consumption in the PRC and rapid
industrialisation of the PRC economy will continue to create growth opportunities for the Group. The
Group has leveraged its competitive advantage in, among others, advanced technologies, strong
networks with the Government and project management expertise to become one of the leading
integrated water and sewage treatment solution providers in the PRC. The Group intends to maintain
its leading position in the PRC water industry by pursuing the following strategies:

Maintain an integrated business model to accelerate expansion of sewage treatment and water
supply projects

The Group operates an integrated business model and engages in design and technical consultancy, and
construction and operation of sewage treatment and water supply projects. The Group’s extensive
project capabilities enable it to capture the entire value chain from project concept and design stages
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through construction and operation. By closely monitoring the Government’s industrial policies and
enhancing its research and development capabilities, the Group plans to broaden its sewage treatment
and water supply portfolio through the completion of fully integrated projects that utilise its wide
range of capabilities and capture a larger share of the value chain for each project.

Develop new profit drivers

The Group believes that its water operations will provide stable cash flows in coming years due to its
track record and the Government’s policies to expand sewage treatment and water supply facilities in
the PRC. The Group has been generating stable cash flows and maintaining relatively consistent
operating margins, enabling it to maintain a solid platform for conservative growth. The Group has
expanded its water operations to cover membrane business and sludge treatment business and
expanded its geographical footprint for water treatment services to Singapore, Portugal and Macau,
and construction services in Malaysia. The Group will continue to seek opportunities for advanced
strategic co-operations in business development and provision of water environment asset
management services with a view to diversifying its revenue sources whilst mitigating business
concentration risk.

Maintain prudent financial policies
The Group intends to continue to implement prudent financial policies to preserve a low cost financing
and optimal capital structure. This will be achieved by careful management of key measures such as

capital expenditures, cash flow and fixed charge coverage. The Group will also continue to focus on
lowering its cost of financing.



Organisational Structure

The following diagram sets out a simplified organisational structure showing major subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures of the Group as at 31 December 2017:

Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited *

Beijing Enterprises Clean Energy Group Limited * Lo Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited *
(stock code: 1250) (stock code: 371)
BEWG Environmental Group Co., Ltd.
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*  Listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
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History and Development

The Guarantor was incorporated in Bermuda in the name of “Wanon International Holdings Limited”

in 1992. In March 2008, the Guarantor changed its name to Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited

after BEHL became its largest shareholder. The Group commenced its water operations in August 2008

as a result of a change in the Guarantor’s business strategy due to the Government’s support for

companies engaged in the water resources protection business.

Set forth below are the Group’s major corporate historical events and milestones:

March 2008 ... ..

August 2008 . ...

March 2011 ... ..

November 2011 . .

December 2012 . .

February, May

March 2013 ... ..

September 2013 . .

October 2013 .. ..

BEHL became the major shareholder of the Guarantor, and the Group was
positioned as the strategic and listed platform for BEHL’s water services
business.

The Group commenced its water operations and the Guarantor acquired
Z.K.C. Environmental Group Co., Ltd. (currently known as BEWG
Environmental Group Co., Ltd.) which owned 13 water plants with combined
daily design water processing capacity of 900,000 tonnes at a consideration of
approximately HK$1,371 million.

The Guarantor completed an open offer of 2,283,378,231 offer shares on the
basis of one offer share for every two existing shares with the support of
BEHL, raising an approximately HK$3,391 million of proceeds.

The Group executed a tender contract with the government of Malaysia for the
construction of Pantai 2 underground sewage treatment plant with total daily
design water processing capacity of 320,000 tonnes in the Federal Territory of
Kuala Lumpur, representing the Group’s first overseas project.

The total daily design water processing capacity of the Group and its joint
ventures (in relation to plants either in operation, under construction or
ownership of which was being transferred from the proprietors to the Group
and its joint ventures) reached 10 million tonnes.

The Group’s controlling shareholder, BEHL, injected into the Group an asset
portfolio, comprising the ownership and/or future income of various water
plants in Beijing, Shandong and Hainan with a total daily design water
processing capacity of 1,290,000 tonnes, in exchange for a total of
776,810,838 consideration shares.

The Group completed its first overseas acquisition project, in which it
acquired Compagnie Générale des Eaux (Portugal) — Consultadoria e
Engenharia, S.A., a Portuguese private water operator engaged in water
treatment, supply and sewage treatment services in various regions in Portugal
at a consideration of approximately Euro 95.51 million.

The Guarantor issued 400,000,000 new shares to a strategic investment fund
of the government of Malaysia at the price of HK$2.95 per share, raising an
approximately HK$1,180 million of proceeds.

The Group conducted a placing of shares to independent placees of
approximately 4.15 per cent. of the then enlarged issued share capital of the
Guarantor, raising an approximately HK$1,112 million of proceeds.



March 2014 . . . .. The Guarantor was selected as a constituent of the Hang Seng
China-Affiliated Corporations Index.

April 2014 ... ... The Group won the “Water Company of the Year” in the 2014 Global Water
Summit held in Paris by the Global Water Intelligence.

June 2014 ... ... The Guarantor was selected as a constituent of Hang Seng China (Hong
Kong-listed) 100 Index.

December 2014 . . The total daily design water processing capacity of the Group and its joint
ventures (in relation to plants either in operation, under construction or
ownership of which was being transferred from the proprietors to the Group
and its joint ventures) reached 20 million tonnes.

December 2017 . . The total daily design water processing capacity of the Group and its joint
ventures (in relation to plants either in operation, under construction or
ownership of which was being transferred from the proprietors to the Group
and its joint ventures) reached 30 million tonnes.

January 2018 . ... The Group conducted a placing of new shares (i) to independent placees of
approximately 4.8 per cent. of the then enlarged issued share capital of the
Guarantor, and (ii) to the Group’s controlling shareholder of approximately
1.8 per cent. of the then enlarged issued share capital of the Guarantor, raising
an approximately HK$2,655 million and HK$1,000 million of proceeds,
respectively.

Business of the Group

The Group’s business can be divided into: (i) water treatment services which includes sewage and
reclaimed water treatment services and water distribution services, (ii) construction services for water
environmental renovation projects and (iii) technical services and sale of machineries in relation to
sewage treatment and water environmental renovation projects. As at 31 December 2017, the coverage
of the water plants of the Group and its joint ventures extends to 21 provinces, five autonomous
regions and two municipalities across the PRC and other countries and regions such as Portugal,
Malaysia, Macau and Singapore. As at 31 December 2017, the total daily design water processing
capacity of the operating water plants of the Group and its joint ventures increased to 18.7 million
tonnes, representing a 13.3 per cent. increase as compared with the same as at 31 December 2016.
During 2017, the Group and its joint ventures had secured 4.8 million tonnes of daily design water
processing capacity through new projects, including 677,750 tonnes from BOT projects, 10,000 tonnes
from TOT projects and 50,000 tonnes from BOO projects, 3,240,276 tonnes from public-private-
partnership projects, 365,000 tonnes from entrustment projects and 495,000 tonnes acquired through
merger and acquisition.



The table below sets out the Group’s revenue by business segment for the years ended 31 December
2016 and 2017, respectively:

For the year ended 31 December

2016 2017

(HK$ million)
Water treatment services
Sewage and reclaimed water treatment services . ........... 3,653.9 4,031.7
Water distribution SErviCes . . . . ... oo vttt 1,371.4 1,839.7

Construction services for the water environmental

renovation'?

Construction services for comprehensive renovation projects . . 4,612.3 7,335.3

Construction of BOT water projects . ................... 6,696.3 6,647.1
Technical services and sale of machineries for the water

environmental renovation. .. ............... ... ... .... 1,020.9 1,338.6
Total . . . . .. e 17,354.8 21,192.4
Note:

(1)  The Group’s construction revenue is recognised on the basis of the percentage of completion method in accordance with
HKFRS.

Water treatment services

The Group’s water treatment services primarily comprise the provision of sewage and reclaimed water
treatment services and water distribution services to municipal governments and industrial customers.
For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017, revenue from the Group’s water treatment services
accounted for approximately 29.0 per cent. and 27.7 per cent., respectively, of the Group’s total
revenue.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group and its joint ventures entered into service concession
arrangements for a total of 782 water plants including 655 sewage treatments plants, 112 water
distribution plants, 14 reclaimed water treatment plants and one seawater desalination plant. The water
plants operated by the Group and its joint ventures had a total daily design water processing capacity
of 18.7 million tonnes as at 31 December 2017. The table below sets out (i) the number of water plants
operated by the Group and its joint ventures, (ii) the daily design water processing capacity of the
water plants operated by the Group and its joint ventures, (iii) the actual water processing volume of
the water plants operated by the Group and its joint ventures, and (iv) the revenue and profit
attributable to shareholders of the Guarantor of the Group’s water treatment services by region as at
or for the year ended 31 December 2017, as applicable.
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As at 31 December 2017 For the year ended 31 December 2017

Profit
Actual water attributable to
Design water processing shareholders
Number of processing volume during of the
plants Capacity the year* Revenue Guarantor
(tonnes/day) (million (HK$ million)
tonnes/year)
Sewage treatment and
reclaimed water treatment
services:
Mainland China:............
-Southern China .......... 46 3,346,700 1,096.0 886.3 469.2
-Western China . ......... 51 1,754,500 527.5 786.6 363.7
-Shandong .............. 32 1,462,000 399.1 432.3 207.8
-Eastern China ........... 63 3,362,750 1,018.0 956.4 412.8
-Northern China .......... 46 1,751,000 507.1 678.8 256.2
238 11,676,950 3,547.7 3,740.4 1,709.7
Overseas ................. 26 427,200 152.8 291.3 47.7
Subtotal . ................. 264 12,104,150 3,700.5 4,031.7 1,757 .4
Water distribution services: . .
-Mainland China ......... 73 6,555,600 1,403.6 1,611.2 640.7
-Overseas . .............. 13 36,000 13.4 228.5 49.3
Subtotal . ................. 86 6,591,600 1,417.0 1,839.7 690.0
Total ..........ccvvn.. 350 18,695,750 5,117.5 5,871.4 2,447.4

*  Excluded entrustment operation contracts

Service concession arrangements

A substantial part of the Group’s revenue for its water treatment services is generated from the
provision of sewage and reclaimed water treatment and water distribution services under service
concession arrangements.

The Group has entered into a number of service concession agreements with certain government
authorities in the PRC on a BOT or TOT basis in respect of its sewage treatment and water supply
projects. Under the service concession agreements for BOT or TOT projects, the Group is generally
entitled to use all the property, plant and equipment of the water plants while the relevant local
government authorities as grantors control and regulate the scope of services the Group provides, and
retain the beneficial entitlement to any residual interest in the water plants at the end of the term of
the service concession periods.

Under the BOT project model, the Group enters into a service concession arrangement with a local
government regarding the investment, construction and operation of a proposed water plant. The
Group finances the construction of the relevant plant with a combination of bank borrowings and its
internal resources. The Group is granted the right to operate the relevant plant during the concession
period, which typically ranges between 20 to 40 years for most of its BOT projects, and is entitled to



fees from its customers, normally local government authorities or government related investment
entities, during the concession period to cover the costs of investment, construction, operation and
maintenance and to provide the Group with reasonable returns. After expiration of the concession
period, the Group transfers the relevant plant back to its customers without compensation.

The TOT project model differs from the BOT project model in that the Group does not construct the
relevant plant. The Group acquires the concession rights for the relevant plant, which has already been
constructed for an agreed consideration. Similar to the BOT project model, the Group is entitled to
fees from its customers, normally local government authorities or government related investment
entities, during the concession period to cover the costs of investment, operation and maintenance and
to provide the Group with reasonable returns. The concession periods of most of the Group’s TOT
projects generally range between 20 to 40 years. After expiration of the concession period, the Group
transfers the relevant plant back to its customers without compensation.

Under a BOO project model, the Group finances the investment, construction and operation of its own
plants by a combination of bank borrowings and its internal resources. Unlike a BOT or TOT project,
the Group does not transfer the plant to a third party. The Group is generally entitled to fees from its
customers, normally local government authorities or government related investment entities, to cover
the costs of investment, construction, operation and maintenance and to provide the Group with
reasonable returns.

Sewage and reclaimed water treatment service

The Group’s sewage and reclaimed water treatment facilities remove pollutants from water and
sewage using multiple processes, including the application of chemicals and biological agents or
through physical processes. The Group has developed several proprietary technologies designed to
enhance existing technologies for the treatment of sewage and water from different sources and across
different industries. The Group adapts and deploys these technologies in various combinations
according to the specific requirements of its customers and the project type. For example, the Group
developed LIER-POOLK technology, for which it has registered a patent, for the treatment of
industrial sewage containing toxic materials and high concentrations of ammonia nitrogen and tar.
This technology is highly effective and cost efficient in removing sulphur oxide, oil, ammonia
nitrogen and organic materials from industrial waste water. The Group’s LIER-POOLK waste water
treatment technology was awarded with Grade A quality certificates issued by the State Ministry of
Construction and the Development, the Reform Commission and the Ministry of Environmental
Protection.

While specific processes and technologies deployed in sewage treatment vary by different projects and
industries and in accordance with the specific requirements of each of the Group’s customers, the
sewage treatment process typically begins with the pre-treatment of the waste water to remove large
solid materials in the raw waste water. Waste water is then transferred to a sedimentation tank where
smaller solid waste and sludge are separated from the waste water by sedimentation. The waste water
is then discharged into biochemical pools where oxidation ditches are used to introduce an optimal
level of oxygen to encourage the growth of micro-organisms that consume organic pollutants in the
waste water. Separation of sludge from waste water is then conducted at a secondary sedimentation
stage. The treated waste water is disinfected to kill harmful micro-organisms before being
reintroduced into the environment or otherwise being reused. Some separated sludge flows back into
the biochemical pool to maintain a sufficient level of micro-organisms, while the residual sludge from
the treatment process is sent to sludge landfill sites for disposal.



Set out below is an overview of the key steps involved in sewage treatment:

Sewage treatment process

Primary
Sewage |:> Pre-Treatment |:> Sedimentation Tank

Biochemical Pool ]
Surface
Clear Liquid Partial
Release Sludge Backflow

of Treated Disinfection . Secon@ary
Sewage Sedimentation Tank

@ Liquid
Containing Sludge
Sanitary Landfill <:| Sludge Treatment

As at 31 December 2017, the total daily design water processing capacity of sewage treatment plants

and reclaimed water treatment plants operated by the Group and its joint ventures reached 11,059,750
and 617,200 tonnes, respectively, as compared to 9,957,250 tonnes and 497,200 tonnes as at 31
December 2016, respectively. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the average daily processing
volume of the sewage and reclaimed water treatment services of the Group and its joint ventures was
9,882,175 tonnes and average daily treatment rate was approximately 87 per cent. The actual average
contracted tariff charge of water treatment was approximately RMB1.08 per tonne for water plants.
The actual aggregate processing volume of the Group and its joint ventures for 2017 was 3,547.7
million tonnes, of which 3,325.4 million tonnes was contributed by subsidiaries, and 222.3 million
tonnes was contributed by joint ventures.

Details of the regional sewage and reclaimed water treatment services of the Group and its joint
ventures are set out below.

Southern China

As at 31 December 2017, the Group and its joint ventures operated 46 sewage and reclaimed water
treatment plants in southern China with a total daily design water processing capacity of 3,346,700
tonnes, representing an increase of 87,500 tonnes per day, or three per cent., as compared with
3,259,200 tonnes per day as at 31 December 2016. Such sewage treatment facilities are located mainly
in Guangdong, Hunan, Fujian and Shaanxi provinces. During 2017, the actual aggregate processing
volume was 1,096.0 million tonnes.

Western China

As at 31 December 2017, the Group and its joint ventures operated 51 sewage and reclaimed water
treatment plants in western China with a total daily design water processing capacity 1,754,500
tonnes, representing an increase of 130,000 tonnes per day, or eight per cent., as compared with
1,624,500 tonnes per day as at 31 December 2016. Such sewage treatment plants are located mainly
in Yunnan, Guangxi, Sichuan and Guizhou provinces. During 2017, the actual sewage processing
volume was 527.5 million tonnes.



Shandong

As at 31 December 2017, the Group and its joint ventures operated 32 sewage and reclaimed water
treatment plants in the Shandong province with a total daily design water processing capacity of
1,462,000 tonnes, representing an increase of 193,000 tonnes per day, or 15 per cent., as compared
with 1,269,000 tonnes per day as at 31 December 2016. During 2017, the actual aggregate processing
volume was 399.1 million tonnes.

Eastern China

As at 31 December 2017, the Group and its joint ventures operated 63 sewage and reclaimed water
treatment plants in eastern China with a total daily design water processing capacity of 3,362,750
tonnes, representing an increase of 412,000 tonnes per day, or 14 percent., as compared with 2,950,750
tonnes per day as at 31 December 2016. Such sewage treatment facilities located mainly in Zhejiang,
Jiangsu and Anhui provinces. For 2017, the actual aggregate processing volume was 1,018.0 million
tonnes.

Northern China

As at 31 December 2017, the Group and its joint ventures operated 46 sewage and reclaimed water
treatment plants in northern China with a total daily design water processing capacity of 1,751,000
tonnes per day, representing an increase of 400,000 tonnes per day as compared with 1,351,000 tonnes
per day as at 31 December 2016. Such sewage treatment facilities are located mainly in Liaoning
province and Beijing. During 2017, the actual aggregate processing volume was 507.1 million tonnes.

Overseas

As at 31 December 2017, the Group and its joint ventures operated 24 sewage treatment plants in
Portugal, one sewage treatment plant in Macau and one reclaimed treatment water plant in Singapore
with a total daily design water processing capacity of 427,200 tonnes. During 2017, the actual
aggregate processing volume was 152.8 million tonnes.

Water distribution services

The Group uses chemical and biological processes to treat and purify raw water at its waterworks
facilities before supplying the water for general consumption.

Mainland China

As at 31 December 2017, the Group and its joint ventures had 73 water distribution plants in operation
with a total daily design water processing capacity of 6,555,600 tonnes, as compared with 5,704,400
tonnes as at 31 December 2016. The water distribution plants of the Group and its joint ventures were
located in Guizhou, Fujian, Guangdong, Hunan, Hebei, Shandong, Henan, Guangxi provinces and
Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region. During 2017, the actual average contracted tariff charge of water
distribution was approximately RMB2.14 per tonne and the aggregate actual distribution volume was
1,403.6 million tonnes.

Overseas

As at 31 December 2017, the Group and its joint ventures had 13 water distribution plants in Portugal
with a total daily design water distribution capacity of 36,000 tonnes. The actual water distribution
volume in Portugal druing 2017 was 13.4 million tonnes.



Construction services business

The Group’s construction projects are primarily comprehensive renovation projects and BOT projects.
For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017, revenue from the Group’s construction services
business accounted for approximately 65.2 per cent. and 66.0 per cent., respectively, of the Group’s
revenue.

Comprehensive renovation projects

The Group provides construction services on a comprehensive renovation basis for the design,
construction and installation of water or sewage treatment facilities and pipeline networks for its
customers at a fixed contract price (subject to agreed variation orders). Upon completion, the Group
delivers the project to its customers for their operation and bears no further responsibility for the
maintenance or repair of the facilities after the warranty period. The Group’s comprehensive
renovation projects typically take between 12 and 24 months to complete. The Group recognises
revenue from its comprehensive renovation projects on the basis of the percentage of completion
method commencing when a legally binding contract is executed and when the total construction costs
of the facilities under development can be reliably estimated. The Group’s comprehensive renovation
projects primarily involve the construction of an intercepting canal and its ancillary facilities, water
environmental renovation facilities, pipeline networks and other infrastructure. During the year ended
31 December 2017, the Group and its joint ventures had 18 comprehensive renovation projects under
construction. Such comprehensive renovation projects are mainly located in Beijing, Luoyang in
Henan province, Foshan in Guangdong province, Yuxi and Ling Qang in Yunnan province, Suining,
Chengdu and Luzhou in Sichuan province, Inner Mongolia and Terengganu in Malaysia.

BOT projects

The Group has entered into a number of service concession contracts on a BOT basis for its sewage
and reclaimed water treatment business. For BOT projects, the Group typically designs and constructs
sewage and reclaimed water treatment facilities, which the Group operates for a contractually agreed
period of up to 40 years. The Group bears all relevant design, construction and operating costs of the
treatment facilities and does not receive payments from customers during the construction stage of the
projects. Upon commencement of operations, the Group receives regular, usually monthly, payments
from its customers based on a contractually agreed tariff and the volume of water treated. The Group
is responsible for all repair and maintenance costs during the term of the concession. At the end of
the agreed concession period, the Group will be required to transfer the treatment facilities to its
customers, but the Group may be reappointed under a bidding process to continue to operate the
facilities on an operate-and-manage basis.

BOT projects require substantial investment for the construction of the treatment facilities. The Group
funds its BOT projects through a combination of internal resources and external borrowings.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s water plants under construction are mainly
located in Guangdong, Shandong, Zhejiang, Hunan and Henan provinces.
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Construction management

Set out below is a summary of the Group’s typical construction project management process:

| Project Selection |

'

| Tender Process

|

Design and
Implementation

. !

Procurement Construction and
Installation (sub-contracted)
A
Testing Inspection and
Trial-Operation
A A
Project Handover/After Operation and
Sales Services" Maintenance®

|

Transfer facilities to the customer at the
end of concession period®

Notes:
(1)  applicable to comprehensive renovation projects only.

(2)  applicable to BOT projects only.

The project management processes for the construction phase of the Group’s comprehensive
renovation and BOT projects are substantially similar. The construction phase of the Group’s BOT
projects usually lasts between 12 months and 24 months while that of comprehensive renovation
projects usually lasts between two to three years. Due to the substantial investment required for such
projects, the Group has put in place additional measures mainly in respect of its financing
requirements to mitigate the different risk profile associated with different projects. The Group
performs similar project management processes for the construction of BOO projects, although it does
not recognise revenue in relation to the construction work for such projects.

Project selection

The Group considers its ability to choose the right projects to be a cornerstone of its operational
success and profitability. The Group adopts a commercially driven approach to the selection of its
projects, conducting a thorough analysis of a potential project’s prospective profitability before
submitting a tender.

The Group actively tracks and sources potential projects throughout the PRC. The Group monitors
information from local government authorities such as local news and the latest development in the
local water and sewage industry and utilises local connections to identify new business opportunities.
The Group’s profile in the water and sewage treatment industry in the PRC and extensive track record
of successfully completed projects also results in referrals from its existing or previous customers and
invitations from local and municipal governments and industrial enterprises to bid for projects.



In evaluating opportunities, the Group takes into account a variety of factors depending on the project,
including the following:

° the prospective profitability of the project; the Group generally focuses on projects with a
contract value and projected return in excess of minimum thresholds determined internally based
on the management’s experience and market conditions;

° the credit-worthiness of the potential customer and the customer’s source of funding for the
project;
° the composition of the sewage and the resulting technical demands of the project;

° the specific requirements of the customer;

° the available treatment technologies;

° the competition for the project and the identity of its competitors in the bidding process;

° the projected cost of building the facilities; and

° the applicable regulatory standards.

The Group maintains a list of projects which it reviews on a regular basis to monitor their status and
development. In reviewing such projects, the Group considers project internal rate of return, tariff
structure, economic and fiscal conditions of the relevant local government and water supply and
demand in the relevant region. The Group’s technology and support team assigns priority to various
projects and allocates resources to those the Group will pursue. The Group then gathers further
information on these potential projects, such as laboratory analyses of the sewage, and further
considers the project’s suitability. Once sufficient information has been compiled for the Group’s
technology and support department’s consideration, the Group will decide which projects the Group
will actively pursue and submit a tender.

Tender process

The tender process for the Group’s construction projects is conducted by the Group’s investment
department. The Group’s investment department has extensive experience in project pricing in the
water and sewage treatment industry. By having a specialised team of technicians and investment team
focused on the tender process, the Group is able to increase the consistency and efficiency of its tender
process, thereby increasing the Group’s competitiveness.

The Group’s investment department coordinates the preparation of all relevant tender documents. This
process includes careful consideration of the treatment options available, discussions with the
prospective customer to understand its needs, project budgeting and preparation of a preliminary
project design.

The Group’s investment department formulates its initial tender price based on its estimate of the
project costs, and the target profitability of the project. The Group’s Chief Executive Officer, deputy
general manager, chief engineer and senior members in the Group’s investment committee review and
approve the final tender price.



The factors that a customer considers in assessing a tender vary from one project to another, but
generally include the credentials and qualifications of the applicant, the tender price, the technical
design and the experience of the proposed project team. Generally, the Group is required to pay a
deposit or provide a letter of guarantee issued by a bank in order to participate in the tender process.
Any deposit the Group pays will be returned to it after the tender process, but any letter of guarantee
will be applied as a performance bond if the Group is successful in the tender. Once the Group
successfully secures the tender, the Group will enter into a formal contract with its customer.

Project financing

For the Group’s BOT and comprehensive renovation projects, the Group is responsible for funding the
construction of the water and sewage treatment facilities. The Group typically funds the cost of
construction of its BOT and comprehensive renovation projects mainly through external financing
from commercial banks to the maximum extent possible to finance its BOT and comprehensive
renovation projects.

Design

The Group considers that the expertise and experience of its in-house design team has been a key
factor of its success. When the Group prepares a tender, its technology and support department,
assisted by its design department, prepares a project plan which outlines the proposed treatment
process, taking into account the customer’s specifications and the relevant laws and regulations. The
Group develops innovative designs adapted to the specific project constraints after the Group
investigates and researches the background of each project. After securing the project, the Group’s
design department will prepare a detailed design plan for the construction of the treatment facilities
based on the project plan.

Procurement and subcontractors

After the design and implementation plans have been finalised, the Group purchases the water and
sewage treatment equipment and parts required for the project directly from its suppliers and appoints
appropriate subcontractors to carry out certain parts of the project. The Group usually approaches
several potential suppliers or subcontractors for contracts whose value exceeds thresholds determined
internally based on the management’s experience.

The Group is typically responsible for the overall project management and equipment procurement
portion for its projects. The Group retains subcontractors to carry out the civil engineering work for
the treatment facilities and the installation of equipment. The Group may also require subcontractors
to supply basic construction raw materials such as steel and cement.

Construction and installation

The Group subcontracts its construction and installation work to its subcontractors. During
construction and installation, the Group’s on-site project management team monitors the progress of
its subcontractors to ensure that its subcontractors comply with its quality control standards. For each
project, the Group has an on-site project management team consisting of administrative and technical
representatives from various operations departments. The team can draw on the resources of each of
the Group’s operations departments during any stage of a project, giving it full access to the extensive
knowledge and experience of its various departments.



Testing

Upon the completion of the construction of facilities and installation of equipment, the Group’s
project management team and the relevant local government carry out a site inspection to ensure the
facilities conform to the layout plans and conduct trial operations of the facilities to examine their
operational efficiency, capacity and water quality to ensure that the treated sewage and water quality
standards meet the local government’s specifications specified in the relevant contract. If the test
results are satisfactory, the Group’s project management team will submit the completion report to the
relevant local government and/or its supervisory team for approval.

Project handover/after sales services (applicable to comprehensive renovation projects only)

Once the relevant local government has confirmed that the facilities are in working order and comply
with the relevant specifications and has confirmed the contract price thereafter, the Group will hand
over the treatment facility to the relevant local government for its operation. The Group provides the
relevant local government’s staff with training on the operation of the facilities. The Group also
provides a detailed operation manual to the relevant local government at handover.

Upon handover, the defects liability period (which is usually 12 months) commences and during this
period the Group will attend to fix any defects in the equipment or systems for which the Group is
responsible at its own cost. Upon the expiry of the Group’s defects liability period, the Group may
continue to provide such maintenance services to the relevant local government for a fee but is not
otherwise responsible for carrying out such maintenance or any repairs.

Operation and maintenance of treatment facilities (applicable to BOT projects only)

The staffing requirement for the operation of each of the Group’s BOT projects varies depending on
the volume of water to be treated by the facilities. The Group conducts on-site training for its staff
members to ensure that they have the necessary knowledge to operate the facilities and are made aware
of the Group’s safety guidelines. During the term of the concession for BOT projects, the Group is
responsible for the maintenance and repair of the treatment facilities, including the costs involved in
repairing or replacing the equipment. To ensure the smooth operation of the facilities, the Group
carries out regular inspections, maintenance and repair of the facilities.

During the operational stage of the Group’s BOT projects, the Group receives regular payments from
its customers, who are usually local government authorities or government related investment entities.
The sewage treatment services agreement usually provides for a contractually guaranteed minimum
volume of sewage to be treated by the Group and the Group is entitled to receive payment for such
minimum volume even if the volume of water actually treated by it is lower than the minimum. The
guaranteed minimum treatment volume is intended to provide a minimum rate of return on the Group’s
investment and its treatment facilities’ capacity is designed with reference to such guaranteed
minimum treatment volume to mitigate risks of under-utilisation. In addition to the minimum
guaranteed amount, the Group may also receive an additional amount based on the quantity of sewage
treated by its treatment plants above the minimum guaranteed treatment volume and the relevant tariff.

Subcontractors

Generally, the Group subcontracts to construction companies the construction of water facilities, while
it provides relevant technology and supervises the construction in progress.

The Group selects subcontractors based on their reputation, track record, technical qualifications and
certification. However, the Group generally gives preference to those it has previously engaged for a
construction project. The duration of contracts the Group enters into with subcontractors is typically
12 months with a warranty period of a further 12 months.



The Guarantor believes that the Group has a good working relationship with its subcontractors and has
not had any material dispute with its subcontractors in the past. If the Group is required to find other
subcontractors, the Guarantor believes that there is a sufficient number of alternative subcontractors
with a good reputation, reliability and financial resources in the PRC market.

Technical services and sale of machineries for the water environmental renovation

The Group maintains a number of qualifications in engineering consulting and design of sewage and
reclaimed water treatment plants. As an integrated water system solution provider, the Group has not
only acquired extensive experience in bidding, building and operating sewage and reclaimed water
treatment projects, but also successfully marketed its treatment technology and experience in
construction services to other operators and constructors.

The Group generally enters into technical services agreements with its customers to provide technical
services on the application of the Group’s patented technologies relating to sewage treatment and
facilities layout and design. The Group also provides consulting services in relation to facilities
management and equipment maintenance and operation to other relatively small water solution
providers. Technical and consulting fees are negotiated on a case-by-case basis under service
agreements.

For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017, revenue from the provision of technical services
accounted for approximately 5.9 per cent. and 6.3 per cent., respectively, of the Group’s total revenue.

Major customers

The percentage of the Group’s total revenue attributable to its top five customers for the years ended
31 December 2016 and 2017 was approximately 21 per cent. and 24 per cent., respectively. The
Group’s major customers comprise of local governments and government related investment entities.

Major suppliers

The Group’s principal suppliers during 2016 and 2017 were subcontractors retained by it to construct
and install the Group’s projects. For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017, the percentage of
the Group’s total purchases from its top five suppliers was approximately 25 per cent. and 30 per cent.,
respectively, of the Group’s total purchase. Notwithstanding the Group’s reliance on key suppliers for
certain raw materials and equipment, the Guarantor believes that there are a sufficient number of
alternative suppliers in the PRC market who can supply such raw materials and equipment which meet
the Group’s volume demands and specifications.

Competition

The water and sewage treatment market in the PRC has evolved significantly over the past decade. The
market is highly competitive and fragmented. The Group’s existing and potential competitors include
major State-owned and private water and sewage solutions providers and a number of international
environmental services companies. The Group considers that its major competitors include Shanghai
Industrial Holdings Limited (Hong Kong Stock Exchange Code: 363), Beijing Capital Co., Ltd
(Shanghai Stock Exchange Stock Code: 600008), Beijing Origin Water Technology Co., Ltd.
(Shenzhen Stock Exchange Code: 300070) and China Everbright International Limited (Hong Kong
Stock Exchange Code: 257). The Group’s competitors compete with it in terms of technology, quality,
price, brand recognition, project execution capability, marketing and customer services. Some of the
Group’s competitors have greater financial, marketing or other resources and some have more
advanced technologies. Certain competitors may also have greater brand recognition, economies of
scale, longer track records or more established relationships in certain markets in which the Group
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operates. However, the Group believes that it can compete effectively by virtue of (i) its extensive
project execution capabilities; (ii) its cost-effective treatment solutions; (iii) its familiarity with PRC
regulations and the needs of local customers; (iv) its technology; and (v) its reputation for quality and
customer service.

Environment and safety

The Group is subject to, among other PRC laws and regulations promulgated by the central and local
governments, the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, the Law of the PRC on Appraising
Environment Impact and the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution.

The Group is generally required to comply with all applicable laws and regulations, but specific
requirements to do so are usually not incorporated into the relevant contracts for its projects or
equipment supply. In 2016 and 2017, the Group did not receive any claims from its customers for
failing to comply with the relevant licensing and environmental requirements. For effective
environmental protection and safety control, the Group has adopted two sets of internal measures, one
governing environmental management and the other governing production safety management. The
Group’s environmental measures regulate different aspects of its operations, from the design and
construction of treatment facilities, to the selection of subcontractors and operation of treatment
facilities. The Group’s safety measures, on the other hand, set forth procedures and requirements to
prevent the occurrence of safety related accidents. In order to comply with relevant regulations, the
Group has adopted certain measures including but not limited to: (i) choosing techniques, equipment
and materials that cause less environmental pollution; (ii) using techniques and processes which
ensure that the outflow water quality of the Group’s sewage treatment facilities meets relevant
standards and requirements; and (iii) setting up relevant procedures that effectively identify and
control the important environmental factors and major hazards to fulfil the Group’s environmental and
safety targets and policies.

Research and development and intellectual property

The Group’s research and development activities are carried out at the research and development
centre jointly established by the Group and Tsinghua University.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group owned nine utility model patents, 15 invention patents, 13
computer software copyright and seven trademarks in the PRC. Most of the Group’s patents relate to
manufacturing technologies for building materials, water purification technologies and processes and
sewage treatment technologies and processes. Most of the Group’s copyrights relate to software
programmes used for the managements of water facilities, waterworks and research and development.
The Group’s new technology relates to the technology of measuring the efficiency of a water pump
that is based on thermodynamics.

Employees and labour relations

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 15,356 employees and as at the same date some of the Group’s
employees in the PRC were members of the labour union. The labour union participates in the
management of the Group by having a representative in each of the investment evaluation committee,
the personnel committee, executive management meetings and nationwide executive management
meetings and jointly preparing annual management reports.

The Group’s remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to market terms and
individual merits. Salaries are normally reviewed on an annual basis based on performance appraisals
and other relevant factors.



The Group considers its current relations with its workforce to be good. As at the date of this Offering
Circular, the Group has not experienced any work stoppages, strikes or other labour problems that
could have a material adverse effect on its operations, financial condition or results of operations.

Insurance

Based on the level of the Group’s operating risks, the Group maintains insurance policies covering
properties, fixed assets, the vehicles that it owns as well as social security. The Group generally does
not maintain insurance for most of its projects, except when it is required under the terms of the
relevant contracts or financing agreements.

The Group believes that the coverage of these insurance policies is in line with general industry
practice. Most of the Group’s project contracts do not impose an obligation on it or its customers to
take out additional insurance. Where the Group subcontracts certain parts of its projects to
subcontractors, the Group’s subcontracting agreement provides that the subcontractor shall bear all
liabilities and losses arising from the part of the project for which it is responsible. The Group
typically receives letters of guarantee or performance guarantees from its subcontractors to hedge
against the risk of failure by such subcontractors to bear all liabilities and losses arising from their
responsible projects.

Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Compliance

The Group’s operations are subject to various national and local laws and regulations governing
environmental protection, workplace safety and product quality, among others. The Group’s
compliance measures aim to enable the Group to meet regulatory and industrial standards of relevant
central and local government authorities and industry associations. As at the date of this Offering
Circular, the Group is not aware of any violation of law or non compliance that could have a material
adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

The Group is from time to time involved in disputes and legal proceedings arising in the ordinary
course of its business. See “Risk Factors — Risks associated with the Group’s Business — The Group
may be involved from time to time in material disputes, administrative, legal and other proceedings
arising out of its operations and may face liabilities or damages to its reputation as a result”.

To the best of the Group’s knowledge, there are no current litigation or arbitration proceedings against

the Group as at the date of this Offering Circular that could have a material adverse effect on its
financial condition or results of operations.



DESCRIPTION OF BEHL

BEHL is a conglomerate backed by the Beijing Municipal Government focusing on managing strategic
infrastructure, public utilities and other investments.

BEHL’s broad portfolio of assets includes:

° natural gas business

° brewery business

° water and environmental business

solid waste treatment business

Leveraging on these businesses, BEHL seeks to achieve consistent financial performance and to attract
international investment to further develop Beijing’s municipal infrastructure and other businesses.

BEHL’s portfolio of businesses, each with a leading market position and stable cash flows, enables it
to manage volatility across its business segments, thereby positioning BEHL to capture growth
opportunities in the utilities and consumer products sectors in Beijing and throughout the PRC.
BEHL is rated “Baal” by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and “BBB+” by Standard and Poor’s Rating
Services. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject
to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

BEHL has been listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 392) since 29 May 1997.

As at 31 December 2017, BEHL had a market capitalisation of approximately HK$58.6 billion.



DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

The Board of the Directors of the Guarantor (the “Board”) has overall responsibility for the system
of internal controls of the Guarantor and for reviewing its effectiveness.

Board of Directors

The Board comprises Executive Directors and Independent Non-Executive Directors as follows:

Name Position

Mr. Li Yongcheng . ................... Chairman and Executive Director

Mr. EMeng ........ ... .. .. ... .. ... Vice Chairman and Executive Director
Mr. Jiang Xinhao. .. .................. Executive Director

Mr. Zhou Min . ...... ... .. ... ... ... .. Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Li Haifeng. . . .................... Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Tiefu. . ..... ... ... ........ Executive Director

Ms. Qi Xiaohong . .. .................. Executive Director

Mr. Ke Jian . . ... ... o Executive Director

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric .. .......... Executive Director

Mr. LiLi.....ooo o o oo Executive Director

Mr. Shea Chun Lok Quadrant. . .......... Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr. Zhang Gaobo. .. .................. Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr. Guo Rui .. ... o Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr. Wang Kaijun . . ................... Independent Non-Executive Director
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond . ........... Independent Non-Executive Director

Senior Management

The senior management responsible for the Guarantor’s day-to-day management and operation as at
the date of the Offering Circular are as follows:

Name Position

Mr. Zhou Min . ...... ... .. ... ... ... .. Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Li Li....oo oo Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Li Haifeng. .. ....... ... ... ....... Vice President

Mr. Zhang Tiefu. . .......... ... ... ... Vice President

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric . ... ........ Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

The biographies of the Executive Directors and Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Guarantor
are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Yongcheng, aged 56, was appointed as the Chairman and an Executive Director of the
Guarantor on 29 October 2014. Mr. Li is also the chairman of nomination committee of the Guarantor.
He is currently vice chairman and executive deputy general manager of Beijing Enterprises Group
Company Limited. He is an executive director and vice chairman of Beijing Enterprises Holdings
Limited (stock code: 392). Mr. Li has once assumed various positions of deputy general manager, vice
chairman and general manager with Beijing Gas Group Co., Ltd.. Mr. Li is a senior engineer,
graduated from Wuhan University of Science and Technology with a master’s degree in environmental
engineering, and subsequently obtained an EMBA degree from Guanghua School of Management of
Peking University. Mr. Li possesses extensive experience and professional expertise in public utilities
industry, and also has plenty of experience in enterprise operations and capital operations.



Mr. E Meng, aged 59, was appointed as an Executive Director of the Guarantor in February 2008 and
the vice chairman of the Guarantor in April 2013. He serves as a vice general manager and the chief
financial officer of Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited. He is also an executive director and
an executive vice president of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (stock code: 392) and the
chairman and an executive director of Beijing Enterprises Environment Group Limited (stock code:
154). Mr. E Meng graduated from China Science and Technology University with a master’s degree
in engineering and subsequently obtained an EMBA degree from The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. He is a PRC senior accountant with the qualifications of PRC certified
accountant, asset appraiser, certified real estate appraiser and tax appraiser. From 1988 to 1997, he
was the deputy director of Beijing New Technology Development Zone and concurrently acting as the
director of the Department of Financial Auditing, the general manager of Investment Operation
Company, the chief accountant of Beijing Tianping Accounting Firm and the deputy director of the
State-owned Assets Management Office of Beijing Haidian District. From September 2004 to August
2015, Mr. E Meng was an independent non-executive director of New Silkroad Culturaltainment
Limited (stock code: 472). Mr. E Meng has extensive experience in economics, finance and enterprise
management.

Mr. Jiang Xinhao, aged 53, was appointed as an Executive Director of the Guarantor in June 2008.
Mr. Jiang serves as a vice general manager of Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited, an
executive director and vice president of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (stock code: 392). Mr.
Jiang is also a non-executive director of China Gas Holdings Limited (stock code: 384). Mr. Jiang was
an executive director of Beijing Properties (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 925) between 2011 and
2016. Mr. Jiang graduated from Fudan University in 1987 with a bachelor’s degree in law, and then
in 1992 with a master’s degree in law. Mr. Jiang was a lecturer at Peking University between 1992 and
1994. From 1995 to 1997, Mr. Jiang was a deputy general manager of Jingtai Finance Company in
Hong Kong, and subsequently a director and vice president of BHL Industrial Investment Company.
From 1997 to February 2005, Mr. Jiang was a director and the chief executive officer of Tramford
International Limited, a public company listed on Nasdaq. Mr. Jiang was a manager of the investment
development department of Beijing Holdings Limited and a general manager of Beijing BHL
Investment Center between May 2000 and February 2005. Mr. Jiang has many years of experience in
economics, finance and corporate management.

Mr. Zhou Min, aged 54, was appointed as an Executive Director of the Guarantor in August 2008 and
the chief executive officer of the Guarantor on 30 March 2016. Mr. Zhou graduated with an EMBA
from the Tsinghua University and is the vice chairman of Mianyang Zhejiang Chamber of Commerce
(4B T Wi VLF €). Mr. Zhou previously worked in the People’s Bank of China, Yongkang Branch of
Zhejiang Province (WiVL# A[R4RTT7KFE X 1T), the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China,
Yongkang Branch of Zhejiang Province (#7 VL% L #47K B 3Z17), and was the chairman of Beijing
Jingsheng Investment Company Limited (Jb 7% 5t 4% & A FR /A 7). Mr. Zhou is now the chairman of
BEWG Environmental Group Co., Ltd.

Mr. Li Haifeng, aged 47, was appointed as an Executive Director and a Vice President of the
Guarantor in August 2008. He graduated with a bachelor’s degree in Laws from the Peking University.
He was an assistant to president of Founder Group (/4 IE££[#]) and the executive vice president of
Founder Xintiandi Software Technology Co. Ltd. (J71E#T KHu#k {44 AR 7). He is now the
chairman of the Supervisory Committee of BEWG Environmental Group Co., Ltd., responsible for
exploring business opportunities in water market in the PRC. He is currently the chairman, an
executive director and the chief executive officer of Carry Wealth Holdings Limited (stock code: 643).

— 79 —



During the period from April 2010 to April 2013, he was an independent non-executive director of
Huarong International Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 993). Both Carry Wealth Holdings
Limited and Huarong International Financial Holdings Limited are listed on the main board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. Zhang Tiefu, aged 55, was appointed as an Executive Director and a Vice President of the
Guarantor in April 2009. He graduated from Jilin Industrial Institute with a bachelor’s degree of
engineering in 1983. He further studied business administration in the University of International
Business and Economics in 1998. He has been awarded the titles of senior engineer and senior
international finance manager. He served as the senior manager in China Nation Printing Materials
Corporation (" EIEIil# & 44/2 7)) in 1986. He joined Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited as
manager in 2001, and is concurrently acting the director and a general manager of Beijing Bei Kong
Water Production Co., Ltd. (b5t #E il /KA FR A F]) and a director of Beijing Yanjing Beer Co., Ltd.
(AL M M A PR A F]). He has extensive experiences in economics, market development and
corporate management.

Ms. Qi Xiaohong, aged 50, was appointed as an Executive Director of the Guarantor in May 2008 and
a member of remuneration committee of the Guarantor. Ms. Qi graduated from Capital Normal
University with a bachelor’s degree in legal studies and subsequently obtained a master degree in
economic management at Capital University of Economics and Business. She has worked for the
Beijing Municipal Government for many years. She joined Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited in
1997 and is now a vice president of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (stock code: 392),
responsible for corporate administration and human resources management.

Mr. Ke Jian, aged 49, was appointed as an Executive Director of the Guarantor in June 2011 and is
the vice president of Beijing Enterprises Holding Limited (stock code: 392) and the vice chairman,
chief executive officer and an executive director of Beijing Enterprises Environment Group Limited
(stock code: 154). Mr. Ke is a PRC Senior Accountant, Certified Tax Agent and Senior International
Finance Manager. Mr. Ke received a bachelor’s degree in economics from Beijing College of Finance
and Commerce and a MBA degree from Murdoch University, Australia. Mr. Ke has extensive
experience in finance and corporate administration.

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric, aged 47, was appointed as an Executive Director of the Guarantor in
August 2011. Mr. Tung is the chief financial officer and company secretary of the Guarantor. Mr. Tung
is also the assistant president and general manager of the finance department of Beijing Enterprises
Holdings Limited (stock code: 392), a company listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, the company secretary of Biosino Bio-Technology and Science Incorporation (stock code:
8247), a company listed on growth enterprise market of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and an
independent non-executive director of South China Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 619) and
GR Properties Limited (stock code: 108), both of which are listed on the main board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. Mr. Tung graduated from York University, Toronto, Canada with a bachelor’s
honours degree in administrative studies. He is a Hong Kong Certified Public Accountant and a U.S.
licensed practice Certified Public Accountant.

Mr. Li Li, aged 52, was appointed as an Executive Director of the Guarantor in February 2014 and
the chief operating officer of the Guarantor in March 2016, he is a Senior Engineer and qualified
Senior Project Manager. Mr. Li joined the Guarantor in October 2010. Mr. Li graduated from Xian
Jiaotong University in mechanical engineering and PhD in engineering at School of Environment,
Tsinghua University. Prior to joining the Guarantor, Mr. Li was a senior engineer, a technical quality
director and vice president of the First Design & Research Institute. Mr. Li served as various key
positions of Jt it REIRLREE A FR/AF (Beijing Sound Environmental Group Company Limited)
from 2001 to 2010. He has extensive experience in investment, construction and operation in water
industry.



Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Shea Chun Lok Quadrant, aged 51, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director
of the Guarantor in April 2002. He is also the chairman of audit committee of the Guarantor. Mr. Shea
is currently an executive director, the chief financial officer and company secretary of Asia Allied
Infrastructure Holdings Limited (stock code: 711), a company listed on the main board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. He is also an independent non-executive director of Hi-Level Technology
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8113), a company listed on the growth enterprise market of Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. Mr. Shea graduated from Monash University of Australia with a Bachelor’s degree
in Business and later completed a postgraduate program of Public Finance (Taxation) and obtained a
Master degree in Economics from Jinan University of China and a Master of Laws degree from
Renmin University of China. He is also a fellow member of CPA Australia, a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, The Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants of United Kingdom and Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants and a Chartered Global Management Accountant. Mr. Shea is a Certified Tax Adviser of
Hong Kong and China Tax Committee member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and has
obtained a Certificate of Pass in Practice Training Examination for Hong Kong Certified Tax Advisers
Serving in Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern Service Industry Cooperation Zone, Qianhai, Shenzhen
jointly issued by Shenzhen Municipal Office of the State Administration of Taxation and Shenzhen
Local Taxation Bureau. Mr. Shea has substantial experience in accounting and finance in listed
companies and worked as a qualified accountant and company secretary in various companies listed
on the main board of Hong Kong Stock Exchange over the years.

Mr. Zhang Gaobo, aged 53, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Guarantor in May 2008. He is also a member of each of the audit committee and the nomination
committee and chairman of the remuneration committee of the Guarantor. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in science from Henan University in 1985 and later graduated from Peking University with a
master’s degree in Economics in 1988. From 1988 to 1991, he worked in Hainan Provincial
Government and PBOC Hainan Branch and as the chairman of Hainan Stock Exchange Centre. Since
1993, he has been a founding partner and chief executive of Oriental Patron Financial Group and is
responsible for its overall general management and business development. He is also an executive
director and the chief executive officer of OP Financial Limited (formerly known as OP Financial
Investments Limited) (stock code: 1140), a company listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange and a non-executive director of Vimetco N.V., a company listed on the London Stock
Exchange from June 2007 to June 2017. Mr. Zhang has taken up the role to serve as the vice-president
of Finance Center for South-South Cooperation Limited, a non-profit international organization in
Special Consultative Status with ECOSOC of the United Nations, established for the promotion of
South-South Cooperation since April 2014.

Mr. Guo Rui, aged 50, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Guarantor in
May 2008. He is also a member of each of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Guarantor. Mr. Guo is the management director of Jt 5t I &5 15 4 45 ¥ 5k
AR/ FE Beijing MingRui Hengfeng Management & Consulting Co., Ltd., an investment
management organisation that invests in real estate, clean energy, healthcare and pharmaceutics,
biotechnology, financial institutes, mining and manufacturing sectors. Mr. Guo was a former senior
consultant of Arthur Andersen LLC from 1999 to 2001. Mr. Guo holds a bachelor’s degree of computer
science (or engineering) from Peking University and a master degree of computer engineering from
Northwestern University, U.S.A.

Mr. Wang Kaijun, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Guarantor in August 2008. Mr. Wang holds a Doctor degree from the Environmental Technology
Department of the Wageningen Agricultural University in the Netherlands. Mr. Wang was previously
appointed as the chief engineer of Beijing Municipal Research Institute of Environmental Protection
AL T BB AR FE R B T BE). He is now working as a professor in School of Environment, Tsinghua
University (75 # KB IR EPL), a member of Committee of Science and Technology in Ministry of
Environmental Protection and the director of State Environment Protection Engineering Center for



Technology Management and Evaluation. Mr. Wang has been engaged and experienced in the relevant
research, development and industrialization of sewage pollution control technologies and the
evaluation of policy-making over the years. Mr. Wang has unique and innovative opinions on the
academic study and has made many achievements and demonstration cases on the hydrolysis aerobic
process theory, aerobic and anaerobic reactor theory and design, development and application of
sewage sludge treatment and disposal technologies, planning and management of state environment
protection administration system, etc. Mr. Wang also developed the research fields on municipal
sewage hydrolysis-aerobic treatment process, high performance anaerobic reactors, sewage sludge

treatment and disposal, livestock manure treatment and rural environmental protection in mainland
China.

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, aged 47, CPPCC National Committee, SBS JP, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Guarantor in July 2017. Dr. Lee was conferred the
Honorary Degree of Doctor of Laws in 2014 and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Science from
the University of British Columbia in Canada. Dr. Lee is the chairman of Lee & Man Paper
Manufacturing Limited, a company listed on main board of Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
2314). From 2004 to 2017, Dr. Lee was an independent non-executive director of the listed company,
Bossini International Holdings Limited (stock code: 592), a company listed on main board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. Dr. Lee is currently involved in a number of public engagements and has been
awarded honorary citizenship of Dongguan and reputational citizenship of Changshu. Dr. Lee was
awarded the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2002” and received an award for “2003 Hong
Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons Selection Awardees”. Since December 2013, Dr. Lee was
appointed as the member of Standing Committee, All-China Federation of Returned Overseas. In 2015,
Dr. Lee was appointed as member of Council of City University of Hong Kong. Dr. Lee is currently
appointed as president of Centum Charitas Foundation. Dr. Lee has over 24 years of operational
experience in paper manufacturing and is experienced in professional formula of paper making and
product development.



TAXATION

The following summary of certain British Virgin Islands, Bermuda, PRC and Hong Kong tax
consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of Bonds is based upon applicable laws,
regulations, rulings and decisions in effect as at the date of this Offering Circular, all of which are
subject to change (possibly with retroactive effect). This discussion does not purport to be a
comprehensive description of all the tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to purchase,
own or dispose of the Bonds and does not purport to deal with consequences applicable to all
categories of investors, some of which may be subject to special rules. Persons considering the
purchase of Bonds should consult their own tax advisers concerning the tax consequences of the
purchase, ownership and disposition of Bonds.

British Virgin Islands

As the Issuer is incorporated pursuant to the BVI Business Companies Act, 2004 (as amended) (the
“BVI BC Act”) of the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), (i) payment of principal, premium (if any)
and interest in respect of the Bonds will not be subject to taxation in the BVI, (ii) no income or other
tax of the BVI imposed by withholding will be required to be deducted by the Issuer on such payments
to any holder of a Bond, and (iii) the Bonds will not be liable to stamp duty in the BVI on the
assumption that the Issuer and its subsidiaries (if any) do not own an interest in any land in the BVI.

Gains derived from the sale of the Bonds by persons who are not otherwise liable to BVI income tax
will not be subject to BVI income tax. No estate, inheritance, succession or gift tax, rate, duty, levy
or other charge is payable by persons who are not persons resident in the BVI with respect to any debt
obligations of the Issuer, including the Bonds.

Bermuda

Under current Bermuda legislation, there is no withholding tax, capital gains tax, income or profits
tax, capital transfer tax, estate duty or inheritance tax payable in Bermuda by the Guarantor or its
shareholders other than shareholders ordinarily resident in Bermuda.

As an exempted company, the Guarantor is exempt from all stamp duties except on transactions
involving “Bermuda property”. This term relates essentially to real and personal property physically
situated in Bermuda, including shares in local (as opposed to exempted) companies.

None of the Guarantor, its shareholders or the holders of the Bonds, as the case may be (other than
persons ordinarily resident in Bermuda), are subject to stamp duty or other similar duty on the issue
or transfer of the Bonds.

PRC

The following summary describes the principal PRC tax consequences of ownership of the Bonds by
beneficial owners who, or which, are not residents of mainland China for PRC tax purposes. These
beneficial owners are referred to as (a) non-PRC Bondholders, or (b) beneficial owners who are
entities or individuals located outside of the PRC in this “Taxation — PRC” section. In considering
whether to invest in the Bonds, investors should consult their individual tax advisers with regard to
the application of PRC tax laws to their particular situations as well as any tax consequences arising
under the laws of any other tax jurisdiction. Reference is made to PRC taxes from the taxable year
beginning on or after 1 January 2008.

Income Tax

Pursuant to the EIT Law and its implementation regulations and Individual Income Tax Law of the
PRC, which was amended on 30 June 2011 and took effect on 1 September 2011, and its



implementation regulations, an income tax is imposed on payment of interest by way of withholding
in respect of debt securities, issued by PRC enterprises to non-PRC Bondholders, including non-PRC
resident enterprises and non-PRC resident individuals. The current rates of such income tax are 10 per
cent. for non-PRC resident enterprises and 20 per cent. for non-PRC resident individuals.

Pursuant to the EIT Law and its implementation regulations, an enterprise established under the laws
of foreign countries and regions (including Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan) with “de facto
management bodies” within the territory of the PRC is considered a “PRC tax resident enterprise” for
PRC enterprise income tax purposes and must pay PRC enterprise income tax at the rate of 25 per cent,
in respect of their taxable income. If relevant PRC tax authorities decide, in accordance with
applicable tax rules and regulations, that the “de facto management body” of the Issuer is within the
territory of the PRC, the Issuer may be held to be a PRC tax resident enterprise for the purpose of the
EIT Law and be subject to PRC enterprise income tax at the rate of 25 per cent, on its taxable income.

As confirmed by the Issuer, as at the date of this Offering Circular, the Issuer has not been given notice
or informed by the PRC tax authorities that it is considered as a PRC tax resident enterprise for the
purpose of the EIT Law.

However, there is no assurance that the Issuer will not be treated as a PRC resident enterprise under
the EIT Law and related implementation regulation in the future. Pursuant to the EIT Law and its
implementation regulations, any non-resident enterprise without an establishment within the PRC or
whose income has no connection to its establishment inside the PRC must pay enterprise income tax
on income sourced within the PRC, and such income tax must be withheld at source by the PRC payer
acting as a withholding agent, who must withhold the tax amount from each payment. Accordingly, in
the event the Issuer is deemed to be a PRC tax resident enterprise by the PRC tax authorities in the
future, the Issuer may be required to withhold income tax from the payments of interest in respect of
the Bonds to any non-PRC Bondholder, and gain from the disposition of the Bonds may be subject to
PRC tax, if the income or gain is treated as PRC-source. The tax rate is generally 10 per cent, for
non-resident enterprise Bondholders without an establishment within the PRC or whose incomes have
no connection to its establishment inside the PRC and 20 per cent., for non-resident individuals, unless
a lower rate is available under an applicable tax treaty.

In addition, if the Guarantor is regarded as a PRC tax resident enterprise, in the event that the
Guarantor is required to discharge its obligations under the Guarantee, the Guarantor will be obliged
to withhold PRC enterprise income tax at the rate up to 10 per cent., subject to the application of any
relevant income tax treaty that the PRC has entered into, on the payments of interest made by it under
the Guarantee to non-PRC resident enterprise Bondholders as such interest payment obligations will
be regarded as being derived from sources within the PRC. To the extent that the PRC has entered into
arrangements relating to the avoidance of double-taxation with any jurisdiction, such as Hong Kong,
that allow a lower rate of withholding tax, such lower rate may apply to qualified non-PRC resident
enterprise Bondholders. Nevertheless, repayment of the principal will not be subject to PRC
withholding tax.

Non-PRC resident Bondholders will not be subject to the PRC tax on any capital gains derived from
a sale or exchange of Bonds consummated outside mainland China between non-PRC Bondholders,
except however, if the Issuer is treated as a PRC tax resident enterprise under the EIT Law and related
implementation regulations in the future, any gain realised by the non-PRC enterprise Bondholders
from the transfer of the Bonds may be regarded as being derived from sources within the PRC and
accordingly would be subject to PRC withholding tax at a rate of up to 10 per cent., subject to the
application of any relevant income tax treaty that the PRC has entered into.

Value-add Tax (“VAT”)

On 23 March 2016, the Ministry of Finance and the SAT issued the Circular 36 which confirms that
business tax will be completely replaced by VAT from 1 May 2016. Since then, the income derived
from the provision of financial services which attracted business tax will be entirely replaced by, and
subject to, VAT.
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According to Circular 36, the entities and individuals providing the services within China shall be
subject to VAT. The services are treated as being provided within China where either the service
provider or the service recipient is located in China. The services subject to VAT include the provision
of financial services such as the provision of loans. It is further clarified under Circular 36 that the
“loans” refers to the activity of lending capital for another’s use and receiving the interest income
thereon. Although the issuance of the Bonds is likely to be treated as financial services for VAT
purposes, Circular 36 stipulates that services are treated as being provided within the PRC where
either the service provider or the service recipient is located in the PRC. In connection with the issue
of the Bonds, none of the Issuer or the Bondholders is located in the PRC. There is no assurance that
the issuance of the Bonds will not be treated as financial services for VAT purpose. If the issuance of
Bonds is treated as the Bondholders providing financing services within the PRC by the relevant tax
authorities, the holders of the Bonds shall be subject to VAT at the rate of 6 per cent. when receiving
the interest payments under the Bonds. In addition, the holders of the Bonds shall be subject to the
local levies generally at approximately 12 per cent. of the VAT payment and consequently, the
combined rate of VAT and local levies would be generally around 6.72 per cent.. Given that the Issuer
or the Guarantor (if the Guarantor is required to discharge its obligations under the Guarantee) pays
interest income to Bondholders who are located outside of the PRC, the Issuer or the Guarantor acting
as the obligatory withholder in accordance with applicable law, shall withhold VAT and local levies
from the payment of interest income to Bondholders who are located outside of the PRC.

Where a holder of the Bonds who is an entity or individual located outside of the PRC resells the
Bonds to an entity or individual located outside of the PRC and derives any gain, since neither the
service provider nor the service recipient is located in the PRC, theoretically Circular 36 does not
apply to any transfer of the Bonds. However, there is uncertainty as to the applicability of VAT if
either the seller or buyer of Bonds is located inside the PRC.

Circular 36 has been issued quite recently, the above statement may be subject to further change upon
the issuance of further clarification rules and/or different interpretation by the competent tax
authority. There is uncertainty as to the application of Circular 36.

Pursuant to the EIT Law and the VAT reform detailed above, if the Guarantor is regarded as a PRC
tax resident enterprise, the Guarantor shall withhold EIT (should such tax apply) from the payments
of interest in respect of the Bonds for any non-PRC-resident Bondholder and the Guarantor shall
withhold income tax or VAT (should such tax apply) from the payments of interest in respect of the
Bonds for any Bondholders located outside of the PRC. However, in the event that the Guarantor is
required to make such a deduction or withholding (whether by way of EIT, VAT or otherwise), the
Guarantor has agreed to pay such additional amounts as will result in receipt by the Bondholders of
such amounts after such withholding or deduction as would have been received by them had no such
withholding or deduction been required. For more information, see “Terms and Conditions of the
Bonds — Condition 8 (Taxation)”.

Stamp Duty

No PRC stamp duty will be imposed on non-PRC Bondholders either upon issuance of the Bonds or
upon a subsequent transfer of Bonds to the extent that the register of holders of the Bonds is
maintained outside the PRC and the issuance and the sale of the Bonds is made outside of the PRC.

Hong Kong

Withholding tax

No withholding tax in Hong Kong is payable on payments of principal or interest with respect to the
Bonds or in respect of any capital arising from the sale of Bonds.



Profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax is chargeable on every person carrying on a trade, profession or business in
Hong Kong in respect of profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong from such trade, profession or
business (excluding profits arising from the sale of capital assets).

Under the Inland Revenue Ordinance (Cap. 112) of Hong Kong (the “Inland Revenue Ordinance”)
as it is currently applied by the Inland Revenue Department, interest on the Bonds may be deemed to
be profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong from a trade, profession or business carried in Hong
Kong in the following circumstances:

(1) interest on the Bonds is received by or accrues to a financial institution (as defined in the Inland
Revenue Ordinance) and arises through or from the carrying on by the financial institution of its
business in Hong Kong; or

(2) interest on the Bonds is derived from Hong Kong and is received by or accrues to a company
(other than a financial institution) carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong; or

(3) interest on the Bonds is derived from Hong Kong and is received by or accrues to a person, other
than a company (such as a partnership), carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong
and is in respect of the funds of the trade, profession or business.

Sums derived from the sale, disposal or redemption of the Bonds will be subject to Hong Kong profits
tax where received by or accrued to a person, other than a financial institution, from the carrying on
of a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong and the sum has a Hong Kong source. The source of
such sum will generally be determined by having regard to the manner in which the Bonds are acquired
or disposed of.

Sums received by or accrued to a financial institution by way of gains or profits arising through or
from the carrying on by the financial institution of its business in Hong Kong from the sale, disposal
and redemption of the Bonds will be subject to profits tax.

Stamp duty

No Hong Kong stamp duty will be chargeable for the issue and transfer of the Bonds.

Estate duty

No Hong Kong estate duty is payable in respect of the Bonds.

FATCA

Whilst the Bonds are in global form and held within the Clearing Systems, it is expected that FATCA
will not affect the amount of any payments made under, or in respect of, the Bonds by the Issuer, any
paying agent and the Clearing Systems, given that each of the entities in the payment chain between
the Issuer and the participants in the Clearing Systems is a major financial institution whose business
is dependent on compliance with FATCA and that any alternative approach introduced under an
intergovernmental agreement will be unlikely to affect the Bonds. The Issuer’s obligations under the
Bonds are discharged once it has paid the common depositary for the Clearing Systems (as registered
holder of the Bonds) and the Issuer has therefore no responsibility for any amount thereafter
transmitted through hands of the Clearing Systems and custodians or intermediaries. The
documentation expressly contemplates the possibility that the Bonds may go into definitive form and
therefore that they may be taken out of the Clearing Systems. If this were to happen, then a



non-FATCA compliant holder could be subject to withholding tax. However, definitive Bonds will
only be printed in remote circumstances. Further, foreign financial institutions in a jurisdiction which
has entered into an intergovernmental agreement (“IGA”) are generally not expected to be required
to withhold under FATCA or an IGA (or any law implementing an IGA) from payments they make.

Bondholders should consult their own advisers about the application of FATCA, in particular if they
may be classified as financial institutions under the FATCA rules.
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

The Issuer and the Guarantor have entered into a subscription agreement with the Joint Lead Managers
dated 2018 (the “Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which and subject to certain
conditions contained therein, the Issuer and the Guarantor have agreed to sell to the Joint Lead
Managers, and the Joint Lead Managers have severally but not jointly agreed to subscribe and pay for,
or to procure subscribers to subscribe and pay for, the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds
indicated in the following table.

Principal amount of the

Joint Lead Managers Bonds to be subscribed

(US$)
Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch. . ......... ... ... ... ... ......
Mizuho Securities Asia Limited . . . ... ........ .. ... .. it ..

The Subscription Agreement provides that the Issuer and the Guarantor will jointly and severally
indemnify the Joint Lead Managers against certain liabilities in connection with the offer and sale of
the Bonds. The Subscription Agreement provides that the obligations of the Joint Lead Managers are
subject to certain conditions precedent and entitles the Joint Lead Managers to terminate it in certain
circumstances prior to payment being made to the Issuer.

The Joint Lead Managers and/or their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions
engaged in various activities, which may include securities trading, commercial and investment
banking, financial advisory, investment management, principal investment, hedging, financing and
brokerage activities (“Banking Services or Transactions”). The Joint Lead Managers and their
respective affiliates have, from time to time, performed, and may in the future perform, various
Banking Services or Transactions with the Issuer and the Guarantor, for which they have received or
will receive customary fees and expenses.

The Joint Lead Managers and their respective affiliates may purchase the Bonds and allocate the
Bonds for asset management and/or proprietary purposes but not with a view to distribution. Such
entities may hold or sell such Bonds or purchase further Bonds for their own account in the secondary
market or deal in any other securities of the Issuer or the Guarantor, and therefore, they may offer or
sell the Bonds or other securities otherwise than in connection with the offering of the Bonds.
Accordingly, references herein to the Bonds being ‘offered’ should be read as including any offering
of the Bonds to the Joint Lead Managers and/or their respective affiliates, for their own account. Such
entities are not expected to disclose such transactions or the extent of any such investment, otherwise
than in accordance with any legal or regulatory obligation to do so. Furthermore, it is possible that
only a limited number of investors may subscribe for a significant proportion of the Bonds. If this is
the case, liquidity of trading in the Bonds may be constrained. See “Risk Factors — Risks relating to
the Bonds and the Guarantee — A trading market for the Bonds may not develop”. Each of the Issuer,
the Guarantor and each Joint Lead Manager is under no obligation to disclose the extent of the
distribution of the Bonds amongst individual investors.

In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the Joint Lead Managers and their respective
affiliates make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or
related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account
and for the accounts of their customers, and may at any time hold long and short positions in such
securities and instruments. Such investment and securities activities may involve securities and
instruments of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor, including the Bonds. Certain of the Joint Lead
Managers or their affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer and/or the Guarantor



routinely hedge their credit exposure to the Issuer and/or the Guarantor consistent with their
customary risk management policies. Typically, such Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates would
hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit
default swaps or the creation of short positions in the Issuer’s and/or the Guarantor’s securities,
including potentially the Bonds offered hereby. Any such short positions could adversely affect future
trading prices of the Bonds offered hereby. The Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates may make
investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views (positive or
negative) in respect of the Bonds or other financial instruments of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor, and
may recommend to their clients that they acquire long and/or short positions in the Bonds or other
financial instruments.

In connection with the issue of the Bonds, any Joint Lead Manager as a Stabilising Manager or any
person acting on behalf of the Stabilising Manager may, to the extent permitted by applicable laws,
over-allot the Bonds or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Bonds at
a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail, but in so doing, the Stabilising Manager or any
person acting on behalf of the Stabilising Manager shall act as principal and not as agent of the Issuer
or the Guarantor. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilising Manager or any person acting on
behalf of the Stabilising Manager will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may
begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the Bonds is made and,
if begun, may be ended at any time, but in no case later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date
of the Bonds and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the Bonds. Any loss or profit sustained as
a consequence of any such over-allotment or stabilisation shall be for the account of the Joint Lead
Managers.

General

The distribution of this Offering Circular or any offering material and the offering, sale or delivery
of the Bonds are subject to restrictions and may not be made except pursuant to registration with or
authorisation by the relevant securities regulatory authorities or an exemption therefrom. Therefore,
persons who may come into possession of this Offering Circular or any offering material are advised
to consult with their own legal advisors as to what restrictions may be applicable to them and to
observe such restrictions. This Offering Circular may not be used for the purpose of an offer or
invitation in any circumstances in which such offer or invitation is not authorised.

No action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction by the Issuer, the Guarantor or Joint Lead
Managers that would or is intended to permit a public offering, or any other offering under
circumstances not permitted by applicable law, of the Bonds, or possession or distribution of this
Offering Circular, any amendment or supplement thereto issued in connection with the proposed resale
of the Bonds or any other offering or publicity material relating to the Bonds, in any country or
jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Persons into whose hands this Offering Circular
comes are required by the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Joint Lead Managers to comply with all
applicable laws and regulations in each country or jurisdiction in which they purchase, offer, sell or
deliver Bonds or have in their possession, distribute or publish this Offering Circular or any other
offering or publicity material relating to the Bonds, in all cases at their own expense.

If a jurisdiction requires that the offering be made by a licensed broker or dealer and the Joint Lead
Managers or any affiliate of them is a licensed broker or dealer in that jurisdiction, the offering shall
be deemed to be made by the Joint Lead Managers or such affiliate on behalf of the Issuer in such
jurisdiction.

United States
The Bonds and the Guarantee have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and
may not be offered or sold within the United States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a

transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Each Manager represents
that it has not offered or sold, and agrees that it will not offer or sell, any of the Bonds and Guarantee
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constituting part of its allotment within the United States except in accordance with Rule 903 of
Regulation S under the Securities Act. Accordingly, neither it, its affiliates, nor any persons acting on
its or their behalf have engaged or will engage in any directed selling efforts with respect to the Bonds
and the Guarantee. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S.

Each Manager represents and agrees that neither it nor any of its affiliates (as defined in Rule 501(b)
of Regulation D under the Securities Act (“Regulation D)), nor any person acting on its or their
behalf has engaged or will engage in any form of general solicitation or general advertising (within
the meaning of Regulation D) in connection with any offer and sale of the Bonds and the Guarantee
in the United States.

United Kingdom

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that:

(a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to
be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the
meaning of Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA™)) received
by it in connection with the issue or sale of the Bonds in circumstances in which Section 21(1)
of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer or the Guarantor; and

(b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to
anything done by it in relation to the Bonds in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

European Economic Area

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made
available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Bonds which are the subject of the
offering contemplated by this Offering Circular in relation thereto to any retail investor in the
European Economic Area. For the purposes of this provision:

a) the expression “retail investor” means a person who is one (or more) of the following:

1. a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or

ii.  a customer within the meaning of IMD, as amended, where that customer would not qualify
as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II.

Hong Kong

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that:

(a) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document,
any Bonds other than (i) to “professional investors” as defined in the SFO and any rules made
under that Ordinance; or (ii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being
a “prospectus” as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the
meaning of that Ordinance; and
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(b) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in
its possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement,
invitation or document relating to the Bonds, which is directed at, or the contents of which are
likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the
securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to the Bonds which are or are intended to
be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to “professional investors” as defined
in the SFO and any rules made under that Ordinance.

The People’s Republic of China

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that the Bonds are not being offered or sold and
may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in the People’s Republic of China (for such purposes,
not including the Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative Regions or Taiwan), except as
permitted by the securities laws of the People’s Republic of China.

Singapore

Each Joint Lead Manager acknowledges that the Offering Circular has not and will not be registered
as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Manager represents and
agrees that it has not offered or sold any Bonds or caused such Bonds to be made the subject of an
invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell such Bonds or cause such Bonds to
be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed,
nor will it circulate or distribute, the Offering Circular or any other document or material in
connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of such Bonds, whether
directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor under Section
274 of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore (the “SFA”), (ii) to a relevant person
pursuant to Section 275(1), or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the
conditions, specified in Section 275 of the SFA, or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with
the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

British Virgin Islands

Each Manager represents, warrants and undertakes that the Bonds may not be offered or sold, and will
not be offered or sold, to the public in the British Virgin Islands.

Bermuda
Each Manager represents, warrants and agrees that it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell,

any Bonds to any person, firm or company regarded as a resident of Bermuda for exchange control
purpose and will procure that any purchaser of the Bonds from it will comply with such prescription.

— 91 —



GENERAL INFORMATION

Clearing System: The Bonds have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and
Clearstream under Common Code 180535748 and the International Securities Identification
Number for the Bonds is XS1805357487. The Legal Entity Identifier of the Issuer is
3003009FUTGWDC8CUKS9.

Listing of Bonds: Application will be made to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the listing of,
and permission to deal in, the Bonds by way of debt issues to Professional Investors only. It is
expected that dealing in, and listing of, the Bonds on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange will
commence on 2018.

Authorisations: The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in
connection with the issue and performance of its obligations under the Bonds, the Trust Deed and
the Agency Agreement. The Guarantor has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and
authorisations in connection with the giving and performance of its obligations under the
Guarantee, the execution of the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement. The issue of the Bonds
was authorised by resolutions of the board of directors of the Issuer dated 4 April 2018 and the
giving of the Guarantee by the Guarantor was authorised by resolutions of the board of directors
of the Guarantor on 4 April 2018.

NDRC Approval: Pursuant to the NDRC Annual Quota, the NDRC granted an annual foreign
debt amount to Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited and the Issuer is authorised by
Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited to issue foreign debts without obtaining the
pre-issuance registration certificate under the NDRC Circular. The Issuer is required to make a
post-issuance notification to the NDRC within 10 business days after the issuance of the foreign
debts.

No Material and Adverse Change: There has been no material adverse change, or any
development or event involving a prospective change, in the condition (financial or other),
prospects, results of operations or general affairs of the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Group since
31 December 2017.

Litigation: None of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any member of the Group is involved in any
litigation or arbitration proceedings which could have a material and adverse effect on their
business, results of operations and financial condition nor is the Issuer or the Guarantor aware
that any such proceedings are pending or threatened.

Available Documents: Copies of the Guarantor’s annual report for the years ended 31 December
2016 and 2017, the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Articles of Association of the Issuer
and the bye-laws of the Guarantor will be available for inspection from the Issue Date at the
Guarantor’s head office and principal place of business at Rooms 6706-07, 67th Floor, Central
Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong and, in the case of the Trust Deed and the Agency
Agreement, at the principal office of the Trustee (being as at the date of this Offering Circular
at One Canada Square, London E14 5AL, United Kingdom) during normal business hours
following prior written request and proof of holding satisfactory to the Trustee, so long as any
of the Bonds is outstanding. The Guarantor prepares and publishes an annual report every year
and an interim report semi-annually. Copies of the Guarantor’s annual report and interim report
in respect of the latest year and period can be obtained from its corporate website.

Audited Financial Statements: The Guarantor’s audited consolidated financial statements as at
and for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017, which are included elsewhere in this
Offering Circular, have been audited by Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants registered
in Hong Kong, as stated in its report appearing herein.
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

e
EY:x

To the shareholders of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 81 to 226, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide

the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Determination of fair value of contract revenue in respect of the construction services rendered

Revenue from the construction of sewage and reclaimed
water treatment and water distribution plants under
the terms of Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”) contracts
represented approximately 31% of total revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2017 and was accounted for
under HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 12 Service Concession
Arrangements. The revenue was estimated on a cost-
plus basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of
profit margin at the date of the agreement applicable to
similar construction services rendered in a similar location.
The Group engaged an external valuer to support their
estimation of the gross profit margin for the construction
revenue. Significant management judgement was involved
in determining the construction margins for these
construction services.

Disclosure of the determination of the fair value of
construction contract revenue is included in note 4 to the
financial statements.

As part of our audit procedures, we have considered the
objectivity, independence and competency of the external
valuer employed by the Group. In addition, we have
involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us to
assess the reasonableness of the bases and assumptions
adopted in the valuation. Our procedures included
discussions with management and the external valuer about
the parameters used in estimating the Group’s construction
margins, including the benchmarks made to other
comparable companies. We also performed a comparison of
the inputs used in the valuation to external market data.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuea)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Determination of the provision for impairment of receivables under service concession arrangements, amounts due from

contract customers, trade receivables and other receivables

The Group has significant receivables under service
concession arrangements, trade and other receivables and
amounts due from contract customers for an aggregate
amount of HK$65.0 billion which represented 65% of the
Group's total assets as at 31 December 2017.

Significant management judgement was required in
determining the adequacy of provisions against these
balances (if any), with reference to the ageing profile,
background, current creditworthiness and repayment
history of these debtors.

Disclosures of the provision for impairment of receivables
under service concession arrangements, trade and other
receivables and amounts due from contract customers are
included in notes 4, 17, 25, 26 and 27 of the financial
statements.
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We assessed the Group’s processes and controls relating
to the monitoring of receivables under service concession
arrangements, trade and other receivables and amounts
due from contract customers to identify impairment
indicators.

For the material receivables under service concession
arrangements, trade and other receivable and amounts
due from contract customers balances, we evaluated
if a provision was required. Our procedures included
obtaining direct confirmations, consideration of whether
the balances were overdue, the debtor’s historical payment
patterns and whether any post year-end payment had
been received up to the date of completing our audit
procedures. We also obtained corroborative evidence
including correspondence between the parties involved,
progress made by management to recover the outstanding
amounts, pledges from the debtors and the credit status of
these debtors where available. For the remaining balances,
we also considered whether a provision was required, after
taking into account factors such as the nature, ageing and
movement during the year.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuea)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Goodwill impairment testing

Management is required to test goodwill for impairment on
an annual basis. This test is largely based on management
expectations, assumptions and estimates of future results
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill has
been allocated. The Group engaged an external valuer to
prepare the valuation models to assist with the impairment
assessment. The assumptions are affected by expectations
of future market or economic conditions. The impairment
test is based on the recoverable amounts of the relevant
cash-generating units, which is compared with their
respective carrying values. As at 31 December 2017, the
goodwill carried in the Group's financial statements was
HK$3.3 billion.

Disclosures of goodwill are included in notes 4 and 16 to
the financial statements.

We involved our internal valuation specialists in evaluating
the valuation models, assumptions and parameters used
by the valuer and the Group, giving particular attention to
the estimated future revenues and results. Our procedures
included testing the assumptions used in the cash flow
forecast and assessing the accuracy of previous forecasts by
comparison with the current performance. We also assessed
the disclosures on the impairment testing, specifically
the key assumptions that have the most significant effect
on the determination of the recoverable amount of the
goodwill, such as the discount rate and growth rate.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form

of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEM ENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEM ENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr. Tsang Chiu Hang.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

28 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

REVENUE 6 21,192,372 17,354,833
Cost of sales (14,727,848) (11,569,994)
Gross profit 6,464,524 5,784,839
Interest income 6 280,989 202,887
Other income and gains, net 6 1,006,587 1,121,589
Administrative expenses (1,753,221) (1,537,747)
Other operating expenses, net (343,336) (311,068)
PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 7 5,655,543 5,260,500
Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments 39,554 410,039
Finance costs 8 (1,457,988) (1,401,329)
Share of profits and losses of:

Joint ventures 19(g) 521,629 192,172

Associates 20(h) 556,578 182,373
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 5,315,316 4,643,755
Income tax expense 11 (874,772) (970,773)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 4,440,544 3,672,982
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Shareholders of the Company 3,717,227 3,227,013

Holders of perpetual capital instruments 240,291 56,570

Non-controlling interests 483,026 389,399

4,440,544 3,672,982

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13

— Basic HK42.42 cents HK37.04 cents

- Diluted HK41.53 cents HK36.27 cents
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 4,440,544 3,672,982
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
Items to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange fluctuation reserve:
— Translation of foreign operations 2,285,123 (2,716,107)
— Release upon disposal of subsidiaries 46 (12,478) 65,572
Loss on revaluation of available-for-sale investments (93,694) -
2,178,951 (2,650,535)
Item not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
— Gain on revaluation of a building upon transfer to
investment property 107,493 -
— Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of a joint venture 17,403 (14,606)
124,896 (14,606)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR,

NET OF INCOME TAX 2,303,847 (2,665,141)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 6,744,391 1,007,841
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Shareholders of the Company 5,365,065 1,216,828

Holders of perpetual capital instruments 614,259 (240,138)

Non-controlling interests 765,067 31,151

6,744,391 1,007,841

8 2 Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2017

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ASSETS
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 14 3,841,866 2,831,452
Investment properties 15 1,083,677 755,326
Goodwill 16 3,303,632 3,312,200
Operating concessions 17 4,190,771 3,389,996
Other intangible assets 18 101,899 61,936
Investments in joint ventures 19 6,468,569 3,294,613
Investments in associates 20 4,184,775 2,390,062
Available-for-sale investments 22 1,245,004 693,611
Amounts due from contract customers 25 15,059,884 16,204,380
Receivables under service concession arrangements 17 33,322,895 22,638,167
Trade receivables 26 1,731,053 1,347,108
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 27 2,115,819 2,046,779
Deferred tax assets 40 272,320 106,751
Total non-current assets 76,922,164 59,072,381
Current assets:
Non-current assets held for sale 23 330,052 141,345
Inventories 24 135,370 90,847
Amounts due from contract customers 25 875,721 1,100,669
Receivables under service concession arrangements 17 2,614,866 1,933,078
Trade receivables 26 2,852,976 3,024,152
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 27 6,744,944 4,415,085
Derivative financial instruments 21 - 214,150
Restricted cash and pledged deposits 29 46,150 134,526
Cash and cash equivalents 29 9,938,829 10,921,037
Total current assets 23,538,908 21,974,889
TOTAL ASSETS 100,461,072 81,047,270
B B Ve PRI 83
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2017

2017 2016
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company
Issued capital 30 879,382 873,787
Reserves 32 19,905,341 15,627,355
20,784,723 16,501,142
Perpetual capital instruments 33 6,623,082 6,305,025
Non-controlling interests 5,633,518 3,961,173
12,256,600 10,266,198
TOTAL EQUITY 33,041,323 26,767,340
Non-current liabilities:
Other payables and accruals 42 570,507 344,625
Bank and other borrowings 34 21,443,596 16,662,637
Corporate bonds 35 10,495,364 11,663,212
Notes payable 36 3,074,932 2,939,743
Finance lease payables 37 395,461 40,906
Provision for major overhauls 38 207,426 187,759
Deferred income 39 1,435,088 135,115
Deferred tax liabilities 40 2,103,997 1,691,342
Total non-current liabilities 39,726,371 33,665,339
Current liabilities:
Trade payables 41 11,687,517 9,842,824
Other payables and accruals 42 6,769,636 5,234,492
Income tax payables 693,648 672,844
Bank and other borrowings 34 4,689,344 4,812,255
Corporate bonds 35 3,750,484 -
Finance lease payables 37 102,749 52,176
Total current liabilities 27,693,378 20,614,591
TOTAL LIABILITIES 67,419,749 54,279,930
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 100,461,072 81,047,270
Li Yongcheng Zhou Min
Director Director

84 Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2017

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Share Share Property Defined  Exchange PRC Perpetual Non-
Issued ~ premium option Capital ~ revaluation benefitplan fluctuation reseve  Retained capital  controlling Total
capital account resenve Teserve Teserve resene resenve funds profits Total  instruments interests equity
Notes— HKSUOO — HK$ 000 HKS000  HKSO00  HKSUOO  HKSOOD  HKSUOO  HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HKSUOO  HKSO00  HKSUOO  HK$OO0
(note 326)) (note 321c))
At 1 January 2016 872,295 4,878,170 258791 (231,487) 14989 (49536 (827,735) 719718 6,966,869 16,183,833 - 4106582 20,290415
Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 322,013 3227013 56570 389399 3672982
Other comprehensive incomel(loss) for the year:
Exchange differences related to
foreign operations - - - - - - (2,061,151) - - (2061,151)  (296,708)  (358,248) (2,716,107)
Release upon disposal of subsidiaries 46 - - - - - - 65,572 - - 65,572 - - 65,572
Share of other comprehensive loss of
a joint venture - - - - - (14,606) - - - (14,606) - - (14,606)
Total comprehensive incomel(loss) for the year - - - - - (14,606)  (1,995,579) - 3227013 1216828  (240,138) 31,151 1,007,841
Equity-settled share option amangements 3lla) - - 40,935 - - - - - - 40,935 - - 40,935
Exercise of share options J06) 3422 102,053 (28,704) - - - - - - 76,771 - - 76,771
Shares repurchased and cancelled 30t (1930)  (80,181) - - - - - - - @ - - (@11
Acquisition of subsidiaries 45 - - - - - - - - - - - 621536 627536
Acquisition of non-controlling interests - - - (16,850) - - - - - (16,850) - (88,405)  (105,255)
Disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries - - - 14417 - - - - - 14417 - 8,635 23052
Share of reserves of an associate - - - 25216 - - - - - 25216 - - 25216
Disposal of subsidiaries 46 - - - - - - - - - - - (1,076,797) (1,076,797)
Divicends paid to non-controlling equity holders - - - - - - - - - - - (101,642)  (101,642)
Capital contributions from non-controlling
equity holders - - - - - - - - - - - 454113 454113
Issuance of perpetual capital instruments - - - - - - - - - - 6545163 - 6,545,163
Final 2015 cash distributions paid - - - - - - - - - (443948 - - (443948)
Interim 2016 cash distrioutions paid 7 - - - - - - - - - (513949 - - (513949
Transfer to reserves - - - - - - - 26953 (276953 - - - -
At 31 December 2016 873,787 4,900,042 271,022% (208,704 14989* (64,142 (2823314) 996,671 9916929" 16,501,142 6305025 3961173 26,767,340
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2017

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Available-
forsale
Share Share Property  investment Defined ~ Exchange PRC Perpetual Non-
Issied ~ premium  Contributed option Capital  revaluation revaluation ~benefit plan  fluctuation reseve  Retained capital  controlling Total
capital account surplus Teserve resenve Teserve Teserve resene resenve funds profits Total  instruments interests equity
Notes — HKSUOO — HKSO00 — HKSUOO — HKSUDOO — HKSDOO — HKSUOO  HKSUOO — HKSUOO — HKSO00  HKSUOO — HKSUOD  HKSUOO  HKSUOO  HKSDOO  HKSUOD
(note 321)) (note 32tc))
At 1 January 2017 873787 4900042 2623862 271022  (208704) 14989 - (B4142) (2823314) 996671 9916929 16501142 6305025 3961173 26,767,340
Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - - 3717221 371721 240291 483026 4,440,544
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year:
Exchange differences related to
foreign operations - - - - - - - - 1629114 - - 1629114 373968 282041 2,285,123
Release upon disposal of subsidiaries % - - - - - - - - (12478) - - (12478) - - (12478)
Share of other comprehensive gain of
a joint venture - - - - - - - 17,403 - - - 17,403 - - 17,403
Revaluation of available-for-sale
nvestments - - - - - - (93,6%) - - - - (936%) - - (93694)
(Gain on revaluation of a building upon
transfer to investment property i - - - - - 107493 - - - - - 107493 - - 107493
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year - - - - - 107493 (93694) 17,403 1616636 - 3717227 5365065 614259 765067 6,744,391
Equity-settled share option amangements 3/ - - - 19,903 - - - - - - - 19,903 - - 19,903
Exercise of share options 0@ 559% 168741 - (48,794) - - - - - - - 125542 - - 125542
Acquisition of subsidiaries 45 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 151519 151,519
Acquisition of non-controlling interests - - - - (5,291) - - - - - - (5,291) - (101) (5,392)
Share of reserves of an associate - - - 2,068 3,600 - - - - - - 5,668 - - 5,668
Disposal of subsidiaries % - - - - - - - - - - - - (20542)  (20,542)
Dividends paid to non-controlling
equity holders - - - - - - - - - - - - - (21393)  (21,393)
Capital contributions from
non-controlling equity holders - - - - - - - - - - - - - 1917%  797,1%
Distributions paid to perpetual
capital intruments holders 33 - - - - - - - - - - - - (29,202 - (296,202)
Final 2016 cash distributions paid - - (525407) - - - - - - - - (525,407 - - (525407)
Interim 2017 cash distrioutions paid r - - (701,899 - - - - - - - - (701,899) - - (701,899
Transfer to reserves - - - - - - - - - 61244 (261.244) - - - -
At 31 December 2017 879,382 5068783 1396556*  244199"  (210395)  122482*  (93694)  (46,739) (1,206678) 1257,915* 13372912 20,784,723 6,623,082 5633518 33041323
b These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$19,905,341,000 (2016: HK$15,627,355,000) in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
8 6 Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
Annual Report 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 5,315,316 4,643,755
Adjustments for:
Bank interest income 6 (169,375) (81,921)
Interest income on trade and other receivables
with extended credit periods 6 (96,253) (107,429)
Interest income on loans to government authorities
in Mainland China 6 (125) (5,152)
Interest income from non-controlling equity holders 6 (31) (3,179)
Interest income on loans to joint ventures 6 (8,214) (5,206)
Interest income on loans to an associate 6 (6,991) -

Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments (39,554) (410,039)

Fair value gain on investment properties 6 (12,862) (43,911)
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries 6 (9,273) (2,869)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries 7 45,746 (8,675)
Gain on disposal of joint ventures 6 (481) (6,439)
Gain on derecognition of financial assets 6 (60,101) -
Depreciation 7 209,016 147,312
Amortisation of operating concessions 7 182,960 147,097
Amortisation of other intangible assets 7 13,211 7,214
Impairment /(reversal of impairment) of receivables

under service concession arrangements, net 7 15,915 (6,445)
Impairment of amounts due from contract customers 7 19,236 5,964
Impairment of trade receivables, net 7 9,758 21,567
Impairment of other receivables, net 7 48,263 123,935
Provision for major overhauls 7 126,038 109,870
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 7 1,071 370
Write-off of items of other intangible assets 7 23 3,838
Equity-settled share option expenses 7 19,903 40,935
Finance costs 8 1,580,474 1,511,679
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures (521,629) (192,172)
Share of profits and losses of associates (556,578) (182,373)

B B Ve PRI 87
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

Operating profit before working capital changes 6,105,463 5,707,726
Increase in inventories (41,471) (50,010)
Increase in amounts due from contract customers (4,207,175) (5,783,687)
Increase in receivables under service concession arrangements (10,296,347) (5,312,722)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 85,015 (910,051)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (3,286,707) (2,198,843)
Increase in trade payables 4,012,497 4,468,447
Increase in other payables and accruals 1,560,830 2,031,920
Utilisation of provision for major overhauls 38 (105,585) (124,069)
Cash used in operations (6,173,480) (2,171,289)
Mainland China corporate income tax paid (513,624) (310,590)
Overseas taxes paid (27,328) (18,444)
Net cash flows used in operating activities (6,714,432) (2,500,323)

838
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (238,094) (377,796)
Additions of operating concessions 17 (917,124) (649,130)
Additions of other intangible assets 18 (52,496) (36,178)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 45 (298,958) (683,572)
Disposal of subsidiaries 46 2,348,627 688,891
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries in prior years - 73,202
Proceeds from disposal of joint ventures 12,281 6,711
Decrease in loans to a joint venture - 58,882
Prepayments for the acquisition of subsidiaries (129,924) -
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 5,323 9,266
Acquisition of/increase in investments in joint ventures (1,504,940) (210,047)
Acquisition of/increase in investments in associates (748,206) (642,939)
Additions of available-for-sale investments (640,074) (545,533)
Proceed from disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries - 23,052
Proceed from derecognition of financial assets 2,298,852 -
Increase in time deposits with maturity of more than

three months when acquired (730,305) (661)
Decrease in restricted cash and pledged deposits 88,376 134,663
Dividends received from joint ventures 222,617 40,546
Bank interest received 169,375 81,921
Net cash flows used in investing activities (114,670) (2,028,722)

B B Ve PRI 89
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital contributions from non-controlling equity holders 797,795 454,113
Acquisition of non-controlling interests (5,392) (105,255)
Issue of corporate bonds 2,308,339 8,008,270
Repayment of corporate bonds (388,358) (748,482)
Net proceeds from issuance of perpetual capital instruments 33 - 6,545,163
Distributions to holders of perpetual capital instruments 33 (238,960) -
New bank and other borrowings 17,064,735 12,406,204
Repayment of bank and other borrowings (12,685,448) (14,525,454)
Proceeds from exercise of share options 125,542 76,771
Proceeds received under sale and leaseback transactions 406,977 -
Shares repurchased - (82,111)
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (15,461) (13,737)
Interest paid (1,539,951) (1,483,107)
Interest element of finance lease rental payments (8,848) (4,091)
Distributions paid (1,227,306) (957,897)
Dividends paid to non-controlling equity holders (21,393) (101,642)
Increase in bank deposits that require approval of a bank
for any withdrawal (603,874) -
Net cash flows from financing activities 3,968,397 9,468,745
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,860,705) 4,939,700
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 10,912,243 6,365,698
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 544,318 (393,155)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 8,595,856 10,912,243
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position 29 9,938,829 10,921,037
Less: Time deposits with maturity of more than three months when
acquired (739,099) (8,794)
Less: Bank deposits that require approval of a bank for any withdrawal 29(c) (603,874) -
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated statement of
cash flows 8,595,856 10,912,243

9 O Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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NOTES TO

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2017

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda and
shares of which are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) were involved in the following principal

activities:

° construction of sewage and reclaimed water treatment and seawater desalination plants, and provision of
construction services for comprehensive renovation projects in the mainland (“Mainland China”) of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Malaysia;

° provision of sewage and reclaimed water treatment services in Mainland China, the Republic of Singapore
(“Singapore”) and the Portuguese Republic (“Portugal”);

° distribution and sale of piped water in Mainland China and Portugal;

° provision of technical and consultancy services and sale of machineries related to sewage treatment and
construction services for comprehensive renovation projects in Mainland China; and

° licensing of technical know-how related to sewage treatment in Mainland China.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of incorporation/ Percentage of

registration and Issued ordinary/ equity attributable  Principal
Company name operations registered share capital to the Company activities

Direct Indirect

AR R EER A PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
RIEEERBEBRAA PRC/Mainland China RMB70,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
BERRKEKFEBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
BMFESKEEERAH PRC/Mainland China RMB85,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
AR R IR EBR DA PRC/Mainland China RMB8,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
REBERARAFKFEBRAA PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
EEBATRKEKFLERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
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NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2017

O

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continuea)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued ordinary/ equity attributable  Principal
Company name operations registered share capital to the Company activities
Direct Indirect
EERRBOTKFLBRAA PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
B BRI 5K L BRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
BMTBEERRKEKFHEERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB55,500,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
REERP R AOFEBRAA PRC/Mainland China RMB27,600,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
SHER R IOREBR DA PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
BRERRBKEFLBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
ZMARREFIOFEBRAA PRC/Mainland China RMB28,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
BT = KR RIPKEF(LBRAA  PRC/Mainland China RMB76,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
AMFIEEF AL BB AR PRC/Mainland China HK$85,630,000 100 ~ Sewage treatment
BEMIEKBEERAE PRC/Mainland China RMB26,500,000 - 60 Sewage treatment
BEILEKEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
REAZBIEKBERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB53,090,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
EERIEWRKEF L ARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB91,380,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
HKBEE (BE)ERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 90 Sewage treatment
BEFRKEBRAA? PRC/Mainland China HK$20,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
BERBEMILIESKFLERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB56,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
WK EERA A PRC/Mainland China RMB127,178,541 80 — Sewage treatment and
reclaimed water treatment
BREEEIEKBERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB33,184,898 - 80 Sewage treatment and water

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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NOTES TO

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2017

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued ordinary/ equity attributable  Principal
Company name operations registered share capital to the Company activities
Direct Indirect
Be Water S.A. Portugal €11,987,000 - 100 Sewage treatment and water
distribution

R EEKE L RERERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB26,360,000 - 100 Reclaimed water treatment
RELZEEHBREER A PRC/Mainland China RMB852,750,000 - 68.5 Construction services and

(“Beikong Shudu”) sewage treatment
TRETREEBRERER A PRC/Mainland China RMB690,000,000 - 60 Construction services and

(“BCEG Environmental”) investment holding
BEWG (M) Sdn Bhd Malaysia MYR75,000,000 - 100 Construction services
BRRERERRIEERAF" PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 70 Construction services
ERRERBERER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 - 70 Construction services
I OB ) KR EREERAFC PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 - 100 Construction services
LR EERKREAEER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 - 100 Construction services
B EACREREER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 70 Construction services
EERRERTIEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB80,000,000 - 60 Construction services
EMLEREKBERAH PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 83.8 Water distribution
BRIKBERRAF PRC/Mainland China RMB50,236,000 80 ~ Water distribution
EEERTIKERATY PRC/Mainland China US$11,960,000 - 100 Water distribution
BEWGI-UE NEWater (S) Pte Ltd Singapore SGD100,000 - 80 Reclaimed water treatment
FMZFHKBR AT PRC/Mainland China US$6,600,000 - 100 Water distribution
EREEBIIZKBRRER 27 PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100 Waste treatment
AR RIRREEER A PRC/Mainland China RMB417,969,071 - 100 Consultancy services and

investment holding

HRAMMRREHERERETAR PRC/Mainland China RMB60,000,000 - 99.172 Consultancy services
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NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2017

94

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continuea)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued ordinary/ equity attributable  Principal
Company name operations registered share capital to the Company activities
Direct Indirect
IR (R E) R EBRR AR PRC/Mainland China US$500,000,000 100 — Investment holding and
consultancy services
ERtEkBERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB180,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
R EBRKERERRAT PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
i (811 ) K BEB AT PRC/Mainland China RMB65,000,000 - 70 Sewage treatment
B EKBERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
Ib#E ORl5) K BERERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB800,000,000 - 70 Sewage treatment
BEREBLEKEERRA PRC/Mainland China RMB78,330,000 - 70 Water distribution
SENRIKRFRBERDA PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 83 Construction services
REEBITRREKF BB AT PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
W NEAILEKEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB33,250,000/ - 100 Sewage treatment
RMB66,500,000
BZLRENKBARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB70,000,000 - 100 Water distribution
I RBEKEFCAERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000/ - 100 Reclaimed water treatment
RMB58,000,000
REmERKBEERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
M)l EZM T ERKERAF PRC/Mainland China RMB73,600,000 - 70 Water distribution
IEEEKEEEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB102,626,900 - 67 Water distribution
AMTKBEEEREEDA PRC/Mainland China RMB309,285,300 - 49 Water distribution
MRS KRR E AR A PRC/Mainland China RMB567,000,000 - 98 Construction services
2 CER) B5KFHEER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB166,330,000 - 100 Sewage treatment
HELEFKERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 80 Water distribution
ERTUKFIEN AR ARARE  PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 70 Consultancy service
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NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2017

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued ordinary/ equity attributable  Principal
Company name operations registered share capital to the Company activities
Direct Indirect
TFRIEICREREER AR’ PRC/Mainland China RMB93,340,000/ - 90 Construction services
RMB280,000,000
FELEKBERRA® PRC/Mainland China RMB407,200,000 - 45 Construction services and
water distribution
EMIEERRIEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB230,686,000/ - 90 Construction services
RMB362,000,000
NEERFKEABR A (“Mongolia”)?  PRC/Mainland China RMB177,100,000 - 67 Water distribution

These entities are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC Law

o Acquired/incorporated during the year

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Despite that the Group had net current liabilities of HK$4.2 billion and capital commitments of approximately
HK$18.3 billion (comprising the Group’s capital commitments and the Group’s share of joint ventures’ own capital
commitments) in aggregate as at 31 December 2017, as detailed in note 51 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group will have adequate funds available to enable it to operate as a
going concern, based on the Group’s cash flow projection which, inter alia, take into account the historical operating
performance of the Group and the following:

(@)  the existing banking facilities available to the Group as at 31 December 2017 and on the assumption that
such facilities will continue to be available from the Group’s principal bankers;

(b)  certain of the above-mentioned total capital commitments are expected to be fulfilled by the Group after 2018
with reference to the terms of respective agreements and the current status of the projects;

(c)  the completion of placement of new shares of HK$2,655 million before expense, in February 2018 further
details of which are disclosed in note 56 to the financial statements; and

(d)  the Company will consider equity financing when necessary.

Accordingly, these financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which assumes, inter alia, the
realisation of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business.
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The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties, available-for-sale listed equity investments and derivative financial instruments which have been
measured at fair value. The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the shareholders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All

intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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3.1

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continuea)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Clarification of the Scope
included in Annual Improvements to of HKFRS 12
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

None of the above amendments to HKFRSs has had a significant financial effect on these financial statements.
Disclosure has been made in note 47 to the financial statements upon the adoption of amendments to HKAS 7,
which require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 40

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

P

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions!

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts!

Financial Instruments?’

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*

Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

Leases?

Insurance Contracts?®

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures?

Transfers of Investment Property!

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28!

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

The actual impacts upon adoption could be different to those below, depending on additional reasonable and
supportable information being made available to the Group at the time of applying the standards and the transitional

provisions and policy options finally adopted.
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3.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)
The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 2 in August 2016 that address three main areas: the effects of vesting
conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-
based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding a certain amount in order to meet an
employee’s tax obligation associated with the share-based payment; and accounting where a modification to the
terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification from cash-settled to equity-
settled. The amendments clarify that the approach used to account for vesting conditions when measuring equity-
settled share-based payments also applies to cash-settled share-based payments. The amendments introduce an
exception so that a share-based payment transaction with net share settlement features for withholding a certain
amount in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation is classified in its entirety as an equity-settled share-based
payment transaction when certain conditions are met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that if the terms and
conditions of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction are modified, with the result that it becomes an equity-
settled share-based payment transaction, the transaction is accounted for as an equity-settled transaction from the
date of the modification. On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods,
but retrospective application is permitted if they elect to adopt for all three amendments and other criteria are
met. The Group will adopt the amendments from 1 January 2018. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The Group will adopt HKFRS
9 from 1 January 2018. The Group will not restate comparative information and will recognise any transition
adjustments against the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018. During 2017, the Group has performed a
detailed assessment of the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9. The expected impacts relate to the classification and
measurement and the impairment requirements and are summarised as follows:

(@) Classification and measurement
The Group expects to measure all available-for-sale investments at fair value. Equity investments currently held

as available for sale will be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income as the investments are
intended to be held for the foreseeable future and the Group expects to apply the option to present fair value
changes in other comprehensive income. Gains and losses recorded in other comprehensive income for the
equity investments cannot be recycled to profit or loss when the investments are derecognised.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

(b)  Impairment
HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are not
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss under HKFRS 9, to be recorded based on an expected credit
loss model either on a twelve-month basis or a lifetime basis. The Group will apply the simplified approach
and record lifetime expected losses that are estimated based on the present values of all cash shortfalls over
the remaining life of all of its trade receivables. Furthermore, the Group will apply the general approach and
record twelve-month expected credit losses that are estimated based on the possible default events on its other
receivables within the next twelve months.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was
removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the completion
of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now. The Group expects the adoption will have financial impact on the Group’s future transactions with its
associates and joint ventures.

HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts
with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS
15 provide a more structured approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also introduces
extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract asset and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs.
Either a full retrospective application or a modified retrospective adoption is required on the initial application of
the standard. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the implementation issues
on identifying performance obligations, application guidance on principal versus agent and licences of intellectual
property, and transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure a more consistent application when
entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and complexity of applying the standard. The Group plans to adopt
the transitional provisions in HKFRS 15 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2018. In addition, the Group plans to apply the new requirements
only to contracts that are not completed before 1 January 2018. The Group expects that the transitional adjustment
to be made on 1 January 2018 upon initial adoption of HKFRS 15 will not be material. However, the application of
HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more disclosures.
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3.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)
HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases - Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two elective recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-
term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e.,
the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the
right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to
a class of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently
increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be required
to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use
asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as
change in the lease term and change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to
determine those payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability
as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the
accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in
HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to
make more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019.
The Group is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon adoption and is considering whether it will choose
to take advantage of the practical expedients available and which transition approach and reliefs will be adopted.
As disclosed in note 50 to the financial statements, at 31 December 2017, the Group had future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in aggregate of approximately HK$175,704,000. Upon adoption
of HKFRS 16, certain amounts included therein may need to be recognised as new right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities. Further analysis, however, will be needed to determine the amount of new rights of use assets and lease
liabilities to be recognised, including, but not limited to, any amounts relating to leases of low-value assets and short
term leases, other practical expedients and reliefs chosen, and new leases entered into before the date of adoption.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 40, issued in April 2017, clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property
under construction or development, into or out of investment property. The amendments state that a change in use
occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of
the change in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of
a change in use. The amendments should be applied prospectively to the changes in use that occur on or after the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendments. An entity should reassess
the classification of property held at the date that it first applies the amendments and, if applicable, reclassify
property to reflect the conditions that exist at that date. Retrospective application is only permitted if it is possible
without the use of hindsight. The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2018. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, issued in June 2017, provides guidance on how to determine the date of the transaction when
applying HKAS 21 to the situation where an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a foreign currency and
recognises a non-monetary asset or liability. The interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for the purpose
of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it)
is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset (such as a prepayment) or non-monetary
liability (such as deferred income) arising from the payment or receipt of the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance of recognising the related item, the entity must determine the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance consideration. Entities may apply the interpretation on a full
retrospective basis or on a prospective basis, either from the beginning of the reporting period in which the entity first
applies the interpretation or the beginning of the prior reporting period presented as comparative information in the
financial statements of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation. The Group expects to
adopt the interpretation prospectively from 1 January 2018. The interpretation is not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, issued in July 2017, addresses the accounting for income taxes (current and deferred) when
tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax
positions”). The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically
include requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation
specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii) the assumptions an
entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity determines taxable
profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers
changes in facts and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either fully retrospectively
without the use of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to the
opening equity at the date of initial application, without the restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January 2019. The interpretation is not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or
joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate
or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Interests in joint operations
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights

to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

Interests in joint operations (continued)
The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:

° its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

° its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;

° its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;
° its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and

° its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to the Group's interest in a joint operation are accounted for in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person (i) has control or joint control
over the Group; (ii) has significant influence over the Group; or (iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a holding company of the Group;

or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a holding company, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) ~ the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;
(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the holding company of the Group.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is measured at

the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets in the event of liquidation either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured
and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other
items is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in the
statement of profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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106

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for

impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 30 June (2016: 30 June). For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of
the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement
The Group measures its investment property and certain available-for-sale investments at the end of each reporting

period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data

are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation

and any accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment

to its estimated residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives of different categories of
property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Leasehold land Over the lease terms

Buildings 20 to 30 years

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms or 5 years, whichever is shorter
Machinery 5to 10 years

Sewage and water pipelines 10 to 20 years

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 5to 10 years

Motor vehicles 3 to 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal
or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the period the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents water pipelines, buildings under construction, structures, plant and machinery
and other property, plant and equipment under construction or installation, and construction materials in relation
to the water distribution and waste treatment businesses. Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises direct costs of construction, installation
and testing as well as capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period of construction or
installation. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea)

Investment property

Investment property is an interest in land and buildings (including the leasehold interest under an operating lease
for a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such property is measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of an investment property are included in the statement of profit
or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

When a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of the property at the date of change in use is accounted
for as follows:

(a)  any resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the property is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
the period the change in use takes place; or

(b)  any resulting increase in the carrying amount is credited to the statement of profit or loss, to the extent that the
increase reserves a previous impairment loss for that property, or restores the carrying amount of the property to
an amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the property in prior periods; and any remaining part of the increase in the carrying amount is credited
directly to equity in the property revaluation reserve. On subsequent disposal of the property, the relevant
portion of the property revaluation reserve realised is transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Leases
Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,

are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at
the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest
element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance leases are included in non-
current assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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Leases (continued)
Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for

as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases, net
of any incentives received from the lessor, are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Service concession arrangements
Consideration given by the grantor

A financial asset (receivable under a service concession arrangement) is recognised to the extent that (a) the Group
has an unconditional right to receive cash or another financial asset from or at the direction of the grantor for the
construction services rendered and/or the consideration paid and payable by the Group for the right to charge users of
the public service; and (b) the grantor has little, if any, discretion to avoid payment, usually because the agreement
is enforceable by law. The Group has an unconditional right to receive cash if the grantor contractually guarantees to
pay the Group (a) specified or determinable amounts or (b) the shortfall, if any, between amounts received from users
of the public service and specified or determinable amounts, even if the payment is contingent on the Group ensuring
that the infrastructure meets specified quality of efficiency requirements. The financial asset (receivable under
service concession arrangement) is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out for loans and receivables
under “Investments and other financial assets” below.

An intangible asset (operating concession) is recognised to the extent that the Group receives a right to charge users
of the public service, which is not an unconditional right to receive cash because the amounts are contingent on the
extent that the public uses the service. The intangible asset (operating concession) is accounted for in accordance
with the policy set out for “Intangible assets (other than goodwill)” below.

If the Group is paid partly by a financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, in which case, each component of the
consideration is accounted for separately and the consideration received or receivable for both components shall be
recognised initially at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

Construction or upgrade services
Revenue and costs relating to construction or upgrade services are accounted for in accordance with the policy set out
for “Construction contracts” below.

Operating services

Revenue relating to operating services is accounted for in accordance with the policy for “Revenue recognition”
below. Costs for operating services are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ontinuea)
Service concession arrangements (continued)
Contractual obligations to restore the infrastructure to a specified level of serviceability
The Group has contractual obligations which it must fulfil as a condition of its licence, that is (a) to maintain the
sewage and reclaimed water treatment and water distribution plants it operates to a specified level of serviceability
and/or (b) to restore the plants to a specified condition before they are handed over to the grantor at the end of the
service concession arrangement. These contractual obligations to maintain or restore the sewage and reclaimed water
treatment and water distribution plants, except for upgrade element, are recognised and measured in accordance with
the policy set out for “Provisions” below.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets

acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the period the
intangible asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant intangible asset.

Operating concessions

Operating concessions representing the rights to operate sewage and reclaimed water treatment and water
distribution plants are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is provided on the straight-line basis over the respective periods of the operating concessions granted to
the Group of 20 to 40 years.

Patents

Purchased patents are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is provided on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill) ontinuea)
Computer software

Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is provided on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years, as appropriate.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than

goodwill, deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment properties, non-current assets held for sale, inventories
and amounts due from contract customers), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of a non-financial asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in
case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with positive net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains and negative net changes in fair
value presented as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not include
any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the
date of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value
if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the
host contracts are not held for trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies
the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

114

(b)

(c)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in “Revenue” or “Interest
income”, as appropriate, in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised as
other operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments that
are designated as available for sale. After initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are subsequently
measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in other income, or until the investment
is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve to the statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses. Interest and dividends
earned whilst holding the available-for-sale investments are reported as interest income and dividend income,
respectively and are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as other income in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability in
the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the
various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such
investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

(a) Financial assets carried at amortised cost
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for those that are individually significant, or collectively for those that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed item of loans
and receivables, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of loans and receivables with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet
been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on
the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased
or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

(b)  Available-for-sale investments
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on the unlisted equity investment
that is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on
these assets are not reversed.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Impairment (Continued)

(b)  Available-for-sale investments (continued)

In the case of unlisted equity investments classified as available-for-sale investments measured at fair value,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below
its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the
period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss — is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed through profit or loss. Increases in their fair value
after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. In making this judgement, the
Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an investment is less
than its cost.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the assets. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred assets to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the

original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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Financial liabilities (loans and borrowings)
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are all classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings. All financial liabilities are
recognised initially at fair value and net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, bank and other borrowings, corporate bonds, notes
payable and finance lease payables.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included as finance costs in
the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment to be made to

reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair
value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of best estimate of
the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited 1 1 7
Annual Report 2017

— F-45 —



NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2017

3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea

118

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial

position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is

entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales

transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset must be available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets and its sale
must be highly probable.

Non-current assets (other than investment properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are determined on the weighted average

basis. Net realisable value is based on the estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Construction contracts
Contract revenue comprises (i) the agreed contract amount and appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims

and incentive payments in respect of the construction services for comprehensive renovation projects and (ii)
construction revenue recognised under Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT") contracts. Contract costs incurred comprise
direct materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed
construction overheads.

Revenue from the construction services for comprehensive renovation projects is recognised using the percentage-of-

completion method, measured by reference to the proportion of costs incurred to date to the estimated total cost of
the relevant contract.
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Construction contracts (continued)
Revenue from the construction of sewage and reclaimed water treatment plants and a seawater desalination

plant (which is carried out by a joint venture of the Group) under the terms of BOT contracts (service concession
agreements) is estimated on a cost-plus basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of gross margin at the date of
the agreement applicable to similar construction services rendered in a similar location, and is recognised using the
percentage-of-completion method, measured by reference to the proportion of costs incurred to date to the estimated
total cost of the relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are anticipated by management.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus is treated as an amount due from contract customers.

Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the
surplus is treated as an amount due to contract customers.

Contracts for services
Contract revenue on the rendering of services comprises the agreed contract amount. Costs of rendering services

comprise labour and other costs of personnel directly engaged in providing the services and attributable overheads.

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised based on the percentage of completion of the transaction,
provided that the revenue, the costs incurred and the estimated costs to completion can be measured reliably. The
percentage of completion is established by reference to the costs incurred to date as compared to the total costs to be
incurred under the transaction. Where the outcome of a contract cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised
only to the extent that the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are anticipated by management.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus is treated as an amount due from contract customers.

Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the
surplus is treated as an amount due to contract customers.
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Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and

demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Perpetual capital instruments
Perpetual capital instruments with no contracted obligation to repay the principal or to pay any distribution are

classified as part of equity.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it

is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included as finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it
is measured at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the general guidance for
provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
in accordance with the guidance for revenue recognition.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is

recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.
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Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset

is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.
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Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to

set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be

received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation/amortisation charge.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction
of a qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government loans is determined using the effective interest
rate method, as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial liabilities (loans and borrowings)” above. The
benefit of the government loans granted with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the difference between
the initial carrying value of the loans and the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can

be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@)  from construction services, on the percentage-of-completion basis, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Construction contracts” above;

(b)  from the rendering of services, on the percentage-of-completion basis, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Contracts for services” above;

(c)  from the sale of water and goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to
the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree usually associated

with ownership, nor effective control over the water and goods sold;

(d) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;
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Revenue recognition (continued)
(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(f) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established.

Share-based payments
The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible

participants who contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
option pricing model, further details of which are given in note 31 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead
to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have not been
met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated
as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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Share-based payments (continued)
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms

had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted
for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Upon the exercise of share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded by the Company as additional share
capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share over the nominal value of
the shares is recorded by the Company in the share premium account. In addition, at the time when the share options
are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred to the share premium
account.

Options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date or lapse are deleted from the register of outstanding options.
When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Other employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China, Singapore, Portugal and Malaysia
are required to participate in central pension schemes operated by the local governments, the assets of which
are held separately from those of the Group. Contributions are made by the subsidiaries based on a percentage of
the participating employees’ salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension schemes. The employer contributions vest fully once made.

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
Annual Report 2017

— F-52 —



NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2017
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Other employee benefits (continued)
Defined contribution plans (Continued)
The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who
are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Defined benefit plan

Employees of a joint venture can enjoy other retirement benefits after retirement such as supplementary medical
reimbursement, allowance and beneficiary benefits pursuant to a defined benefit plan of the joint venture. These
benefits are unfunded. The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using the
projected unit credit method and is charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to spread the costs over the
average service lives of the relevant employees in accordance with the actuarial report which contains valuation of the
obligations for the year. The obligation is measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows using
the interest rates of the PRC government bonds which have terms similar to those of related liabilities. Actuarial gains
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income immediately when they arise.

The past service costs are recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the average period until the
benefits become vested. If the benefits are already vested immediately following the introduction of, or changes to,
the pension plan, past service costs are recognised immediately.

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation less past service
costs not yet recognised and less the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of
the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles
of association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each

entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain Hong Kong, Mainland China and overseas subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollars. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss and statements of comprehensive income are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the component of the exchange fluctuation reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition date are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of certain Hong Kong, Mainland China
and overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of these subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the financial statements and have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are set out below:

Percentage of completion of construction work and service contracts
The Group recognises revenue for construction work and service contracts according to the percentage of completion

of the individual contracts of construction work or service. The Group’s management estimates the percentage of
completion of construction work and service based on the actual cost incurred over the total budgeted cost, where
corresponding contract revenue is also estimated by management. Because of the nature of the activity undertaken
in construction and service contracts, the date at which the activity is entered into and the date when the activity is
completed usually fall into different accounting periods. The Group reviews and revises the estimates of both contract
revenue and contract costs in the budget prepared for each construction contract and service contract as the contract
progresses.

Classification between operating concessions and receivables under service concession arrangements
As explained in note 3.4 to the financial statements, if the Group is paid for the construction services partly by a

financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, it is necessary to account separately for each component of the
operator’s consideration. The consideration received or receivable for both components shall be recognised initially at
their fair values.

The segregation of the consideration for a service concession arrangement between the financial asset component
and the intangible asset component, if any, requires the Group to make an estimate of a number of factors,
which include, inter alia, future guaranteed receipts and non-guaranteed receipts, and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amounts of the operating
concessions and receivables under service concession arrangements carried as assets in the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2017 were HK$4,190,771,000 (2016: HK$3,389,996,000) and
HK$35,937,761,000 (2016: HK$24,571,245,000), respectively, further details of which are set out in note 17 to
the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continvea)

Determination of fair value of contract revenue in respect of the construction services rendered

Revenue from the construction of sewage and reclaimed water treatment and seawater desalination plants under the
terms of a BOT contract is estimated on a cost-plus basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of gross margin
at the date of agreement applicable to similar construction services rendered in a similar location, and is recognised
on the percentage-of-completion method, measured by reference to the proportion of costs incurred to date to the
estimated total cost of the relevant contract.

The construction margin is determined based on the gross profit margins of market comparables by identifying
relevant peer groups, which are listed on various stock exchanges in the world. Criteria for selection include:

(i) the peer firm must be in the field of the construction of infrastructure, majoring in sewage and reclaimed water
treatment and seawater desalination facilities in the PRC; and

(i)  information of the peer firm must be available and from a reliable source.

Estimation of water consumption
Determination of the revenue from the distribution and sale of water may include an estimation of the water supplied

to customers for whom actual meter reading is not available. The estimation is done mainly based on the past
consumption records and the recent consumption pattern of individual customers.

The actual consumption could deviate from those estimates.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the useful lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for the

Group’s property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
and residual values of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change significantly
as a result of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to the related industry cycles. Management
will increase the depreciation charges where useful lives or residual values are less than previously estimated, or it
will write off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual
economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and therefore depreciation in the future periods. The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment carried as
assets in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017 were HK$3,841,886,000 (2016:
HK$2,831,452,000) in aggregate, further details of which are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continuea)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the relevant business units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the recoverable
amount requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The total carrying
amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2017 was HK$3,303,632,000 (2016: HK$3,312,200,000) in aggregate,
details of which are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets (other than goodwill)
The carrying amounts of items of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment

when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amounts may not be recoverable in accordance with
the accounting policy as disclosed in note 3.4 to the financial statements. The recoverable amount is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, and calculations of which involve the use of estimates. In estimating
the recoverable amounts of assets, various assumptions, including future cash flows to be associated with the non-
current assets and discount rates, are made. If future events do not correspond to such assumptions, the recoverable
amounts will need to be revised, and this may have an impact on the Group's results of operations or financial
position.

Impairment of receivables under service concession arrangements, amounts due from contract customers, trade

receivables, and other receivables
The policy for provision for impairment of receivables under service concession arrangements, amounts due from

contract customers, trade receivables, and other receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability
and aging analysis of accounts and on management’s estimation. A considerable amount of estimation is required in
assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each debtor. If the financial conditions of debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. The carrying amounts of receivables under service
concession arrangements, amounts due from contract customers, trade receivables, and other receivables other
than prepayments carried as assets in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017
were HK$35,937,761,000 (2016: HK$24,571,245,000), HK$15,935,605,000 (2016: HK$17,305,049,000),
HK$4,584,029,000 (2016: HK$4,371,260,000) and HK$8,552,383,000 (2016: HK$6,320,207,000),
respectively, further details of which are set out in notes 17, 25, 26 and 27 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continvea)

Defined benefit plan

The present value of the retirement benefit obligation under the defined benefit plan of a joint venture depends
on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Any changes
in these assumptions will impact on the carrying amount of the retirement benefit obligation. Key assumptions
for the obligation are based in part on the current market conditions. The carrying amount of the obligation
carried as a liability in the statement of financial position of the joint venture as at 31 December 2017 was
HK$456,410,000 (2016: HK$468,837,000) and the Group's share of which, amounting to HK$205,384,000
(2016: HK$210,977,000), has been included in the Group’s investments in joint ventures.

Current tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Portugal, Malaysia and Singapore. The Group
carefully evaluates tax implications of its transactions in accordance with prevailing tax regulations and makes tax
provision accordingly. However, judgement is required in determining the Group's provision for income taxes as there
are many transactions and calculations, of which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain, during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact on the income tax and deferred tax provision in the periods in which such
determination is made. The carrying amount of current tax payable carried as a liability in the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2017 was HK$693,648,000 (2016: HK$672,844,000).

Deferred tax assets relating to certain deductible temporary differences and tax losses are recognised as management
considers that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences or tax
losses can be utilised. Where the expectations are different from the original estimates, such differences will impact
the recognition of deferred tax assets and deferred tax in the periods in which such estimates have been changed.
The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets and liabilities carried as assets and liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017 were HK$272,320,000 (2016: HK$106,751,000) and
HK$2,103,997,000 (2016: HK$1,691,342,000), respectively, details of which are set out in note 40 to the
financial statements.
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Classification of investment in funds

In 2017, the Group has invested in funds as intermediate or deferred limited partner. The directors of the Company
assessed whether or not the Group has control, joint control or significant influence over these funds based on
whether the Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of these funds to affect the returns. In
making the judgment, the directors considered whether the Group has the power to the relevant activities of the
funds (e.g., investment and operation decisions, approval of budget, etc.) in the funds’ partners meeting, investment
committee meetings or any other management committee (if any), and the Group’s exposure to variable returns from
its involvement in the funds. After the assessment, the directors concluded that the Group has joint control over the
funds, further details of the investments in the funds are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

Derecognition of receivables under service concession arrangements
In 2017, the Group has entered into an arrangement with a trust company in respect of selling certain guarantee

receipts of sewage water treatment service in the PRC to the trust company which were recognised as receivables
under service concession arrangements before the derecognition. Based on the evaluation of the terms and conditions
of the arrangement and the credit quality and settlement pattern of the related receivables under service concession
arrangements, management has to determine whether the Group has retained substantially the risks and rewards
of the guarantee receipts, which include default risks, risks of late payments and other relevant terms of the
arrangement. Details of the transfers of financial assets are included in note 17 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed separately according to
the nature of their operations and the products and services they provide. Each of the Group’s operating segments
represents a strategic business unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns that are
different from those of the other operating segments. Particulars of the Group’s reportable operating segments are
summarised as follows:

(a)  the sewage and reclaimed water treatment and construction services segment engages in the construction and
operation of sewage and reclaimed water treatment plants, the construction of a seawater desalination plant,
and the provision of construction services for comprehensive renovation projects;

(b)  the water distribution services segment engages in the distribution and sale of piped water and the provision of
related services; and

(c)  the technical and consultancy services and sale of machineries segment engages in the provision of
consultancy services and sale of machineries related to sewage treatment, construction services for
comprehensive renovation projects, and the licensing of technical know-how related to sewage treatment.

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company, which is a measure of adjusted profit for the
year attributable to shareholders of the Company. The adjusted profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the
Company is measured consistently with the Group's profit attributable to shareholders of the Company except that
interest income on loans to joint ventures and an associate, interest income from non-controlling equity holders of
subsidiaries, gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries, gain or loss on disposal of subsidiaries and joint ventures, fair
value gain on derivative financial instruments, finance costs, share of profits of certain associates, as well as head
office and corporate income and expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude corporate and head office assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.
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Year ended 31 December 2017

Sewage and
reclaimed water

Technical and
consultancy

treatment and Water services
construction distribution and sale of
services services machineries Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segment revenue 18,014,084 1,839,719 1,338,569 21,192,372
Cost of sales (13,196,154) (1,000,125) (531,569) (14,727,848)
Gross profit 4,817,930 839,594 807,000 6,464,524
Segment results:
The Group 4,767,476 760,433 572,698 6,100,607
Share of profits and losses of:
Joint ventures 347,799 173,830 - 521,629
Associates 16,482 - - 16,482
5,131,757 934,263 572,698 6,638,718
Fair value gain on derivative
financial instruments 39,554
Corporate and other unallocated
income and expenses, net (445,064)
Share of profits of associates 540,096
Finance costs (1,457,988)
Profit before tax 5,315,316
Income tax expense (874,772)
Profit for the year 4,440,544
Profit for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company:
Operating segments 3,936,255 690,071 506,190 5,132,516
Fair value gain on derivative
financial instruments 39,554
Corporate and other unallocated items (1,454,843)
3,717,227

— F-61 —

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
Annual Report 2017

133



NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2017
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Year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

Sewage and Technical and

reclaimed water consulta.ncy

treatment and Water services

construction distribution and sale of
services services machineries Total
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment assets:

Operating segments 66,510,287 16,132,292 4,252,341 86,894,920
Corporate and other unallocated items 13,566,152

Other segment information:
Capital expenditure*

100,461,072

— Operating segments 503,132 628,712 2,800 1,134,644
— Amount unallocated 73,070
1,207,714
Depreciation

— Operating segments 39,689 96,213 17,045 152,947
— Amount unallocated 56,069
209,016
Amortisation of operating concessions 111,662 71,298 - 182,960

Amortisation of other intangible assets
— Operating segments 5,204 1,834 580 7,618
— Amount unallocated 5,593
13,211
Impairment of segment assets, net** 72,085 14,790 6,297 93,172
Provision for major overhauls 109,794 16,244 - 126,038

1 34 Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continvea)
Year ended 31 December 2016

Sewage and Technical and
reclaimed water consultancy
treatment and Water services
construction distribution and sale of
services services machineries Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segment revenue 14,962,570 1,371,409 1,020,854 17,354,833
Cost of sales (10,425,605) (699,441) (444,948) (11,569,994)
Gross profit 4,536,965 671,968 575,906 5,784,839
Segment results:
The Group 4,511,964 669,721 457,481 5,639,166
Share of profits and losses of:
Joint ventures 66,203 125,969 - 192,172
Associates 5,345 - - 5,345
4,583,512 795,690 457,481 5,836,683
Fair value gain on derivative
financial instruments 410,039
Corporate and other unallocated
income and expenses, net (378,666)
Share of profit of an associate 177,028
Finance costs (1,401,329)
Profit before tax 4,643,755
Income tax expense (970,773)
Profit for the year 3,672,982
Profit for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company:
Operating segments 3,596,893 578,524 274,908 4,450,325
Fair value gain on derivative
financial instruments 410,039
Corporate and other unallocated items (1,633,351)
3,227,013
Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

Year ended 31 December 2016 (Continued)

Sewage and Technical and
reclaimed water consultancy
treatment and Water services
construction distribution and sale of
services services machineries Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segment assets:
Operating segments 54,910,017 12,197,966 2,797,705 69,905,688
Corporate and other unallocated items 11,141,582
81,047,270
Other segment information:
Capital expenditure*
— Operating segments 351,120 608,499 55,845 1,015,464
— Amount unallocated 915,494
1,930,958
Depreciation
— Operating segments 62,117 43,628 16,059 121,804
— Amount unallocated 25,508
147,312
Amortisation of operating concessions 85,242 61,855 - 147,097
Amortisation of other intangible assets
— Operating segments 1,528 1,111 681 3,320
— Amount unallocated 3,894
7,214
Impairment of segment assets, net** 103,735 651 40,635 145,021
Provision for major overhauls 80,035 29,835 - 109,870

the acquisition of subsidiaries and associates.

* %

arrangements, amounts due from contract customers, trade receivables and other receivables.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continved)

Geographical information

2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000

Revenue from external customers:
Mainland China 20,286,300 16,026,894
Elsewhere 906,072 1,327,939
21,192,372 17,354,833

Non-current assets:

Mainland China 22,418,854 15,264,782
Portugal 744,287 687,701
Elsewhere 12,048 83,102
23,175,189 16,035,585

The revenue information by geographical area is based on the locations of the customers; while the non-current asset
information shown above is based on the locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments, amounts due

from contract customers and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 December 2017, revenue of approximately HK$2,821,366,000 was derived from the
sewage and reclaimed water treatment and construction services segment to a single customer from which over 10%

of the Group's total revenue for the year was derived.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, there was no single external customer for which over 10% of the Group’s

total revenue for that year was derived.
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REVENUE, INTEREST INCOME, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

Revenue represents: (1) revenue attributable to construction contracts and service contracts relating to sewage and
reclaimed water treatment, net of value-added tax and government surcharges; (2) revenue attributable to other
construction contracts, net of value-added tax and government surcharges; (3) the aggregate of the invoiced value of
water sold and the estimated value of unbilled water distributed based on the consumption recorded by water meter
readings, net of value-added tax and government surcharges; (4) revenue attributable to technical and consultancy
services contracts and sales of machineries, net of value-added tax and government surcharges; and (5) the imputed
interest income under service concession arrangements.

An analysis of the Group's revenue, interest income, other income and gains, net, is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000

Revenue
Sewage and reclaimed water treatment services 4,031,739 3,653,872
Construction services 13,982,345 11,308,698
Water distribution services 1,839,719 1,371,409
Technical and consultancy services and sale of machineries 1,338,569 1,020,854
21,192,372 17,354,833

Imputed interest income under service concession arrangements amounting to HK$1,682,833,000 (2016:
HK$1,659,158,000) is included in the above revenue.

Interest income

Bank interest income 169,375 81,921
Interest income on trade and other receivables with extended credit periods 96,253 107,429
Interest income on loans to government authorities in Mainland China 125 5,152
Interest income from non-controlling equity holders 31 3,179
Interest income on loans to joint ventures” 8,214 5,206
Interest income on loans to an associate* 6,991 -

280,989 202,887

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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6. REVENUE, INTEREST INCOME, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET «continved

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$'000
Other income
Gross rental income 34,820 21,197
Government grants?® 91,971 181,309
Sludge treatment income 124,410 146,412
Pipeline installation income 209,456 137,529
Investment income from available-for-sale investments 7,781 13,113
VAT refunds for sewage and reclaimed water treatment and
water distribution services® 327,567 320,291
Others 114,990 79,404
910,995 899,255
Gains, net
Fair value gain on investment properties (note 15) 12,862 43,911
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries (note 45) 9,273 2,869
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 46) - 8,675
Gain on disposal of joint ventures 481 6,439
Foreign exchange differences, net 12,875 48,411
Gain on derecognition of financial assets (note 17) 60,101 -
Others - 112,029
95,592 222,334
Other income and gains, net 1,006,587 1,121,589

The interest income recognised represented the interest income on a loan to Aqualyng-BEWG China Desalination Company Limited, a 51 %-owned
Joint venture of the Group which was disposed of in 2016, and a loan to Beijing Enterprises Water Trading Limited (“BE Water Trading”), a
50%-owned joint venture of the Group, as further detailed in note 19(d)(i) to the financial statements.

The government grants recognised during the year represented grants received from certain government authorities in respect of the fulfilment of
certain specific duties by the Group.

v The Group is entitled to a refund of 50% to 70% of the net VAT paid/payable under the Catalogue of Products and Services related to Recycling
Businesses Qualified for Value-Added Tax (VAT) Preferential Treatment (Caishui [2015] No. 78) jointly issued by the PRC State Administration of

Taxation and the Ministry of Finance.

The interest income recognised represented the interest income on loans to an associate of the Group, as further detailed in note 20(b) to the
financial statements.

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited 1 3 9
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7.

140

PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

The Group's profit from operating activities is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Cost of sewage and reclaimed water treatment
services rendered 1,795,832 1,494,420
Cost of construction services 11,288,660 8,816,154
Cost of water distribution services 928,827 667,375
Cost of technical and consultancy services
rendered and machineries sold 531,569 444 948
Depreciation 14 209,016 147,312
Amortisation of operating concessions™* 17 182,960 147,097
Amortisation of other intangible assets* 18 13,211 7,214
Minimum lease payments under operating leases 29,090 20,562
Auditor’s remuneration 13,850 12,000
Employee benefit expense (including directors’
remuneration (note 9)):
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,677,883 1,235,449
Equity-settled share option expense 31(a) 19,903 40,935
Pension scheme contributions 149,321 101,603
Welfare and other expenses 328,745 293,054
2,175,852 1,671,041
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of receivables under
service concession arrangements, net 17(b) 15,915 (6,445)
Impairment of amounts due from contract customers 25 19,236 5,964
Impairment of trade receivables, net 26(c) 9,758 21,567
Impairment of other receivables, net 27(c) 48,263 123,935
Provision for major overhauls 38 126,038 109,870
Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance)
arising from rental-earning investment properties 3,545 2,950
Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment 1,071 370
Write-off of items of other intangible assets 18 23 3,838
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries 46 45,746 (8,675)

the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss, respectively.
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8. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
Interest on bank and other loans 895,772 969,949
Interest on corporate bonds 490,758 352,819
Interest on notes payable 171,011 173,167
Interest on finance leases 8,848 4,091
Total interest expense 1,566,389 1,500,026
Increase in discounted amounts of provision for major
overhauls arising from the passage of time (note 38) 14,085 11,653
Total finance costs 1,580,474 1,511,679
Less: Interest included in cost of construction services (122,486) (110,350)
1,457,988 1,401,329

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Group

2017 2016

HK$'000 HK$'000

Fees 1,810 1,920
Other emoluments:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 17,310 19,975

Equity-settled share option expense 5,667 15,042

Pension scheme contributions 36 41

23,013 35,058

24,823 36,978

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continved)

An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named basis, is as follows:

Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled Pension
and benefits share option scheme Total
Fees in kind expense contributions remuneration
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Year ended 31 December 2017
Executive directors:
Mr. Li Yongcheng (Chairman) 130 - - - 130
Mr. E Meng (Vice Chairman) 120 - - - 120
Mr. Jiang Xinhao 120 - - - 120
Mr. Zhou Min
(Chief Executive Officer) 120 7,354 3,054 18 10,546
Mr. Li Haifeng 120 3,759 1,232 18 5,129
Mr. Zhang Tiefu 120 2,133 - - 2,253
Ms. Qi Xiaohong 120 - - - 120
Mr. Ke Jian 120 - - - 120
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric 120 - 491 - 611
Mr. Li Li 120 4,064 584 - 4,768
1,210 17,310 5,361 36 23917
Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Shea Chun Lok Quadrant 120 - 22 - 142
Mr. Zhang Gaobo 150 - 44 - 194
Mr. Guo Rui 120 - 22 - 142
Ms. Hang Shijun® 30 - 109 - 139
Mr. Wang Kaijun 120 - 109 - 229
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond
(“Dr. Lee")® 60 - - - 60
600 - 306 - 906
Total 1,810 17,310 5,667 36 24,823
& Mr. Hang Shijun has resigned as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 30 March 2017.
g Dr. Lee has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 30 June 2017.
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9.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continved)

Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled Pension
and benefits share option scheme Total
Fees in kind expense contributions remuneration
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Year ended 31 December 2016
Executive directors:
Mr. Li Yongcheng (Chairman) 130 - - - 130
Mr. E Meng (Vice Chairman) 120 - - - 120
Mr. Jiang Xinhao 120 - - - 120
Mr. Hu Xiaoyong* 30 2,672 1,436 5 4,143
Mr. Zhou Min
(Chief Executive Officer)* 120 6,561 6,020 18 12,719
Mr. Li Haifeng 120 3,620 2,429 18 6,187
Mr. Zhang Tiefu 120 2,972 - - 3,092
Ms. Qi Xiaohong 120 - - - 120
Mr. Ke Jian 120 - - - 120
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric 120 - 968 - 1,088
Mr. Li Li 120 4,150 1,747 - 6,017
1,240 19,975 12,600 41 33,856
Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Shea Chun Lok Quadrant 120 - 86 - 206
Mr. Zhang Gaobo 150 - 129 - 279
Mr. Guo Rui 120 - 172 - 292
Ms. Hang Shijun 120 - 215 - 335
Mr. Wang Kaijun 120 - 215 - 335
Mr. Yu Ning® 50 - 1,625 - 1,675
680 - 2,442 - 3,122
Total 1,920 19,975 15,042 41 36,978

Mr. Hu Xiaoyong has resigned as an executive director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 30 March 2016.

Mr. Zhou Min has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 30 March 2016.

Mr. Yu Ning passed away on 1 June 2016.
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

144

The five highest paid employees during the year included four directors (2016: five directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining one (2016: Nil)
highest paid employee who is neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2017 2016

HK$'000 HK$'000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 3,118 -
Performance related bonuses 2,572 -
Pension scheme contributions 88 -
5,778 -

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following band is as follows:

Number of employees
2017 2016

HK$5,500,000 to HK$6,000,000 1 -

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the year ended 31 December 2017 as the Group did not
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (2016: Nil).

The income tax provisions in respect of operations in Mainland China and other countries are calculated at the
applicable tax rates on the estimated assessable profits for the year based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof. In accordance with the relevant tax rules and regulations of Mainland China, a number
of the Company’s subsidiaries enjoy income tax exemptions and reductions, by reasons that (1) these companies are
engaged in the operations of sewage and reclaimed water treatment; and/or (2) they have operations in the Western
region of Mainland China that are qualified for a 15% concessionary corporate income tax rate for a prescribed
period of time pursuant to the “Circular of the State Council on Policies and Measures Concerning the Large-scale
Development of China’s Western Regions” (Guo Fa [2000] No. 33) issued by the State Council of Mainland China.

2017 2016

HK$'000 HK$'000

Current — Mainland China 539,951 604,088
Current — Elsewhere 30,198 17,497
Underprovision in prior years 1,124 1,033
Deferred (note 40) 303,499 348,155
Total tax expense for the year 874,772 970,773

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continues)
A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the
jurisdictions in which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and
a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2017

Hong Kong
and overseas Mainland China Total
HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 %

Profit/(loss) before tax (720,961) 6,036,277 5,315,316
Tax expense/(credit) at the statutory tax rate (120,500) 16.7 1,510,011 25.0 1,389,511 26.1
Lower tax rates of specific provinces or

enacted by local authorities - - (78,464) (1.3 (78,464) (1.5)
Tax concession - - (276,168) (406) (276,168) (5.2)
Adjustments in respect of current

tax of previous periods 1,124 (0.1) - - 1,124 -
Profits and losses attributable to

joint ventures and associates (1,036) 0.1 (267,621) (4.4) (268,657) (5.0)
Income not subject to tax (58,108) 8.1 (125,765) (201) (183,873) (3.4)
Expenses not deductible for tax 200,887 (27.9) 68,737 1.2 269,624 5.1
Withholding tax of 5% on the distributable

profit of the Group’s PRC subsidiary and

joint venture - - 9,472 0.2 9,472 0.2
Tax losses utilised from previous periods - - (3,501) 0.1) (3,501) 0.1)
Tax losses not recognised as deferred

tax assets 12,774 (1.8) 2,930 - 15,704 0.3
Tax expense at the Group'’s effective tax rate 35,141 (4.9) 839,631 13.9 874,772 16.5

1 46 22:3;% ;::Orgr;soe:;’%ter Group Limited
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11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2016

Hong Kong
and overseas Mainland China Total
HK$000 % HK$ 000 % HK$'000 %

Profit/(loss) before tax (554,287) 5,198,042 4,643,755
Tax expense/(credit) at the statutory tax rate (89,868) 16.2 1,299,511 25.0 1,209,643 26.0
Lower tax rates of specific provinces or

enacted by local authorities - - (58,578) (1.1) (58,578) (1.3
Tax concession - - (210,525) (4.1) (210,525) (4.5)
Adjustments in respect of current

tax of previous periods 1,033 0.2) - - 1,033 -
Profits and losses attributable to

joint ventures and associates (1,310 0.2 (92,251) 1.8) (93,561) (2.0
Income not subject to tax (106,400) 19.2 (90,058) 1.7) (196,458) (4.2)
Expenses not deductible for tax 195,346 (35.2) 94,677 1.8 290,023 6.2
Withholding tax of 5% on the distributable

profit of the Group’s PRC subsidiary and

joint venture - - 4,544 0.1 4,544 0.1
Tax losses utilised from previous periods - - (10,850) 0.2) (10,850) 0.2
Tax losses not recognised as deferred

tax assets 21,305 (3.8) 14,197 0.3 35,502 0.8
Tax expense at the Group'’s effective tax rate 20,106 (3.6) 950,667 18.3 970,773 20.9

The share of tax attributable to associates and joint ventures amounting to HK$91,970,000 (2016:
HK$43,577,000) and HK$120,604,202 (2016: HK$43,507,000), respectively, is included in “share of profits and
losses of joint ventures and associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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13.

148

CASH DISTRIBUTIONS

2017 2016

HK$'000 HK$'000

Interim — HK8.0 cents (2016: HK5.9 cents) per ordinary share 701,899 513,949
Proposed final — HK7.5 cents (2016: HK6.0 cents) per ordinary share 693,390 525,407
1,395,289 1,039,356

The proposed final cash distribution out of the contributed surplus account for the year is subject to the approval of
the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount for the year ended 31 December 2017 is based on the
profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company, and the weighted average number of 8,763,115,914
(2016: 8,712,012,633) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is based on the profit for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings per share amounts are based on the following data:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$'000
Earnings
Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company,
used in the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations 3,717,227 3,227,013
2017 2016
Number of ordinary shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year,
used in the basic earnings per share calculation 8,763,115,914 8,712,012,633
Effect of dilution on weighted average number of ordinary shares
— Share options which have dilutive effect 187,622,076 185,509,807
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, used in the diluted
earnings per share calculation 8,950,737,990 8,897,522,440
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Machinery, Furniture,
and sewage fixtures
Land and Leasehold and water and office Motor  Construction
buildings  improvements pipelines equipment vehicles in progress Total

HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000

Year ended 31 December 2017

At 1 January 2017:
Cost 1,716,092 107,974 882,908 151,108 205,728 194,472 3,258,282
Accumulated depreciation (144,640) (15,782) (95,665) (92,137) (78,606) - (426,330)
Net carrying amount 1,571,452 92,192 787,243 58,971 127,122 194,472 2,831,452

Net carrying amount:

At 1 January 2017 1,571,452 92,192 787,243 58,971 127,122 194,472 2,831,452
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45) 368,926 - 484,019 1,731 4,708 42,853 902,237
Additions 19,736 31,866 41,756 49,461 59,596 35,679 238,094
Transfer from non-current asset

held for sale 146,276 - - - - - 146,276

Fair value gain on revaluation of a
building upon transfer to

investment properties 107,493 - - - - - 107,493
Transfer to investment properties (note 15) (253,769) - - - - (253,769)
Depreciation provided during the year (71,793) (29,334) (64,115) (20,990) (22,784) - (209,016)
Disposal of subsidiaries (mote 46) - - (2,163) (9,772) (88,083) - (100,018)
Disposals (1,612) (84) - (1,247) (3,451) - (6,394
Transfers and reclassifications - - 7,490 - 523 (8,013) -
Exchange realignment 101,572 8,295 55,570 2,741 4,506 12,827 185,511

At 31 December 2017 1,988,281 102,935 1,309,800 80,895 82,137 277,818 3,841,866
At 31 December 2017:
Cost 2,212,075 149,362 1,440,157 183,847 175,390 277,818 4,438,649
Accumulated depreciation (223,794) (46,427) (130,357) (102,952) (93,253) - (596,783)
Net carrying amount 1,988,281 102,935 1,309,800 80,895 82,137 277,818 3,841,866
Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continuea)

150

Machinery, Furniture,
and sewage fixtures
Land and Leasehold and water and office Motor  Construction
buildings  improvements pipelines equipment vehicles in progress Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
Year ended 31 December 2016
At 1 January 2016:
Cost 786,248 53,318 381,248 130,825 136,447 218,619 1,706,705
Accumulated depreciation (99,930) (11,356) (58,093) (84,934) (72,591) - (326,904)
Net carrying amount 686,318 41,962 323,155 45,891 63,856 218,619 1,379,801
Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2016 686,318 41,962 323,155 45,891 63,856 218,619 1,379,801
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45) 127,558 - 516,581 4,886 7,793 - 656,818
Additions 896,894 61,776 40,132 38,965 96,939 110,944 1,245,650
Depreciation provided during the year (58,911) (5,421) (48,593) (14,280) (20,107) - (147,312)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 46) (60,633) (1,086) (30,541) (11,078) (11,874) - (115,212)
Disposals (945) - (5,624) (1,320) (1,747) - (9,636)
Transfers and reclassifications 73,180 - 47,160 - - (120,340) -
Exchange realignment (92,009) (5,039) (55,027) (4,093) (7,738) (14,751) (178,657)
At 31 December 2016 1,571,452 92,192 787,243 58,971 127,122 194,472 2,831,452
At 31 December 2016:
Cost 1,716,092 107,974 882,908 151,108 205,728 194,472 3,258,282
Accumulated depreciation (144,640) (15,782) (95,665) (92,137) (78,606) (426,830)
Net carrying amount 1,571,452 92,192 787,243 58,971 127,122 194,472 2,831,452

The net carrying amount of the Group’s fixed assets held under finance leases included in the total amount of

machinery at 31 December 2017 was HK$533,090,000 (2016: HK$72,889,000).

At 31 December 2017, certain land use rights and certain buildings situated in Mainland China with an aggregate
carrying amount HK$1,021,615,000 (2016: HK$998,377,000) were pledged to secure certain bank loans granted

to the Group (note 34).
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
Carrying amount at 1 January 755,326 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (note 14) 253,769 -
Transfer from prepayments - 746,960
Fair value gain on revaluation 12,862 43911
Exchange realignment 61,720 (35,545)
Carrying amount at 31 December 1,083,677 755,326
Notes:
(a) The Group'’s investment properties consist of a portion of an office building and a commercial building situated in Mainland China and is held under
a long term lease.
(b) The investment properties are leased to third parties and an associate under operating lease arrangements, further summary of which are included

in note 50(a) to the financial statements.

(c) As at 31 December 2017, one of the Group’s investment properties with a carrying amount of HK$813,455,000 (2016: HK$755,326,000) was
pledged to bank to secure bank loan granted to the Group (note 34).

(d) The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2017 by Beijing North Asia Asset Assessment Firm (2016: Beijing Northern
Yashi Assets Appraisal Co., Ltd.), independent professionally qualified valuers, at HK$1,083,677,000 (2016: HK$755,326,000). Each year,
the management decides to appoint which external valuers to be responsible for the external valuations of the Group's properties. Selection
criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained. Each year, the management has
discussions with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation results.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties was measured using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 of fair value hierarchy). During the
year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2016: Nil).
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuea)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Office
and commercial
buildings
HK$'000
Carrying amount at 1 January 2016 -
Transfer from prepayments 746,960
Net gain from a fair value adjustment recognised in
other income and gains in profit or loss 43,911
Exchange realignment (35,545)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 755,326
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 253,769
Net gain from a fair value adjustment recognised in other income and gains in profit or loss 12,862
Exchange realignment 61,720
Carrying amount at 31 December 2017 1,083,677
Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:
Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Range
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
Income capitalisation method Daily estimated rental value (per square meter) RMB4.50 to RMB15.75 to
RMB16.65 RMB18.24
Rent growth 2% to 2.8% from 2019 2% from 2021
Discount rate 6% 6%

Under the income capitalisation method, fair value is estimated using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of ownership over the
asset’s life including an exit or terminal value. This method involves the projection of a series of cash flows on a property interest. A market-derived
discount rate is applied to the projected cash flows in order to establish the present value of the income stream associated with the asset. The exit
yield is normally separately determined and differs from the discount rate.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of inflows and outflows are determined by events such as rent reviews, lease renewal and
related reletting, redevelopment or refurbishment. The appropriate duration is driven by market behaviour that is a characteristic of the class of
the property. The periodic cash flow is estimated as gross income less operating and management expenses. The series of periodic net operating
income, along with an estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the projection period, is then discounted.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental value and the market rent growth rate per annum in isolation would result in a significant
increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the investment properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the discount rate in isolation would result in
a significant (decrease)/increase in the fair value of the investment properties. Generally, a change in the assumption made for the estimated rental
value is accompanied by a directionally similar change in the rent growth per annum and an opposite change in the discount rate.
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16. GOODWILL

2017 2016

HK$'000 HK$'000

Cost and net carrying amount:

At 1 January 3,312,200 2,967,365
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45) 41,316 465,478

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 46) (96,240) (92,635)
Exchange realignment 46,356 (28,008)

At 31 December 3,303,632 3,312,200

Impairment testing of goodwill

The carrying amount of the goodwill acquired through acquisitions of subsidiaries and non-controlling interests is
allocated to the relevant business units of the individual operating segments of the Group for impairment testing,
which is summarised as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$'000

Sewage and reclaimed water treatment and construction services segment 1,904,829 1,952,290
Water distribution services segment 832,011 804,779
Technical and consultancy services and sale of machineries segment 566,792 555,131
3,303,632 3,312,200

The recoverable amounts of the relevant business units in each of the above operating segments have been
determined by reference to business valuations performed by Greater China Appraisal Limited, independent
professionally qualified valuers, using cash flow projections which are based on financial forecast approved by senior
management covering a period of 10 years and based on the assumption that the sizes of the operations remain
constant perpetually. The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections ranged from 11.40% to 12.22% (2016:
10.67% to 12.02%) for the business units of the sewage and reclaimed water treatment and construction services
segment, the water distribution services segment, and the technical and consultancy services and sale of machineries
segment, which are determined by reference to the average rates for similar industries and the business risks of the
relevant business units. A growth rate of 3% (2016: 3%) is used for the perpetual period.

Based on the results of the impairment testing of goodwill, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, no
impairment provision is considered necessary for the Group’s goodwill as at 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).
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16 GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Key assumptions used in estimations of the recoverable amounts

The following describes each key assumption adopted by management in the preparation of the cash flow projections
for the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill:

154

o Budgeted revenue

in respect of the revenue from the sewage and reclaimed water treatment and construction services
segment and the water distribution services segment, the budgeted revenue is based on the projected
sewage and reclaimed water treatment and water distribution volume, and the latest sewage and
reclaimed water treatment and water tariff charges up to the date of valuation.

in respect of the revenue from the technical and consultancy services and sale of machineries segment,
the budgeted revenue is based on the expected growth rate of the market.

o Budgeted gross margins

the basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved during the six months ended 30 June for the same year, increased for expected
efficiency improvements.

° Discount rates

The discount rates used are after tax and reflect specific risks of the respective segments.

The pre-tax discount rates implied in the cash flow projections ranged from 13.98% to 14.77%
(2016: 13.56% to 14.09%) for the business units of the sewage and reclaimed water treatment
and construction services segment, the water distribution services segment, and the technical and
consultancy services and sale of machineries segment.

° Business environment

There have been no major changes in the existing political, legal and economic conditions in Mainland
China, Singapore, Portugal and Malaysia.
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17. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS

The Group has entered into a number of service concession arrangements with certain governmental authorities
in Mainland China, Singapore and Portugal on a BOT or a Transfer-Operate-Transfer (“TOT”) basis in respect of
its sewage and reclaimed water treatment, water distribution and seawater desalination services. These service
concession arrangements generally involve the Group as an operator in (i) constructing sewage and reclaimed water
treatment plants, water distribution facilities and a seawater desalination plant (collectively, the “Facilities”) for those
arrangements on a BOT basis; (ii) paying a specific amount for those arrangements on a TOT basis; and (iii) operating
and maintaining the Facilities at a specified level of serviceability on behalf of the relevant governmental authorities
for periods ranging from 12 to 40 years (the “Service Concession Periods”), and the Group will be paid for its services
over the relevant periods of the service concession arrangements at prices stipulated through a pricing mechanism.
The Group is generally entitled to use all the property, plant and equipment of the Facilities, however, the relevant
governmental authorities as grantors will control and regulate the scope of services that the Group must provide with
the Facilities, and retain the beneficial entitlement to any residual interest in the Facilities at the end of the terms of
the Service Concession Periods. Each of these service concession arrangements is governed by a contract and, where
applicable, supplementary agreements entered into between the Group and the relevant governmental authority in
Mainland China, Singapore or Portugal that set out, inter alia, performance standards, mechanisms for adjusting
prices for the services rendered by the Group, specific obligations imposed on the Group to restore the Facilities
to a specified level of serviceability at the end of the Service Concession Periods, and arrangements for arbitrating
disputes.

At 31 December 2017, the Group had 631, 12, 108 and 1 service concession arrangements on sewage treatment,
reclaimed water treatment, water distribution and seawater desalination, respectively, with various governmental
authorities in Mainland China, Singapore and Portugal and a summary of the major terms of the principal service
concession arrangements is set out as follows:

Type of Practical
service processing Service
Name of company Name of concession capacity concession
No. as operator Name of plant Location grantor arrangement (m*/day) period
Subsidiaries:
1. BEPRECTFHE  SBETETESK Mianyang, Sichuan  BBETAR TOT on sewage 100,000 30 years from
BRAH BEB—H Province, the PRC B treatment 2002 to 2032
2. BN EFKER BMMEBEHE  Guangzhou, BMmEE BOT on sewage 100,000 25 years from
BRAT SKEEM—E  Guangdong Province, THEME treatment 2008 to 2033
the PRC =5
3. R E FY|TEREESZ  Shenzhen, Guangdong RIITIKE B TOT on sewage 400,000 20 years from
BRAH EKEEM = Province, the PRC treatment 2011 to 2031
Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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17. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS (continved)

Type of Practical

service processing Service
Name of company Name of concession capacity concession
No. as operator Name of plant Location grantor arrangement (m*/day) period

Subsidiaries (Continued)
4, R EEREE FY|TEEREES  Shenzhen, Guangdong RYITEE R BOT on sewage 200,000 25 years from
BRAH SKEER—H  Province, the PRC ARBUT treatment 2003 to 2028
5, MEEEIHRRAEK  REBMELDIE  Chengdy, Sichuan REmERL TOT on sewage 100,000 25 years from
FEERRAT KRB Province, the PRC BARBMA treatment 2009 to 2034
6. DI ITRIR L)\ ST —E5K  linzhou, Liaoning wHTRRE TOT on sewage 100,000 30 years from
BRAF B Province, the PRC ¥EFER treatment 2009 to 2039
7. M T ILIE K ST 85K linzhou, Liaoning wHTRAS BOT on sewage 100,000 30 years from
BRAR RIE Province, the PRC XHEEER treatment 2011 to 2041
8. ST ANEIIL K ST =E5K  Jinzhou, Liaoning M TOT on sewage 100,000 30 years from
BRAH RER Province, the PRC ARBF treatment 2015 to 2045
9. TEEHROKE T TEMSKEEM  Yuxi, Yunnan Province, TEmEREA TOT on sewage 100,000 30 years from
BRATF the PRC WBREE treatment 201010 2040
10. BAEERILEKE EEMWMASK  Guigang, Guangi BRTWH BOT on sewage 100,000 30 years from
BRAR RER Zhuang Autonomous BB treatment 2008 to 2038

Region, the PRC
11. BREEBLEKE LK Guigang, Guangxi BRATWH BOT on water 100,000 30 years from
BRRA Zhuang Autonomous B2 F distribution 2008 to 2038
Region, the PRC
12 #BREKB WEME MK Zunyi, Guizhou BEMHYE BOT on water 100,000 25 years from
BRAF Province, the PRC ~ KBRE distribution 2010 to 2035
SN
13, EREERKE BZyRERE Guangan, Sichuan BZMAR BOT on water 100,000 30 years from
BRAR KB (—5) Province, the PRC B distribution 2015 to 2045
14, ERIEERKE BZFRERE Guangan, Sichuan EZMAR BOT on water 100,000 30 years
BRA MoK (Z8) Province, the PRC BT distribution (Not yet started)
15, EBEEIESE BEZEBLER  Kunming, Yunnan EBEMAR BOT on sewage 130,000 20 years
KEFLERAT EKEER Province, the PRC B treatment (Not yet started)
(=)
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17. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS (continved)

Type of Practical
service processing Service
Name of company Name of concession capacity concession
No. as operator Name of plant Location grantor arrangement (m*/day) period
Subsidiaries (Continued)
6. MEBLEFHHEE HEEETK Chengdu, Sichuan P & 8 & TOT on sewage 100,000 25 years from
BRAH BER Province, the PRC K&B treatment 2012 to 2037
7. LERBEKEFL RERAEN Beijing Haidian, the ~ tRHERRE BOT on reclaimed 160,000 30 years
BRAT BAKEIER PRC KRB water treatment (Phase 2 not
yet started)
18. REMERKHE REMEERN  Dongguan, Guangdong mHEAR BOT on sewage 120,000 25 years from
BRAF AESKEEB  Province, the PRC T treatment 2008 to 2033
19, BkBEECER)  BYPPYSKEER  Haikou, Hainan FOm BOT on sewage 200,000 25 years from
BRATF Province, the PRC KiEB treatment 201010 2035
20.  EEEMAGKERAE  EEHRTFKE  Deqging Zhejiang Erg BOT on water 100,000 25 years from
EH Province, the PRC BER distribution 2007 to 2032
21, (&) KE BILToKE Anshan, Liaoning #Zlm BOT on sewage 100,000 30 years from
BRAH JSKEERIBE  Province, the PRC RIERER treatment 2015 to 2045
22, BEMILEKE EBERHT Fuxin, Liaoning BHm TOT on sewage 100,000 30 years from
BRAR HERFK Province, the PRC ARBUF treatment 2015 to 2045
RERIEE
23 dHECEB)KBEE OMAESKERER  Luoyang, Henan Soxil TOT on sewage 200,000 30 years from
BRAF EH Province, the PRC KBR treatment 2015 to 2045
24, JE(RBE)KBER O ERSKERM  Luoyang, Henan A TOT on sewage 200,000 30 years from
BRATF BB Province, the PRC KBRB treatment 2015 to 2045
25, EORR)KEEE  HMRSKEER  Luoyang, Henan e Cnil TOT on sewage 100,000 30 years from
BRAR EH Province, the PRC KB treatment 2015 to 2045
26, ERBLIEKS BIUTIFESE = Jiangmen, Guangdong  #EILTH BOT on water 195,000 30 years from
BRAA #HOKERIE B Province, the PRC ARBF distribution 2015 to 2045
27, RECER)EKEE  ERMMASKE  Jiyuan, Henan BRMEEMN TOT on sewage 100,000 30 years from
BRATF Province, the PRC WBREE treatment 2016 to 2046
28.  kINTIKIBEE SO EEKB Yongzhou, Hunan KMFHMTER  TOT on water 100,000 30 years from
BEREAATA —H Province, the PRC THHER distribution 2016 to 2046
Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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17. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS (continved)

Type of Practical
service processing Service
Name of company Name of concession capacity concession
No. as operator Name of plant Location grantor arrangement (m*/day) period
Subsidiaries (Continued)

29, HEIIEEEAE SLETH ALK  Kaili, Guizhou HNEKBR TOT on water 144,000 30 years from
BRAH B Province, the PRC distribution 2016 to 2046
30. EHILEREKE EHMEMKE  Zaozhuang City, EHm BOT on water 110,000 30 years from
BRAT Shandong Province, ~ AREUR distribution 2013 to 2043

the PRC
3. BRERKBERAF BEEZHEKE  Nanan, Fujian BEEEM TOT on water 170,000 30 years from
— Province, the PRC AR distribution 2013 to 2043
32.  UREZERKE IWRE4HMKE  Changle, Shandong  IIREE% TOT on water 100,000 30 years from
BRAA Province, the PRC ARHT distribution 2013 t0 2043
33. ELERFKERAG WWREZFKE  Changle Shandong  ILR4AE% BOT on water 100,000 30 years from
Province, the PRC AERBF distribution 2013 t0 2043
34, BRNBEREERLAR IHEEMNTE Xuzhou, Jiangsu HMTKER BOT on sewage 400,000 30 years from
FKER Province, the PRC treatment 2014 to 2044
35, HINERRHRARDE  HMTEEFKE  Xuzhou, Jiangsu BMmAER BOT on sewage 200,000 30 years from
Province, the PRC treatment 2014 to 2044
36, ERBEILESKERE BERUHR Nanjing, Jiangsu BRMHMAZER  TOT on sewage 100,000 30 years from
BRATF SKEEB—H  Province, the PRC ZEg treatment 2015 to 2045
37.  BERERILESKEE BERTEE Nanjing, Jiangsu BRMMAER  TOT on sewage 100,000 30 years from
BRAA SSKEEM—H  Province, the PRC ZEg treatment 2015 to 2045
38, REBILEZEKE FEMEMSKE  Changde City, Hunan  EEWHH TOT on sewage 100,000 15 years from
BREEAH Province, the PRC UNZE treatment 2016 to 2031

EER

39.  UE NEWater (S) Pte. Ltd. #TII%EEZE = Singapore il YN DBOO on water 228,000 25 years from
K ES 95! recycling 2014 t0 2039
40. RERMERREZ HEESKEER  Yanji City, Jilin EETARKA  TOT on sewage 100,000 30 years from
BRAH —1 Province, the PRC treatment 2014 to 2044

158

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
Annual Report 2017

— F-86 —



NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2017

17. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS (continved)

Type of Practical
service processing Service
Name of company Name of concession capacity concession
No. as operator Name of plant Location grantor arrangement (m*/day) period
Joint ventures:
41, BEBEKEBR EBMIHTEKE  Guiyang, Guizhou EBMHTERS BOT on water 1,000,000 30 years from
AR Province, the PRC distribution 2011 to 2041
(“Guiyang BEWG")
42. BEEFKBEBRLF OWIEBEMKE  Haining Zhejiang WTEEMAR  TOT on water 300,000 30 years from
Province, the PRC T distribution 2013 t0 2043
43, EGWILERKE S FR5K Chaoyang City, #HHmARBM  TOT on sewage 100,000 30 years from
BRAF BER Liaoning Province, HEEEEE treatment 2016 to 2046

the PRC ERERE®

The above table lists the service concession arrangements of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of all other service concession arrangements would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars
of excessive length.

Pursuant to the service concession agreements entered into by the Group, the Group are granted the rights to use the
property, plant and equipment of the Facilities and the related land, which are generally registered under the names
of the relevant companies in the Group, during the Service Concession Periods, but the Group is generally required
to surrender these assets to the grantors at a specified level of serviceability at the end of the respective Service
Concession Periods. As at 31 December 2017, the Group was in the process of applying for the change of registration
of the title certificates with respect to certain land use rights and buildings of certain Facilities to which the Group’s
service concession arrangements relate. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group is entitled
to the lawful and valid occupation or use of these buildings and land to which the above-mentioned land use rights
relate, and that the Group would not have any legal barriers in obtaining the proper title certificates.
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SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS (continvea

At 31 December 2017, certain sewage treatment and water distribution concession rights of the Group (comprising
operating concessions and receivables under service concession arrangements) with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$8,934,591,000 (2016: HK$9,102,328,000) were pledged to secure certain bank loans granted to the Group
(note 34).

As further explained in the accounting policy for “Service concession arrangements” set out in note 3.4 to the
financial statements, the consideration paid by the Group for a service concession arrangement is accounted for as an
intangible asset (operating concession) or a financial asset (receivable under a service concession arrangement) or a
combination of both, as appropriate. The following is the summarised information of the intangible asset component
(operating concessions) and the financial asset component (receivables under service concession arrangements) with
respect to the Group'’s service concession arrangements:

In late April 2017, the Group sold certain guarantee receipts of sewage water treatment service in the PRC (which
were recognised as receivables under service concession arrangements prior to the transaction) to a trust company
and received a net amount of RMB2.0 billion through the issuance of asset-backed notes (the “ABN”) of RMB2.1
billion in the National Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors by the trust company. The Group
invested RMB100 million in the ABN as a deferred issue holder. In the opinion of the directors, the guarantee
receipts are generated from sewage water plants with history of good payments from local governments that have
good reputation and credit. Besides, an insurance company has been engaged by the Group to provide preferred
issue holders of the ABN recourse in the event of a shortfall in cash collections or in the event of default. Therefore,
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards relating to the related receivables under service
concession arrangements, and the Group’s exposure to the variability in the amounts of the net cash flows of the
transferred assets is not significant after the transaction. Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying amounts
of the related receivables under service concession arrangements. The maximum exposure to loss from the Group's
continuing involvement in the derecognised receivables under service concession arrangements is equal to its
investment in the ABN of RMB100 million which was recognised as an available-for-sale investment at cost.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has recognised a gain of HK$60,101,000 in respect of the
derecognition of the receivables under service concession arrangements.
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17. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS (continved)

Operating concessions

2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
At 1 January:
Cost 4,035,866 2,958,933
Accumulated amortisation (645,870) (537,921)
Net carrying amount 3,389,996 2,421,012
Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 3,389,996 2,421,012
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45) 5,913 628,065
Additions 917,124 649,130
Amortisation provided during the year (182,960) (147,097)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 46) (183,594) -
Exchange realignment 244,292 (161,114)
At 31 December 4,190,771 3,389,996
At 31 December:
Cost 5,064,027 4,035,866
Accumulated amortisation (873,256) (645,870)
Net carrying amount 4,190,771 3,389,996
Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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17. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS (continved)

Receivables under service concession arrangements

2017 2016

HK$'000 HK$'000

Receivables under service concession arrangements 35,997,805 24,612,242
Impairment (note (b)) (60,044) (40,997)
35,937,761 24,571,245

Portion classified as current assets (2,614,866) (1,933,078)

Non-current portion 33,322,895 22,638,167

Notes:

(a) In respect of the Group’s receivables under service concession arrangements, the various Group companies have different credit policies, depending
on the requirements of the locations in which they operate. Aging analyses of receivables under service concession arrangements are closely
monitored in order to minimise any credit risk arising from the receivables.

An aging analysis of the Group’s receivables under service concession arrangements as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
and net of impairment, is as follows:
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
Billed:
Within 3 months 1,046,677 747,658
4 to 6 months 512,561 256,118
7 to 12 months 293,350 285,860
Over 1 year 536,088 216,476
2,388,676 1,506,112
Unbilled:
Current portion 226,190 426,966
Non-current portion 33,322,895 22,638,167
33,549,085 23,065,133
Total 35,937,761 24,571,245
1 62 Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS (continved)

Receivables under service concession arrangements (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

The movements in provision for impairment of the Group’s receivables under service concession arrangements during the year are as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$'000

At 1 January 40,997 47,781

Acquisition of subsidiaries - 13,247
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment during the year

recognised in profit or loss, net 15,915 (6,445)

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 46) - (10,871)

Exchange realignment 3,132 (2,715)

At 31 December 60,044 40,997

Included in the provision for impairment of receivables under service concession arrangements as at 31 December 2017 was a provision
for individually impaired receivables of HK$43,013,000 (2016: HK$12,400,000) with an aggregate carrying amount before provision of
HK$402,539,000 (2016: HK$60,660,000). The individually impaired receivables relate to those amounts which have remained long outstanding
and only a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.

Apart from the foregoing, the above provision for impairment of receivables under service concession arrangements as at 31 December 2017 and
2016 also included the provision made against the remaining balances of the receivables collectively as at that date. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.
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17. SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS (continved)

Receivables under service concession arrangements (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

164

(b)

(c)

(Continued)

An aging analysis of the billed receivables under service concession arrangements that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired is as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$'000

Neither past due nor impaired 520,832 383,277
Less than 1 month past due 216,030 217,074
1 to 3 months past due 300,127 265,659
4 to 6 months past due 325,983 224,937
7 months to 1 year past due 415,082 210,590
Over 1 year past due 610,622 204,575
2,388,676 1,506,112

The above receivables were mainly due from governmental authorities in Mainland China as grantors in respect of the Group’s sewage and reclaimed
water treatment and water distribution businesses. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no provision
for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

Included in the receivables under service concession arrangements of the Group as at 31 December 2017 was an amount due from Beijing
Enterprises Holdings Limited (“BEHL"), a substantial beneficial shareholder of the Company, of HK$424,708,000 (2016: HK$784,017,000). In
February 2013, the Group acquired from BEHL the estimated future net cash income (after deducting all state and local taxes in Mainland China
and operating costs) generated from the service concession arrangement on the water purification and treatment operation of the Phase 1 of No. 9
water treatment plant in Beijing for the six years ending 31 December 2018 (the “Future Income”). Imputed interest income of HK$45,325,000
(2016: HK$64,524,000), which was measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, was recognised in “Revenue” on the
face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year. Further details of the transaction are set out in the Company’s circular and
announcement dated 30 November 2012 and 5 February 2013, respectively.

The carrying amount of the Group’s receivables under service concession arrangements under finance leases as at 31 December 2017 was
HK$212,689,000.
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18.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer
Patents software Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Year ended 31 December 2017
At 1 January 2017:
Cost 700 78,662 79,362
Accumulated amortisation (700) (16,726) (17,426)
Net carrying amount - 61,936 61,936
Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2017 - 61,936 61,936
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45) - 17 17
Additions 4,724 47,772 52,496
Amortisation provided during the year (236) (12,975) (13,211)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 46) - (4,294) (4,294)
Write-off - (23) (23)
Exchange realignment 112 4,866 4,978
At 31 December 2017 4,600 97,299 101,899
At 31 December 2017:
Cost 5,578 128,142 133,720
Accumulated amortisation (978) (30,843) (31,821)
Net carrying amount 4,600 97,299 101,899
Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continved)

Computer
Patents software Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Year ended 31 December 2016
At 1 January 2016:
Cost 747 48,644 49,391
Accumulated amortisation (699) (11,402) (12,101)
Net carrying amount 48 37,242 37,290
Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2016 48 37,242 37,290
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45) - 3,247 3,247
Additions - 36,178 36,178
Amortisation provided during the year (48) (7,166) (7,214)
Write-off - (3,838) (3,838)
Exchange realignment - (3,727) (3,727)
At 31 December 2016 - 61,936 61,936
At 31 December 2016:
Cost 700 78,662 79,362
Accumulated amortisation (700) (16,726) (17,426)
Net carrying amount - 61,936 61,936
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19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2017 2016
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
Investments in joint ventures, included in non-current assets:
Share of net assets 6,269,597 3,097,238
Goodwill on acquisition (d) 198,972 197,375
6,468,569 3,294,613
Due from joint ventures, included in current assets (e), 27 1,843,393 306,763
Due to joint ventures, included in current liabilities (e), 42 (1,187,697) (602,833)
Total interests in joint ventures 7,124,265 2,998,543
Particulars of the Group's interests in the major joint ventures are as follows:
Percentage of
Place of Ownership
incorporation/ interest
registration Paid-up capital/ attributable Voting Profit Principal
Company name and operations registered capital to the Group power sharing activities
Guiyang BEWG* PRC/ Mainland China RMB1,456,162,145/ 45 45 45 Water distribution
RMB1,456,162,145
BEILEKEEEERAR PRC/ Mainland China RMB200,000,000/ 40 40 40 Water distribution, reclaimed
(“Luoyang BEWG") RMB200,000,000 water treatment and
heating services
BRI E SBI PRC/ Mainland China RMB998,100,000/ 13 (a) (a) Investment fund
KEREFRL RMB998,100,000
(BRA%)*
LEEEER (RE)REABLE PRC/ Mainland China RMB556,050,000/ 6.5 (b) (b)  Investment fund
(ERA%)* RMB3,111,500,000
IR REERRERES PRC/ Mainland China RMB2,082,400,000/ - () () Investment fund
EERL (BREH) RMB24,002,400,000
# Directly held by the Company
* In the opinion of the directors, the joint ventures are not individually material to the Group in the current and prior years. Hence, no disclosure of
their financial information has been made.
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19.

168

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES continved)

Notes:

(a)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group (as deferred limited partner) entered into two separate limited partnership agreements (the
“Partnership Agreements”) with two trust companies (as preferential limited partners), and an independent third party or a joint venture investor
(also as deferred limited partners) in relation to the establishment and management of two separate funds (the “Funds”). The Funds shall focus on
investing in water and water environmental comprehensive projects in certain cities in Mainland China.

Pursuant to the Partnership Agreements, the aggregate capital commitment of the Funds is approximately RMB1,398 million. As at 31 December
2017, the total investment contributed by the preferential limited partners and the Group as deferred limited partners in the Funds amounted to
RMB1,058 million and RMB190 million, respectively.

Preferential limited partners are entitled to preferential re